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9.4 Treatment of Unvested Equity Awards Upon Exit 
The table below outlines the treatment of unvested equity awards (Deferred STI and LTIP) upon employee exit. 

REASON FOR LEAVING DEFERRED STI UNVESTED LTI (TIP) 

Genuine retirement/redundancy If employment ceases before the end of the 
performance period, award is forfeited. 
If employment ceases after the end of the 
performance period, but before the payment 
date, unvested awards may be eligible to vest. 

If employment ceases within two years of the 
performance period, unvested awards will 
lapse. 

If employment ceases after two years of the 
performance period but before the end of the 
performance period, a pro-rata number of 
options stays ‘on-foot’ and will be tested against 
the performance hurdles at the end of the 
performance period. 

If employment ceases after the end of the 
performance period, the options that are 
available for vesting stay ‘on-foot’ 
post-cessation and vest at the original  
vesting dates. 

Death, illness or incapacity If employment ceases after the end of the 
performance period, but before the payment 
date, unvested awards may be eligible to vest. 

As determined by the Board. In the case of 
death, a pro-rata number of option stays ‘on-
foot’ and will be tested against the performance 
hurdles at the end of the performance period.  

Termination for cause/gross 
misconduct 

Award forfeited. Unvested awards lapse. 

Termination for poor performance Award forfeited. Unvested awards lapse. 

Resignation Award forfeited. Unvested awards lapse. 

 

The Board in its discretion may determine that a different treatment should apply. The Board approved a different 
treatment to the current STI Deferral Policy as the policy does not contemplate a divestment of a business, change of 
control or redundancy event arising. On recommendation by the PRC, the Board approved the early release of FY21 STI 
deferred shares for executive KMP and other eligible executives that become redundant as part of the sales of the HCF 
business. Executive KMP or other executives that remain employed with the hummgroup business or transfer employment 
to Latitude as part of the consumer business, the FY21 deferred shares will continue to be restricted until the restriction 
period is lifted in September 2023.  

9.5 Other Governance Requirements 
The table below outlines additional governance provisions applicable to the LTIP. Further, hummgroup also has 
malus/clawback provisions in place for the STI plan. Under these provisions, the Board is able to adjust any unpaid or 
unvested award (including reducing to zero) where it is appropriate to do so, due to fraud, misconduct or material 
misstatement. 

GOVERNANCE ASPECT LONG TERM INCENTIVE PLAN 

Change of control In the case of a change of control, where the Board does not exercise discretion to do anything at the time 
of a change of control event, a pro-rata number of options will vest and become exercisable based on the 
extent to which the performance conditions have been achieved or are likely to be achieved. 

Eligibility for dividends Options do not carry voting or dividend rights. 

Hedging Participants must not sell, transfer, encumber, hedge or otherwise deal with their options granted under  
the LTIP. 

A participant must not enter into any scheme, arrangement or agreement (including options and derivative 
products) under which the participant may alter the economic benefit to be derived from any options that 
remain subject to the LTIP Rules, irrespective of future changes in the market price of Shares. 

Malus/clawback The Board has discretion to determine to lapse a number of options in the case of fraud, gross misconduct, 
gross incompetence, breach of obligations, bringing the Company into disrepute, failure to perform acts 
reasonably asked of the participant, or undertaking an act which has the effect of delivering strong 
Company performance in a manner which is unsustainable or involves unacceptably high risk, and results  
or is likely to result in a detrimental impact on the Company. 
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9.6 Use of Remuneration Consultants 
The Group aims to provide an executive remuneration framework that is market competitive and complementary to the 
reward strategy at hummgroup. During the year, hummgroup engaged the services of remuneration consultants to 
provide information regarding remuneration benchmarking which was provided to the People and Remuneration 
Committee. During the year ended 30 June 20222, no remuneration recommendations, as defined by the Corporations 
Act, were provided by remuneration consultants.  

The Board is satisfied that the information was provided with the required level of independence from executive KMP  
and the information was free from undue influence by members of the Group’s executive KMP, as the remuneration 
consultants were engaged by, and reported directly to, the Chair of the People and Remuneration Committee in relation  
to these services. 

10.  OTHER STATUTORY DISCLOSURES  

10.1 Amounts of Remuneration 
Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the executive KMP as defined in AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures of 
humm group limited and its subsidiaries are set out in the following tables. The cash bonuses are dependent on the 
satisfaction of performance conditions as set out in section 3.1.2 Short-Term Incentive. 
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2022 

SHORT-TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

TERMINATION 
PAYMENT 

POST-
EMPLOYMENT 

BENEFITS 

LONG 
TERM-

BENEFITS 
SHARE-
BASED 

PAYMENTS 
EXPENSE2 

TOTAL 
EARNINGS 

CASH 
SALARY  
& FEES 

ANNUAL 
LEAVE 

ACCRUED1 
STI CASH 
PAYMENT 

OTHER 
BENEFITS SUPERANNUATION 

LONG 
SERVICE 
LEAVE 

NAME $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Non-Executive Directors 

Christine Christian3  
(Independent Chair) 

251,346 – – – – 22,534 – – 273,880 

Andrew Abercrombie 193,104 – – – – 23,568 – – 216,672 

Rajeev Dhawan3 155,000 – – – – 15,500 – – 170,500 

Carole Campbell3 155,000 – – – – 15,500 – – 170,500 

John Wylie4,5 (resigned 
22 June 2022)  120,000 – – – – – – – 120,000 

Alistair Muir4,5 
(resigned 22 June 
2022) 

143,884 – – – – 14,388 – – 158,272 

Teresa Fleming6,7 
(appointed 30 June 
2022) 

385 – – – – – – – 385 

Stuart Grimshaw7 
(appointed 30 June 
2022) 

385 – – – – 38 – – 423 

Subtotal Non- 
Executive Directors 1,019,104 – – – – 91,528 – – 1,110,632 

Other Key Management Personnel 

Rebecca James  828,306 54,716 160,373 240,559 – 23,568 – 373,591 1,681,113 

Chris Lamers8,9,10 
(resigned 6 May 2022)  455,093 41,400 – 56,720 – 37,023 3,549 (182,943) 410,842 

Jason Murray10,11  
(ceased 18 July 2021) 53,382 2,061 – – 144,576 2,176 – 4,456 206,651 

Adrian Fisk10,12 545,167 32,191 – 300,000 – 23,568 – 15,985 916,911 

Subtotal other key 
management 
personnel 

1,881,948 130,368 160,373 597,279 144,576 86,335 3,549 211,089 3,215,517 

Total key 
management 
personnel 
compensation 
(Group) 

2,901,052 130,368 160,373 597,279 144,576 177,863 3,549 211,089 4,326,149 

1. Includes accrued annual leave for Executive KMP. 
2. Remuneration for share-based payments represents amounts expensed during the year for accounting purposes. 
3. Ms Christian, Mr Dhawan and Ms Campbell resigned from the Company Board effective 30 June 2022. Closing balance is at 30 June 2022. 
4. As Mr Wylie is Tanarra Capital’s nominated Director, payments are made to Tanarra Capital (amounts in the table above exclude GST and 

superannuation). 
5. Mr Wylie AC and Mr Muir resigned from the Company Board effective 22 June 2022. Closing balance is at 22 June 2022. 
6. EUR translated at the average exchange rate of 0.6443. 
7. Ms Fleming and Mr Grimshaw were appointed to the Company Board effective 30 June 2022. 
8. NZD translated at the average exchange rate of 1.069. 
9. Mr Lamers resigned effective 6 May 2022. 
10. Other benefits include release of deferred shares paid to Mr Lamers upon termination as well as the retention bonus payable to Ms James 

and Mr Fisk in August and October 2022, in relation to FY22. 
11. Jason Murray ceased as CFO effective 18 July 2021. Closing balance is at 3 September 2021.  
12. Mr Fisk commenced the CFO role effective 19 July 2021. Opening balance is effective as at the date Mr Fisk became a KMP.  



___________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

HUMM GROUP LIMITED // ANNUAL REPORT 2022   47 

 
2021 

SHORT-TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

TERMINATION 
PAYMENT 

POST-
EMPLOYMENT 

BENEFITS 

LONG 
TERM-

BENEFITS 
SHARE-
BASED 

PAYMENTS 
EXPENSE2 

TOTAL 
EARNINGS 

CASH 
SALARY  
& FEES 

ANNUAL 
LEAVE 

ACCRUED1 
STI CASH 
PAYMENT 

OTHER 
BENEFITS SUPERANNUATION 

LONG 
SERVICE 
LEAVE 

NAME $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Non-Executive Directors 

Andrew 
Abercrombie 
(Chairman) 

261,777 – – – – 22,529 – – 284,306 

Christine Christian  
(Deputy Chairman) 

223,269 – – – – 21,135 – – 244,404 

Rajeev Dhawan 152,653 – – – – 14,502 – – 167,155 

Carole Campbell 160,961 – – – – 15,291 – – 176,252 

John Wylie3  121,148 – – – – – – – 121,148 

Alistair Muir  
(appointed 31 March 
2021) 

33,019 – – – – 3,137 – – 36,156 

Jodie Leonard  
(retired 19 
November 2020) 

67,961 – – – – 6,456 – – 74,417 

Subtotal Non- 
Executive Directors 1,020,788 – – – – 83,050 – – 1,103,838 

Other Key Management Personnel 

Rebecca James  837,864 39,253 379,287 – – 22,529 – 66,408 1,345,340 

Chris Lamers4  474,021 39,633 165,487 – – 29,232 – 87,594 795,968 

Jason Murray  
(appointed 9 July 
2020) 

560,512 23,901 – – – 21,027 – 59,346 664,785 

Ross Aucutt5  132,610 64,398 – – 214,153 17,689 30,380 (85,657) 373,572 

Subtotal other key 
management 
personnel 

2,005,006 167,184 544,774 – 214,153 90,477 30,380 127,691 3,179,665 

Total key 
management 
personnel 
compensation 
(Group) 

3,025,794 167,184 544,774 – 214,153 173,527 30,380 127,691 4,283,503 

1. Includes accrued annual leave for Executive KMP. 
2. Remuneration for share-based payments represents amounts expensed during the year for accounting purposes. 
3. As Mr Wylie is Tanarra Capital’s nominated Director, payments are made to Tanarra Capital (amounts in the table above exclude GST and 

superannuation). 
4. NZD translated at the average exchange rate of 1.072. NZD amounts, excluding STI, translated at average exchange rate of 1.072 and STI 

converted at closing spot rate of 1.0745. 
5. Other benefits relate to the termination payment made to Mr Aucutt, who terminated on 6 October 2020. 
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The relative proportions of ongoing remuneration that are linked to performance and those that are fixed are as follows: 

 FIXED REMUNERATION AT RISK – STI LTI 

NAME 
2022 

% 
2021 

% 
2022 

% 
2021 

% 
2022 

% 
2021 

% 

Executives of hummgroup 

Rebecca James 61 67 12 28 27 5 

Chris Lamers 100 68 0 21 0 11 

Adrian Fisk 97 – 0 – 3 – 

Jason Murray 93 91 0 0 7 9 

 

10.2 Loans and Other Transactions 
No loans were provided to any KMP during the period.  

Financial instrument transactions (other than loans and Option grants) of KMP, their close family members and entities 
controlled or significantly influenced by them, occur in the ordinary course of business on normal commercial terms and 
conditions no more favourable than those given to other customers.  

10.3 Other Services Obtained from Related Parties: Rental of Melbourne Premises 
A controlled entity in the Group, FlexiRent Capital Pty Limited had rented a property in Melbourne owned by entities 
associated with Mr Andrew Abercrombie. A three months’ notice of termination of the lease was provided on 6 July 2021 
resulting in the lease terminating on 6 October 2021.  

The rent paid in FY22 was fully accrued in FY21 (2021: $237,776). Refer to note 30(D) of the financial statements for  
further details.  

10.4 Equity Instrument Disclosures Relating to Directors and Key Management Personnel 
Performance rights and option holdings currently on-foot.  

2022 

NAME 

BALANCE 
AT START 
OF YEAR 

GRANTED AS 
COMPENSATION1 EXERCISED 

LAPSED/ 
FORFEITED2 

BALANCE 
AT END OF 

YEAR4 
VESTED & 

EXERCISABLE UNVESTED 

Other Key Management Personnel 

Rebecca James  2,528,846 2,188,834 – – 4,717,680 – 4,717,680 

Chris Lamers 1,573,867 1,257,333 (57,333) (2,773,867) – – – 

Adrian Fisk – 950,000 – – 950,000 – 950,000 

Jason Murray 712,656 – – (413,557) 299,099 – 299,099 

1. Relates to options granted under FY22 LTI and deferred under the FY21 STI. 
2. Chris Lamers’ Tranche 6 performance rights and FY21 and FY22 options lapsed during the year due to his resignation. 
3. Jason Murray’s FY21 options lapsed during the year due to his resignation; a pro-rata number of unvested options remain on-foot based 

on termination date. 
4. Or as at the termination date. 
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10.5 Shareholding Disclosures Relating to Key Management Personnel 
The numbers of shares in the Company held (or controlled) during the financial year by each Director and executive KMP of 
the Company, including their personally related parties, are set out below. 

2022 

NAME 
BALANCE AT  

START OF YEAR 

RECEIVED DURING 
THE YEAR ON THE 

EXERCISE OF 
RIGHTS AND 

OPTIONS OR AT 
DATE OF 

RESIGNATION 
OTHER CHANGES 
DURING THE YEAR 

BALANCE AT  
END OF YEAR 

Non-Executive Directors 

Christine Christian (Chair)1 195,000 – – 195,000 

Andrew Abercrombie 99,435,115 – 15,422,885 114,858,000 

Rajeev Dhawan1 369,371 – – 369,371 

Carole Campbell1 107,187 – – 107,187 

John Wylie2 27,321,525 – – 27,321,525 

Alistair Muir2 29,644 – – 29,644 

Teresa Fleming – – – – 

Stuart Grimshaw – – – – 

Other Key Management Personnel 

Rebecca James 40,000 – – 40,000 

Chris Lamers3 – 57,333 – 57,333 

Adrian Fisk4 – – 100,000 100,000 

Jason Murray5 83,328 – (83,328) – 

1. Ms Christian, Mr Dhawan and Ms Campbell resigned from the Company Board effective 30 June 2022. Closing balance is at 30 June 2022. 
2. Mr Wylie AC and Mr Muir resigned from the Company Board effective 22 June 2022. Closing balance is at 22 June 2022. 
3. Mr Lamers resigned effective 6 May 2022. Closing balance is effective as at 6 May 2022, the date of Mr Lamers’ resignation  
4. Mr Fisk commenced the CFO role effective 19 July 2021. Opening balance is effective as at the date Mr Fisk became a KMP.  
5. Jason Murray resigned effective 18 July 2021. Closing balance is at 3 September 2021. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES 
AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
This Corporate Governance Statement sets out details of humm group limited’s (ABN 75 122 574 583) (“the Company”, 
“the Group” or “hummgroup”) corporate governance practices for the year ended 30 June 2022 (“Reporting Period”), 
including the Company’s position in respect of each of the Australian Securities Exchange (“ASX”) Corporate Governance 
Council’s (“ASX CGC”) Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations 4th Edition (“Recommendations”).  

As recommended by the ASX CGC, information in relation to corporate governance practices is publicly available on the 
Company’s website at https://investors.humm-group.com/Investor-Centre/?page=corporate-governance  

The Board has established a framework of processes and guidelines for the Company that includes corporate policies and 
monitoring procedures; financial and operational business risk management and internal control systems; and standards 
for ensuring lawful and ethical conduct. 

During the Reporting Period, the Company entered into a Share Sale Agreement with Latitude Group Holdings Limited for 
the sale of the hummgroup consumer finance business. On 17 June 2022 the Company announced that the proposed sale 
had been terminated by mutual agreement. Following the announcement of the termination, the Company received the 
resignations of Mr Alistair Muir and Mr John Wylie AC on 22 June 2022, Ms Christine Christian AO (who also stepped down 
as Chair), Ms Carole Campbell, Mr Rajeev Dhawan on 30 June 2022. All resignations were effective immediately. 

As at the date of this Corporate Governance Statement, the Board is majority independent and consists of Mr Andrew 
Abercrombie (Chair), Ms Teresa Fleming and Mr Stuart Grimshaw. Details of the changes in the Board composition are 
included in the Annual Report. 

This Corporate Governance Statement is current as at 25 August 2022 and has been approved by the Board of the Company.  

 

PRINCIPLE 1 – LAY SOLID FOUNDATIONS FOR MANAGEMENT  
AND OVERSIGHT 

Recommendation 1.1 – Have and Disclose a Board Charter 

Board responsibilities 
The Board has overall responsibility for the conduct and governance of the Company, including providing strategic 
guidance and effective oversight of management. The Board’s role and responsibilities are formalised in the Board Charter, 
which defines the matters reserved for the Board and its Committees and those responsibilities delegated to the Chief 
Executive Officer (“CEO”) and management. A copy of the Board Charter – and all Board Committee Charters – is available 
on the Company’s website at https://investors.humm-group.com/Investor-Centre/?page=corporate-governance  

Within the scope of the governance framework established by the Board, management of the business and operations of 
the Company is delegated to the CEO, subject to the oversight and supervision of the Board.  

The Board’s responsibilities include:  
• overseeing the development of the Company’s corporate strategy and reviewing and approving strategic plans and 

performance objectives developed by management, including monitoring of the implementation of the plans; 
• appointing the Chair, CEO, the Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) and the Company Secretary and approving other key 

executive (direct reports to the CEO) appointments and planning for key executive succession; 
• monitoring the performance of the CEO and other senior executives of the Company against strategy; 
• reviewing and approving remuneration for the senior executives of the Company; 
• monitoring the operational and financial position and performance of the Company; 
• requiring that financial and other reporting mechanisms be put in place which result in accurate and timely information 

being provided to the Board and the Company’s shareholders and the financial market as a whole being fully informed 
of all material developments relating to the Company; 

• approving the Company’s budgets and business plans and monitoring the management of the Company’s capital, 
including the progress of any major capital expenditures, acquisitions or divestitures; 
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• ensuring effective communication with shareholders, particularly timely and balanced disclosure of all material 
information concerning the Company, which would have a material effect on the price and value of the Company’s 
securities, and establishing policies to govern the Company’s relationship with other stakeholders; 

• utilising procedures to ensure that financial results are appropriately and accurately reported on a timely basis in 
accordance with all legal and statutory requirements; 

• identifying the principal risks faced by the Company and requiring management to establish and implement 
appropriate internal controls and monitoring systems to manage and reduce the impact of these risks; 

• establishing, overseeing and regularly reviewing a system for identifying, assessing, monitoring and managing material 
financial and non-financial risk throughout the Company, including setting the risk appetite for the Company; 

• actively promoting ethical and responsible decision making through hummgroup’s Code of Conduct;  
• adopting appropriate procedures to ensure compliance with all laws, governmental regulations and accounting 

standards; 
• approving and reviewing, from time to time, the Company’s internal compliance procedures, including any codes of 

conduct and taking all reasonable steps to ensure that the business of the Company is conducted in an open and ethical 
manner; and 

• regularly reviewing and, to the extent necessary, amending the Board Charter. 

Board Committees 
To facilitate the execution of its responsibilities, during the Reporting Period the Board had in place a number of 
Committees to oversee and report to the Board on various areas of responsibility.  

Following the changes to the Board’s composition at the end of the Reporting Period, the Board is reviewing its Committee 
structure to determine the optimal number and size of its Committees.  

All Directors are entitled to receive all Committee papers, are provided with minutes of all Committee meetings, and are 
entitled to attend any Committee meeting. Each Committee reports to the next Board meeting.  

Details of the number of meetings of the Board and of each Committee held during the Reporting Period and of each 
Director’s attendance at those meetings are set out in the Directors’ Report in the Annual Report. 

Audit Committee 

AUDIT COMMITTEE 

Name Position Duration 

Carole Campbell Chair Whole Reporting Period 

Christine Christian Member Whole Reporting Period 
 

The Audit Committee’s role is to assist the Board in carrying out its accounting, auditing and financial reporting 
responsibilities, including oversight of:  
a) Improving the credibility and objectivity of the accountability process, including financial reporting; 
b) The effectiveness of the internal and external audit functions and providing a forum for communication between the 

Board and the internal and external auditor;  
c) Ensuring the independence of the external auditor; 
d) Providing a structured reporting line for internal audit and monitoring the objectivity and independence of the  

internal auditor; 
e) Assuring the quality of internal and external reporting of financial and non-financial information; and 
f) Ensuring that whistleblower issues are actively followed up. 

For the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee was chaired by an independent Non-Executive Director and was comprised 
of two independent Non-Executive Directors. Given the small size of the Board, it was determined that the Audit 
Committee would be able to discharge its obligations through the appointment of two experienced and appropriately 
qualified independent Directors. 
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Risk and Compliance Committee 

RISK AND COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE 

Name Position Duration 

Christine Christian Chair Whole Reporting Period 

Rajeev Dhawan Member Whole Reporting Period 

Carlos da Silva Advisory Member Whole Reporting Period 
 

During the Reporting Period, the role of the Risk and Compliance Committee was to assist the Board in fulfilling its 
corporate governance and oversight responsibilities in relation to the Group’s risk appetite statement, compliance, risk 
management strategy, risk management framework and risk management function. The Risk and Compliance Committee 
was chaired by an independent Non-Executive Director and comprised of two independent Non-Executive Directors and 
an advisory member. Given the small size of the Board, it was determined that the Risk and Compliance Committee would 
be able to discharge its obligations through the appointment of two experienced independent Directors, including the 
Chair, supported by an advisory member, who is the independent chair of the Company’s New Zealand subsidiary board. 
The members of the Committee brought significant experience, inquiring minds, and a history of sound and prudent 
enterprise risk management to the Committee. 

People and Remuneration Committee 

PEOPLE AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE 

Name Position Duration 

Rajeev Dhawan Chair Whole Reporting Period 

Carole Campbell Member Whole Reporting Period 
 

For the Reporting Period, the People and Remuneration Committee assisted and advised the Board on remuneration 
policies and practices for the Board, the CEO, the CFO, senior management and other persons whose activities, 
individually or collectively, affect the financial and reputational soundness of the Company. The policies and practices are 
designed to:  
a) enable the Company to attract, retain and motivate Directors, executives and employees who will create value for 

shareholders;  
b) be fair and appropriate, having regard to the performance of the Company and the relevant Director, executive or 

employee; and  
c) comply with relevant legal requirements.  

For the Reporting Period the People and Remuneration Committee was chaired by an independent Non-Executive Director 
and was comprised of two independent Non-Executive Directors. Given the small size of the Board, it was determined that 
the People and Remuneration Committee would be able to discharge its obligations through the appointment of two 
experienced independent Directors. 

Nomination Committee  

NOMINATION COMMITTEE 

Name Position Duration 

Christine Christian Chair 
Member 

Part Reporting Period 
Part Reporting Period 

Rajeev Dhawan Member Whole Reporting Period 

Andrew Abercrombie Member 
Chair 

Part Reporting Period 
Part Reporting Period 

 

For the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee was responsible for supporting the Board in determining the size and 
composition of the Board such that it is conducive to making appropriate decisions in the best interests of the Company. 
The Nomination Committee was chaired by the Chair of the Board. 

The Nomination Committee met during the year to oversee the process of recruiting a new Director. Its other duties were 
met either by the People and Remuneration Committee or by the Board itself. 
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Technology Committee  

TECHNOLOGY COMMITTEE 

Name Position Duration 

Alistair Muir Chair Part Reporting Period 

Andrew Abercrombie Member Whole Reporting Period 

Fran Ereira Advisory Member Whole Reporting Period 

Chris Venter Advisory Member Whole Reporting Period 
 

For the Reporting Period, the Technology Committee was responsible for supporting the Board in overseeing the end-to-
end digital delivery of hummgroup’s products and services. That included overseeing the digital ecosystem and customer 
experience; providing oversight to hummgroup's IT and data functions, including IT strategy; monitoring the development 
and implementation of hummgroup's capital works program; and overseeing the mitigation and management of risks 
associated with those activities. 

Management responsibilities  
The management of the Company and its businesses and affairs is the responsibility of the CEO and the senior executives, 
including: 
• developing business plans, budgets and strategies for the Board’s consideration and, subject to the Board’s approval, 

implementing these plans, budgets and strategies; 
• operating the Company within the business parameters set by the Board and, where the proposed transactions, 

commitments or arrangements exceed those parameters, referring the matter to the Board for consideration  
and approval; 

• identifying and managing operational and other risks where those risks could have a material impact on the Company’s 
business, formulating strategies aligned to the Company’s purpose, values, strategy and risk appetite  
for managing these risks for consideration by the Board and, subject to the Board’s approval, implementing  
these strategies; 

• managing the Company’s current financial and other reporting mechanisms together with managing day-to-day 
operations within the budget; 

• implementing the Company’s internal controls and procedures for monitoring these controls and ensuring that these 
controls and procedures are appropriate and effective; 

• providing the Board with accurate and sufficient information regarding the Company’s operations on a timely basis and 
in particular ensuring that the Board is made aware of all relevant matters relating to the Company’s performance 
(including future performance), financial condition, operating results and prospects and potential material risks so that 
the Board is in an appropriate position to fulfil its corporate governance responsibilities; and 

• implementing all policies, processes and codes of conduct approved by the Board. 

Directors’ independent advice 
Directors are empowered to seek independent professional advice if they feel it is necessary to perform their 
responsibilities and duties as a Director. The Company will reimburse Directors for all reasonable expenses incurred in 
obtaining this advice, and, where appropriate, and subject to the relevant privacy and legal privilege, a copy of the advice 
will be made available to the Board on request. 

Recommendation 1.2 – Undertake Checks Before Appointment and Provide Shareholders 
with Information 
The Nomination Committee manages the process for the selection and appointment of new Directors to the Board. The 
Nomination Committee identifies candidates with appropriate skills, knowledge, experience, independence and expertise 
and recommends them to the Board. The written letter of appointment for each Director outlines the Company’s 
expectations in relation to the time commitment expected from the Director and includes the Director’s confirmation that 
they will be able to devote sufficient time to appropriately performing their duties and responsibilities. 

The Company undertakes appropriate background and screening checks prior to nominating a Director for appointment 
to fill a casual vacancy or being proposed for election by the shareholders.  

The Company also undertakes appropriate background and screening checks prior to nominating a senior executive. 
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Shareholders are provided with all material information in the Company’s possession concerning the Director standing for 
election or re-election in the explanatory notes accompanying the notice of general meeting, including a statement by the 
Board as to the independence status of the Director, and whether it supports the election or re-election of the Director and 
a summary of the reasons why. 

Recommendation 1.3 – Have a Written Agreement with Directors and Senior Executives 
All Non-Executive Directors, including those appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy, are engaged by a written letter 
of appointment setting out the terms and conditions of their appointment.  

Those Directors filling a casual vacancy are required to stand for election by the shareholders at the next Annual General 
Meeting following their appointment. 

Any Executive Director and other senior executives enter into written agreements with the Company setting out the terms 
of their appointment and employment. 

Recommendation 1.4 – Company Secretary is Accountable to the Board 
The Company Secretary attends all scheduled meetings of the Board and is accountable to the Board through the Chair. 
The Company Secretary is responsible for, amongst other things: 
• ensuring that the Company complies with its statutory requirements; 
• helping to organise and facilitate the induction and professional development of Directors; 
• monitoring compliance with Board policy and procedures;  
• accurately capturing the Board and Committee business in minutes of the meetings; 
• coordinating the timely distribution of papers to the Board and Committees; 
• advising the Board and its Committees on governance matters; 
• ensuring that the Company complies with its requirements under the Corporations Act and ASX Listing Rules; and 
• each director is able to communicate directly with the Company Secretary and any decisions to appoint or remove the 

Company Secretary are approved by the Board as a whole. 

Recommendation 1.5 – Have and Disclose a Diversity Policy 
The Company has a Diversity Statement which ensures that there is adequate focus on meeting our diversity agenda and 
recognising and valuing the contributions of people from different backgrounds and with different perspectives and 
experiences (which in turn benefits our business as a whole). hummgroup recognises the value of recruiting, developing 
and retaining employees from a diverse range of backgrounds, genders, knowledge, experience and abilities. 

The hummgroup Diversity Statement is included in its Code of Conduct and is available on the Company’s website at 
https://investors.humm-group.com/Investor-Centre/?page=corporate-governance. 

The Board believes that diversity – which includes, but is not limited to, gender, ethnicity, cultural background, disability, 
religion, sexual orientation or age – is a key business priority and aims to support the leadership team in the creation of a 
workplace where everyone can reach their full potential. There is a strong commitment to providing a working environment 
based on the principles of equal opportunity and diversity and ensuring that decisions in the workplace are based on merit 
and business needs. 

The Board: 
• reviews the Diversity Statement from time to time to ensure consistency with best practice; 
• has established measurable objectives with a focus on achieving gender diversity; and 
• annually assesses both the measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity and the progress made in  

achieving them. 

Diversity and inclusion at hummgroup 
hummgroup encourages diversity and inclusion across our business in a number of ways. Our recruitment, promotion and 
remuneration decisions are based on performance and capabilities. We also ensure that we have clear, readily available 
policies underpinning our operating model and business processes, and we actively support programs within our business 
that support diversity and inclusiveness. 

We are proud to support a diverse range of customers. It is important to us that our internal team is reflective of our 
customer base and that we have an inclusive work environment, which translates into our customer interactions. We believe 
that a strong and diverse internal workforce can provide a great experience for our customers. 
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hummgroup is committed not only to the principles of equal opportunity employment, but also to the provision of a work 
environment that is free from unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and bullying. 

Results against Key Metrics for 2022 
Two key diversity target areas were set for the Reporting Period: 
• Female representation at a Board level; and  
• Female representation at an Executive Team level. 

FEMALE REPRESENTATION AS AT 30 JUNE 2022 

Measure Result 

Meet or exceed the ASX guideline of 30% Female representation 
among the Non-Executive Directors 

33% 

≥ 30% female representation on the Executive team 38% 
 

We take inclusion and diversity into account when making all appointments and promotions. We also work closely with our 
recruitment agency partners when recruiting for new roles to make them aware of our diversity policies, including our focus 
on gender diversity, and on providing part time or flexible positions.  

hummgroup has a focus on ensuring that there is strong and practical support to encourage gender diversity within the 
organisation and was once again compliant with the Workplace Gender Equality Act 2012 during the Reporting Period.  

At the end of the Reporting Period, hummgroup had approximately 48% female employees. 

Key Metrics for 2023 
Female representation at both a Board and Executive team level will carry over as key focus areas into the next  
reporting period.  

The key metrics are outlined below: 

MEASURE OBJECTIVE 

Female representation – Board among the Non-Executive Directors Meet or exceed the ASX guideline of 30%  

Female representation on the *Executive team 30% (adopting the same metric as used for Board representation) 

* Executive team comprises the CEO and senior management. 

Employee engagement and training  
Initiatives aimed at improving the level of engagement of our employees across all ages, genders and backgrounds have 
continued during the Reporting Period. In addition to the development initiatives which form part of our regular talent and 
succession planning processes across all levels of the organisation, we have placed a strong emphasis on building a strong 
employee community as well as encouraging contributions to our broader external community. 

Learning and development are integral parts of our engagement initiatives and the Company provides all employees with a 
range of opportunities to improve their skills, capability and knowledge via courses created and designed by our Learning 
and Development team or specialised external facilitators. Categories covered include leadership training (including the 
Coaches as Leaders program), product and system training, as well as compliance and induction.  

Recommendation 1.6 – Periodically Evaluate Board, Committee and Director Performance 
The Company recognises the importance of regular reviews of its effectiveness and performance. 

The People and Remuneration Committee is responsible for determining the process for evaluating the performance of the 
Board, its Committees and individual Directors against both measurable and qualitative indicators. During the Reporting 
Period, and given the significant changes in the Board and Committee composition, it was determined to not conduct the 
evaluation process for the Board and Committees for this Reporting Period.  
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Recommendation 1.7 – Annually Evaluate Senior Executive Performance 
The Company has a process for periodically evaluating the performance of the CEO and other senior Executives. 

The Board, in conjunction with the People and Remuneration Committee, is responsible for approving performance 
objectives for the CEO and other senior executives and evaluating the performance of each senior executive against these 
objectives. The objectives are set for each senior executive at the beginning of each financial year and reflect specific 
financial and non-financial metrics which are aligned to the Company’s strategy and values. 

The performance of each senior executive in respect of a financial year is generally measured against those metrics. 

During the Reporting Period, the Board determined to change the performance objectives for the senior executive team to 
reflect the circumstances attached to the proposed sale of the hummgroup consumer finance business. A performance 
evaluation of senior executives against the new objectives was undertaken for the Reporting Period. 

Remuneration is reviewed annually by the People and Remuneration Committee in line with the financial year and is 
dependent on each senior executive’s performance against their objectives. Any increases to executive remuneration are 
approved by the Board and effective from 1 July, following the annual performance review. 

There is further detail in the Annual Report on the performance objectives and the performance of each of the Executive 
Key Management Personnel (“Executive KMP”), who were, at 30 June 2022, the Group CEO and the CFO. 

 

PRINCIPLE 2 – STRUCTURE THE BOARD TO BE EFFECTIVE AND  
ADD VALUE  

Recommendation 2.1 – Have a Nomination Committee and Disclose its Charter 
The Board has a Nomination Committee, which has adopted a Nomination Committee Charter disclosed on the 
Company’s website at https://investors.humm-group.com/Investor-Centre/?page=corporate-governance. The Committee 
is established in accordance with the Company’s constitution and authorised by the Board to assist it in fulfilling its statutory, 
fiduciary and regulatory responsibilities. It has the authority and power to exercise the role and responsibilities set out in its 
charter and under any separate resolutions of the Board.  

The Nomination Committee will meet as required to assist and advise the Board on: 
• Director selection and appointment practices; 
• Board composition; 
• establishing and maintaining a diversity policy to outline the Company’s commitment to diversity and inclusion in  

the workplace; 
• developing and reviewing induction procedures for new appointees to the Board;  
• succession planning for the Board and senior management; and 
• ensuring the Board is of a size and composition conducive to making appropriate decisions, with the benefit of a variety 

of perspectives and skills, and in the best interests of the Company as a whole. 

The Nomination Committee met during the Reporting Period as part of the recruitment of a new Director.  

Recommendation 2.2 – Have and Disclose a Board Skills Matrix 

Board skills matrix benchmarking table 
For the Reporting Period, the Board retained the skills matrix below.  

The Board determined that the Directors collectively had the range of skills, knowledge and experience necessary to meet 
the Board’s responsibilities and objectives and direct the Company. The Non-Executive Directors contributed operational 
knowledge, an understanding of the industry in which the Company operates, knowledge of financial markets, and an 
understanding of health, safety, sustainability and stakeholder matters that are important to the Company. The next review 
of the skills matrix is planned to be conducted in the financial year ending 30 June 2023.  
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Skills matrix  
SKILL SET 

Management and Leadership 

International Business 

Legal 

Audit and Finance 

Mergers and Acquisitions 

Industry Experience 

Risk Management 

Marketing, Communications and Business Development 

Technology 

Listed Entity 
 

Recommendation 2.3 – Disclose Independence of Directors 
As at the date of this Corporate Governance Statement, all the Directors are Non-Executive Directors, with the Board 
determining that each of the Non-Executive Directors (other than Mr Abercrombie) is independent. 

The Board's on-going assessment of a Non-Executive Director’s independence is based on whether the Director is free of 
any material relationship (other than as a consequence of being a Director) that could be reasonably considered to 
interfere with the exercise of their independent judgement and conflict with the interests of the Company. 

A “material relationship” includes a direct or indirect relationship that could reasonably be considered to influence, in a 
material way, a Director’s decision in relation to the Company. When considering whether a relationship is “material”, the 
Board will consider the materiality to each of the Company, the Director and the person or organisation with which the 
Director is related (for example, as a customer or supplier). The Board has not set quantitative materiality thresholds to be 
used in assessing whether a relationship is a “material relationship” and it considers all relationships on a case-by-case basis. 

The Board regularly reviews the independence of each Director. The Board has determined that, other than Mr 
Abercrombie, all Directors are independent based on the factors outlined above. Any Director who considers that he or 
she has, or may have, a conflict of interest or a material personal interest in any matter concerning the Company is required 
to give the Directors immediate notice of the interest.  

Details of each person who acted as Director during the Reporting Period, including length of service, skills, experience, 
relevant qualifications and expertise, are set out in the Annual Report.  

Recommendation 2.4 – Have a Majority of Independent Directors  
During the Reporting Period, the Board was composed of a majority of independent Non-Executive Directors.  

Recommendation 2.5 – Board Chair Should be Independent 
During the Reporting Period, the Company changed Chairs from Mr Abercrombie to Ms Christine Christian, who was an 
independent Non-Executive Director. 

Mr Abercrombie held the role of Chair for the period to Ms Christian’s appointment and has resumed the role following her 
resignation from the Board. The Board believes Mr Abercrombie’s lengthy experience with, and knowledge of, the 
Company, including his role as a founding director, is of significant benefit to the Company, and supports his ongoing role 
as Chair, notwithstanding that he is not an independent director. 

Recommendation 2.6 – Have a Director Induction Program, and Review Director Professional 
Development  
Induction is provided to all new Directors, which includes formal discussions with each of the CEO, Chair, and senior 
executives. The induction materials include information about the Company’s strategy, culture, values, key policies, the 
Company’s financial, operational and risk management position, the Company’s constitution, the rights and responsibilities 
of Directors, and the role of the Board and its Committees.  

All Directors are expected to maintain the skills required to discharge their obligations. The Company provides professional 
development opportunities for Directors to develop and maintain their skills and knowledge. 
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PRINCIPLE 3 – INSTIL A CULTURE OF ACTING LAWFULLY, ETHICALLY 
AND RESPONSIBLY 

Recommendation 3.1 – Articulate and Disclose the Values 
hummgroup has five clearly articulated values which are embedded into its systems and policies, including the Code of 
Conduct. Every day, our people (our “hummbassadors”) are recognised internally by their peers and leaders and rewarded 
for how they have demonstrated one or more of the values.  

At hummgroup we articulate our values through “how we humm” – Feel their world, Famous for delivery, Focus on impact, 
Feed your mind, and #FTB. 

Recommendation 3.2 – Have and Disclose a Code of Conduct 

Code of Conduct 
The Company has a formal Code of Conduct to which all Directors, Officers, Executives and employees of the Company 
and its subsidiaries are required to adhere, together with a comprehensive range of corporate policies (which are reviewed 
periodically) which details the framework for acceptable corporate behaviour. The Code of Conduct also applies to 
hummgroup’s contractors, consultants and associates. Together, the Code of Conduct and supporting policies set out the 
expectations in relation to a range of areas, including share trading, employment practices and regulatory compliance.  

The Code of Conduct outlines the rules of behaviour hummgroup has established for employees and is recognised as one 
of the Company’s most important documents because how things are done is just as important as what is done. 

hummgroup’s Code of Conduct includes the behaviours that hummgroup considers to be non-negotiable, which come 
back to two simple concepts: 
• We’re respectful – yes, we’re all different, but that’s what makes us stronger. We want people to think and look and act 

differently. We want people to fight the bureaucracy, but we always do that respectfully – whether it’s in our 
conversations or emails, our personal presentation, or our behaviour; 

• We behave ethically – but we don’t do it because we have to, we do it because we want to. We act in line with 
community standards and expectations – whether that’s towards our customers (our buyers and our sellers) or  
our colleagues.  

A copy of the Code of Conduct, which also contains the hummgroup Diversity Statement, is available on the Company’s 
website at https://investors.humm-group.com/Investor-Centre/?page=corporate-governance. 

Any material breaches of the Code of Conduct are considered serious and will be reported to the Board following an 
appropriate investigation. 

Recommendation 3.3 – Have and Disclose a Whistleblower Policy 
hummgroup believes in and is committed to having a corporate culture where ethical behaviour is promoted and 
recognised, and employees and contractors are encouraged to report unethical, unlawful or undesirable conduct without 
fear of disadvantage, intimidation, reprisals or retaliatory action. This applies even if the report is subsequently determined 
to be incorrect or is not substantiated (as long as the report is made honestly).  

At hummgroup, we want to provide our people with a safe environment where we all feel comfortable about raising 
concerns about actual, suspected or anticipated wrongdoing within hummgroup, and therefore, we have in place a 
Whistleblower Protection Policy, which can be found on the Company’s website: https://investors.humm-
group.com/Investor-Centre/?page=corporate-governance  

The Board receives updates on any material matters reported under the policy. 

Recommendation 3.4 – Have and Disclose an Anti-bribery and Corruption Policy  
hummgroup recognises the importance of having oversight of risks associated with conflicts of interest and, at the extreme, 
issues associated with bribery and corruption, as each may be indicative of issues associated with the Company’s culture. 
The Board will continue to have oversight of this area directly or through one of its Committees and will receive reports of 
any material incidents of bribery or corruption, and consequent actions taken. 

A copy of the Company’s Anti-Bribery and Corruption Policy is available on the Company’s website at 
https://investors.humm-group.com/Investor-Centre/?page=corporate-governance 
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Policy on trading in Company’s Securities  
Director and employee share trading is subject to the Company’s Securities Trading Policy, which restricts the times when a 
Director or employee can purchase or sell Company securities. Directors and employees (and their immediate family 
members and closely connected persons and entities) are only permitted to acquire and sell the Company’s shares when 
they are not in possession of price sensitive information that is not generally available to the market. 

During the Reporting Period, the Securities Trading Policy was reviewed and updated to introduce trading windows and 
new pre-trade notification obligations. The policy retains the prohibition on employees, who include KMP, from dealing in 
hummgroup shares from the close of market trading of the half year-end and full year-end periods until midday of the day 
after the Company’s results announcement is released to the market following its lodgement with ASX (unless certain 
exceptional circumstances exist and appropriate approval has been received).  

A copy of the Company’s Securities Trading Policy is available on the Company’s website at https://investors.humm-
group.com/Investor-Centre/?page=corporate-governance.  

 

PRINCIPLE 4 – SAFEGUARD THE INTEGRITY OF CORPORATE REPORTS 

Recommendation 4.1 – Have an Audit Committee and Disclose its Charter 

Audit Committee 
During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee was comprised of two independent Non-Executive Directors and was 
chaired by an independent Non-Executive Director, who was not the Chair of the Board. Given the small size of the Board, it 
was determined that the Audit Committee would be able to discharge its obligations through the appointment of two 
experienced and appropriately qualified independent Directors. 

The qualifications and experience of the members of the Audit Committee are set out in the Annual Report along with the 
number of times the Audit Committee met throughout the Reporting Period and the attendance of its members. The Audit 
Committee Charter is disclosed on the Company’s website at https://investors.humm-group.com/Investor-
Centre/?page=corporate-governance. 

The Audit Committee provides advice and assistance to the Board in fulfilling the Board’s responsibilities relating to the 
Group’s financial risk management and compliance systems and practices, financial statements, financial and market 
reporting processes, internal accounting and control systems, external audit and such other matters as the Board may 
request from time to time. In addition, the Committee is responsible for assessing significant estimates and the judgments 
made during the Reporting Period to ensure the integrity of the Company’s external financial reporting and financial 
statements, as well as ensuring whistleblower issues are actively followed up. 

The Audit Committee’s processes are designed to establish a proactive framework and dialogue in which the Committee, 
management and external auditors review and assess the quality of earnings, liquidity and the strength of the income 
statements and balance sheets, and transparency and accuracy of reporting. In fulfilling its responsibilities, the Audit 
Committee reviews the processes the CEO and CFO have in place to support their declarations to the Board. 

Recommendation 4.2 – Board to Receive a Declaration from the CEO and CFO in Advance of 
Approving the Financial Statements 

Declarations 
In accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act, for the Reporting Period, the executives primarily and directly 
responsible to the Directors for the general and overall management of the Company have declared to the Board that: 
• the financial records of the Company have been properly maintained in accordance with section 286 of the 

Corporations Act; 
• the financial statements and the notes to the financial statements comply with the Australian Accounting Standards, the 

Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting requirements; and 
• the financial statements and the notes to the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position and 

performance of the Company and consolidated entity. 

In addition, the CEO and CFO have stated to the Board in writing that: 
• the Company’s financial report is founded on sound systems of risk management and internal compliance and control 

which implement the policies adopted by the Board; and 
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• the Company’s risk management and internal compliance and control system is operating effectively in all  
material respects. 

The Company has the following guiding principles to ensure the independence of the external auditor:  
1. the Audit Committee will review and assess the independence of the external auditor, including but not limited to any 

relationships with the Company or any other entity that may impair the external auditor’s judgement or independence in 
respect of the Company; 

2. the Audit Committee will request an annual confirmation of independence from the external auditor, and will track 
during each year the amount of non-audit work being undertaken by the external auditor; 

3. the amount of non-audit work performed by the external auditor will be minimised, with approval from the Audit 
Committee (or the Committee Chair in certain specific circumstances) being required before any work is undertaken by 
the external auditor; and 

4. the Audit Committee will require the rotation of the audit signing partner and the independent review partner every five 
years. The Company’s external auditor, Ernst and Young (EY) has provided the Audit Committee with a confirmation of 
its independence for the Reporting Period. The Board has determined that it is satisfied as to the independence of the 
external auditor in relation to the Reporting Period and the audit of the Financial Report for the Reporting Period.  

Recommendation 4.3 – Disclose the Process to Verify Unaudited Periodic Reporting  
All periodic corporate reports for hummgroup that are not otherwise subject to audit or review by an external auditor are 
reviewed in accordance with an internal verification procedure to ensure the integrity and accuracy of the information 
included in those reports. This verification procedure involves a systematic checking and signing off procedure. Where 
possible, each statement or number is linked back to an independent external or internal source document. 

 

PRINCIPLE 5 – MAKE TIMELY AND BALANCED DISCLOSURE 

Recommendation 5.1 – Have and Disclose a Continuous Disclosure Policy 
The Board recognises the importance of keeping the market fully informed of the Company’s activities and of 
communicating openly and clearly with all stakeholders. 

The Company has a Disclosure and Communication Policy to ensure compliance with the continuous disclosure 
requirements in the ASX Listing Rules and the Corporations Act. Specifically, the Disclosure and Communication Policy 
outlines the corporate governance measures adopted by the Company to further its commitments and provides detailed 
information regarding hummgroup's:  
• Continuous disclosure obligations; 
• Disclosure roles, responsibilities and internal procedures; 
• Disclosure matters generally; 
• Market communications; and 
• Shareholder communications.  

The Company has established a Disclosure Committee which manages the Company’s compliance with its disclosure 
obligations and the Disclosure and Communication Policy. The Disclosure Committee is made up of the Company 
Secretary, CEO and CFO. The Company’s Disclosure and Communication Policy is available on the Company’s website at 
https://investors.humm-group.com/Investor-Centre/?page=corporate-governance  

Information considered to require disclosure is announced immediately through the ASX. Key presentations given by 
Company personnel to investors and institutions are also lodged first with the ASX. Following the lodgement of an 
announcement with ASX, key communications are placed on the Company’s website. General and historical information 
about the Company and its operations is also available on the Company’s website.  

Recommendation 5.2 – Promptly Provide the Board with all Material Market Announcements 
The Directors of the Board are subscribed to a service which alerts them to the publication of all of the Company’s market 
announcements, including material announcements. In addition, the Board receives notice of all market announcements at 
the next Board meeting following the announcement. 
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Recommendation 5.3 – Release a Copy of Investor or Analyst Presentations to the Market 
hummgroup believes in keeping its security holders appropriately and equally informed and has a process in place to first 
submit to the ASX Market Announcements Platform any new and substantive investor or analyst presentations before they 
are given to the investors or analysts.  

In addition, a webcast from management is arranged for the full year and half year results announcements, at which the 
CEO will give a presentation, which has first been submitted to the ASX Market Announcements Platform and provide 
investors and analysts with the opportunity to submit questions on that presentation. 

 

PRINCIPLE 6 – RESPECT THE RIGHTS OF SECURITY HOLDERS 

Recommendation 6.1 – Provide Company and Governance Information on the Website 
It is the Board’s aim that the Company maintains effective communications with its shareholders and keeps them fully 
informed of significant developments and activities of the Company, as well as provides them with the facilities to allow 
them to effectively exercise their rights as security holders. 

This commitment is achieved by: 
• complying with the ASX Listing Rules and the Corporations Act continuous disclosure and reporting requirements; 
• distribution of the Annual Report to shareholders who notify the Company that they do wish to receive it, as well as 

publishing Annual Reports and financial statements on the Company’s website at https://investors.humm-
group.com/Investor-Centre/?page=annual-reports;  

• holding an accessible and informative AGM. The Board requires the external auditor to attend the AGM and be available 
to answer shareholder questions relating to the audit of the Company’s financial statements, the preparation and 
content of the auditor’s report, the accounting policies adopted by the Company, and auditor independence; 

• regularly updating the Company’s website (https://investors.humm-group.com/investor-centre) to include annual and 
interim reports, market announcements and presentations as well as financial and shareholder information to ensure 
transparency and a high level of communication of the Company’s operations and financial situation, to the extent that 
this information is not commercially sensitive or confidential; and 

• responding to questions and comments at the AGM submitted by shareholders to the Company at, and in advance of, 
the AGM. 

hummgroup encourages direct contact from shareholders. Contact details of our Investor Relations team are provided in all 
ASX announcements. Contact details, including phone number, website and email of the Company’s share registry, Link 
Market Services, are provided on the Company’s website at https://investors.humm-group.com/Investor-
Centre/?page=my-shareholding.  

Recommendation 6.2 – Have an Investor Relations Program to Facilitate Two-way 
Communication with Investors 
hummgroup is committed to providing its shareholders with the appropriate information and facilities to allow them to 
exercise their rights as shareholders effectively. hummgroup’s Disclosure and Communication Policy, available on its 
investor website, provides the framework for how the Company meets its commitment to deliver timely disclosures and 
clear communications, underpinned by strong governance to promote investor confidence.  

In addition, the Company has in place resources to support its investor relations program, which consists of a number of 
regular communications channels for all current and prospective shareholders, in addition to ad hoc engagements with 
institutional investors and investment analysts. Channels are in place to ensure retail investors are also able to engage with 
the Company through the investor relations team. 

Recommendation 6.3 – Disclose How Security Holder Participation at Meetings is Encouraged  
Allowing the opportunity for security holders to engage with the Company and Board at general meetings is a key element 
of the agenda for each meeting, with the Company providing security holders with the opportunity to submit questions in 
advance of, or at, the meeting, to be addressed at the meeting.  

hummgroup has rotated the location of its general meeting between Sydney and Melbourne over recent years, except for 
2021, where the Annual General Meeting was held virtually in response to the COVID-19 global pandemic and 
government restrictions and continues to investigate other ways of conducting its meetings to facilitate interaction with its 
security holders.  
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Recommendation 6.4 – Substantive Security Holder Resolutions to be Determined by Poll 
hummgroup conducts, and will continue to conduct, its security holder resolutions by poll. 

Recommendation 6.5 – Provide Option to Security Holders to Receive Electronic 
Communications 
hummgroup supports and encourages its security holders to receive communications from hummgroup and its registry by 
electronic means. Security holders are also encouraged to use electronic means to contact the Company and our investor 
relations team. 

 

PRINCIPLE 7 – RECOGNISE AND MANAGE RISK 

Risk management 
The Board recognises that risk management and internal controls are fundamental to sound management and that 
oversight of such matters is a key responsibility of the Board. The Company has a risk management policy framework and 
governance structure designed to ensure that the risks of conducting business are properly managed. Management is 
responsible to the Board for identifying, managing, reporting upon and implementing measures to address risk. 

Recommendation 7.1 – Have a Risk Committee and Disclose its Charter 
The Board oversees and reviews the effectiveness of risk management at all levels across the Company and, during the 
Reporting Period, was assisted and advised in this role by the Risk and Compliance Committee. 

Risk and Compliance Committee  
For the Reporting Period, the Risk and Compliance Committee was chaired by an independent Non- Executive Director, 
and comprised two independent Non-Executive Directors, and an advisory member. Given the small size of the Board, it 
was determined that the Risk and Compliance Committee would be able to discharge its obligations through the 
appointment of two experienced independent Directors supported by an advisory member, being the independent chair 
of the Company’s New Zealand subsidiary board. The members of the Committee brought significant experience, inquiring 
minds, and a history of sound and prudent enterprise risk management. 

The qualifications and experience of the Directors on the Risk and Compliance Committee are set out in the Annual Report 
along with the number of times the Risk and Compliance Committee met throughout the Reporting Period and the 
attendance rates of its members. The Risk and Compliance Committee Charter, which sets out the role and responsibilities 
of the Committee, is disclosed on the Company’s website at https://investors.humm-group.com/Investor-
Centre/?page=corporate-governance  

While ultimate responsibility for risk oversight and risk management rests with the Board, the Risk and Compliance 
Committee provides advice and assistance to the Board to fulfil its corporate governance and oversight responsibilities in 
relation to how risk is identified, assessed and managed across the Group, including in accordance with the Board 
approved Risk Appetite Statement. In addition, the Committee was responsible for assessing significant risks and 
compliance with internal and external requirements during the Reporting Period. 

The Company has identified key financial and non-financial risks within the business, as outlined in the Risk Appetite 
Statement. In the ordinary course of business, management monitors and manages these risks, providing regular reporting 
on key metrics, including the Company’s risk appetite. Performance in each risk class is presented to and reviewed by the 
Committee, with clear escalation procedures in place where the Company’s risk profile sits outside appetite.  
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Recommendation 7.2 – Annually Review the Risk Management Framework 
The Board delegates the review of the Company’s risk management framework to the Risk and Compliance Committee. 
The Committee structures its meetings to ensure all elements of the Group risk management framework and risk 
management operations are considered and addressed over the course of the year. This includes identifying where 
material risks sit across the organisation, where investment has been made in improving risk management capability and 
processes, and where further enhancements can be made.  

Enhancements to the reporting on the different risk classes continue to be undertaken. 

Recommendation 7.3 – Make Disclosures Regarding the Internal Audit Function 
hummgroup engages Grant Thornton, an independent external provider, to provide the formal internal audit function. The 
internal auditor reports to the Audit Committee, which is also responsible for assessing the internal auditor’s performance.  

An annual plan of review and advisory activity to be conducted by the internal auditor is developed with management and 
approved by the Audit Committee, with regular reporting provided to the Committee. In camera sessions with the Audit 
Committee and internal auditor, excluding management, are conducted at least annually. 

Recommendation 7.4 – Disclose if the Company has any Material Environmental or Social 
Risks, and their Mitigants 
hummgroup is dedicated to effectively managing all material risks faced by the Company, including its exposure to 
economic, environmental, climate change, or social sustainability risks.  

 

PRINCIPLE 8 – REMUNERATE FAIRLY AND RESPONSIBLY 
During the Reporting Period, the Board had a People and Remuneration Committee, whose Charter is available on the 
Company’s website at https://investors.humm-group.com/Investor-Centre/?page=corporate-governance  

Recommendation 8.1 – Have a Remuneration Committee and Disclose its Charter 
The Company’s People and Remuneration Committee was comprised of two members, with both members being 
independent Non-Executive Directors. Taking into account the size of the Board, the Board determined that the members 
had the appropriate expertise in remuneration related matters to act effectively as the Committee. 

Details of the number of meetings of the People and Remuneration Committee held during the Reporting Period and of 
each member’s attendance at those meetings are set out in the Annual Report. 

The People and Remuneration Committee has responsibility for the performance appraisal process and remuneration 
policies for the Company’s management, with a process in place for Director remuneration to be reviewed from  
time-to-time. 

The CEO’s performance evaluation of key executives is periodically reviewed by the People and Remuneration Committee. 
The CEO’s performance evaluation is undertaken by the Board.  

The People and Remuneration Committee assisted and advised the Board on remuneration policies and practices for the 
Board, the CEO, senior management and other persons whose activities, individually or collectively, affect the financial 
soundness of the Company. 

The People and Remuneration Committee’s responsibilities include developing, reviewing and making recommendations 
to the Board on: 
• the ongoing appropriateness and relevance of the remuneration framework for the Chair and the Non-Executive 

Directors (including the process by which any shareholder approved pool of Directors’ fees is allocated to Directors); 
• the Company’s policy on remuneration for the CEO and senior management, any changes to the policy and the 

implementation of the policy (including any shareholder approvals required); 
• the total remuneration packages for the CEO and senior management (including base pay, incentive payments, equity-

based awards, superannuation and other retirement rights, employment contracts), any changes to remuneration 
packages and recommending proposed award after performance evaluation procedures; 

• the Company’s recruitment, retention and termination policies for the CEO and senior management and any changes to 
those policies; 

• incentive schemes, if appropriate, for the CEO and senior management to encourage them to pursue the growth and 
success of the entity without rewarding conduct that is contrary to the entity’s values or risk appetite; 
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• equity based plans, if appropriate, for the CEO, senior management and other employees; 
• superannuation arrangements for Directors and management; 
• monitoring and providing input to the Board regarding: 
• legislative, regulatory or market developments likely to have a significant impact on the Company and legislative 

compliance in employment issues; 
• the remuneration trends across the Company; and 
• major changes to employee benefits structures in the Company.  

Recommendation 8.2 – Disclose Policies and Practices for Non-Executive Directors, Executive 
Directors, and for Executive Management  

Remuneration Report 
In accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act, disclosures in relation to Director and executive remuneration are 
included in a separate component of the Directors’ Report in the Annual Report, entitled Remuneration Report. The 
Remuneration Report contains details of the Company’s remuneration philosophy and structure, including fixed and 
variable remuneration. 

Board remuneration 
Remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors is fixed and designed to ensure that Board membership of an appropriate 
mix and calibre is maintained and aligned with remuneration trends in the marketplace. Remuneration levels and trends are 
reviewed with the assistance of independent external remuneration consultants when appropriate.  

CEO and Executive remuneration 
The underlying principles of risk and reward for performance are set out in the Remuneration Report. These principles 
recognise the different levels of contribution of management to the short-term and long-term success of the Company.  
A key element is the principle of reward for performance that is dependent upon both personal and Company 
performance. Every employee undergoes a formal performance appraisal each financial year, which is used, in part, to 
determine that employee’s remuneration in the financial year ahead. 

The CEO’s performance is continuously monitored and annually assessed. The assessment is used to determine, in part, the 
level of “at risk” remuneration paid to the CEO. 

Recommendation 8.3 – Have and Disclose a Policy on Limiting Economic Risk of Participating 
in Equity Based Remuneration Programs 
As set out above, the Company offers equity-based plans, if appropriate, for the CEO, senior management and other 
employees. The Company’s Securities Trading Policy prohibits participants in equity-based plans from entering into 
transactions which limit the economic risk of participating in the equity-based plan whilst the relevant interests granted 
pursuant to an equity-based plan remain unvested. The Company’s Securities Trading Policy is disclosed on the Company’s 
website at https://investors.humm-group.com/Investor-Centre/?page=corporate-governance  
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
We, the Directors, are pleased to present this report for the year ended 30 June 2022. 

ABOUT HUMMGROUP 
hummgroup is a diversified financial services group providing, both directly and through an extensive network of retailers 
and brokers, a product suite of BNPL, credit cards, and business financing products which has been designed around the 
core needs of today’s shoppers, retailers, and SMEs.  

humm group limited (ASX: HUM) (“Company”, and with its other group and consolidated entities “hummgroup” or 
“Group”) offers our financial solutions across a broad range of industries to over 2.7 million customers, and during the year 
operated, and continues to operate in Australia, New Zealand, Ireland and the UK. From December 2021 hummgroup also 
commenced operations in Canada. 

The Group’s principal activities continue to be in: 
• BNPL products. 
• Consumer revolving finance and cards. 
• Commercial Leasing and SME financing services. 

DIRECTORS 
Set out below are the details of those persons who were Directors of humm group limited during the year and as at the 
date of this report, unless specified otherwise. 

>> Andrew Abercrombie  
LLB, BEc, MBA 
Chair (1 July – 20 December 2021, from 30 June 2022) 
Chair Nomination Committee, Member Technology Committee 

>> Teresa Fleming 
 BA, AITI 

Independent, Non-Executive 
(Appointed 30 June 2022) 

>> Stuart Grimshaw 
BComm, MBA 
Independent, Non-Executive 
(Appointed 30 June 2022) 

>> Christine Christian AO 
BA, GAICD 
Chair (20 December 2021 – 30 June 2022)  
Chair Risk and Compliance Committee, Member Audit Committee, Member Nomination Committee 
(Resigned 30 June 2022)  

>> Rajeev Dhawan  
BComm, MBA 

  Independent, Non-Executive 
Chair People and Remuneration Committee, Member Risk and Compliance Committee, Member Nomination 
Committee (Resigned 30 June 2022)  

>> Carole Campbell  
  BEc, GAICD, FCA 

Independent, Non-Executive  
Chair Audit Committee, Member People and Remuneration Committee (Resigned 30 June 2022) 

>> John Wylie AC  
  BComm, MPhil 

Non-Executive  
(Resigned 22 June 2022) 
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>> Alistair Muir  
BSc (First Class Hons) (Comp Sci), Executive MBA (ongoing) 
Independent, Non-Executive 
Chair Technology Committee (Resigned 22 June 2022) 
 

COMPANY SECRETARIES 
>> Christina Seppelt 

BEcon, LLB, MLM 
(Appointed 27 May 2022) 

>> Isobel Rogerson 
LLB, Bec, GAICD, FGIA 
(Resigned 23 August 2022) 

>> Belinda Hannover 
GIA (Affiliate) 
(Appointed 28 July 2021, Resigned 27 May 2022) 

>> Company Matters Pty Limited 
Provided governance advisory services during the year. 

 

MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS 

 Board 
Audit  

Committee 
Nomination 
Committee 

People and 
Remuneration 

Committee 

Risk and  
Compliance 
Committee 

Technology 
Committee 

A B A B A B A B A B A B 

Andrew Abercrombie 27 25 + + 1 1 + + + + 8 8 

Christine Christian AO 
(resigned 30/06/22) 27 27 7 6 1 1 + + 7 7 + + 

Rajeev Dhawan 
(resigned 30/06/22) 27 26 + + 1 1 6 6 7 6 + + 

Carole Campbell 
(resigned 30/06/22) 27 27 7 7 + + 6 6 + + + + 

John Wylie AC 
(resigned 22/06/22) 27 27 + + + + + + + + + + 

Alistair Muir 
(resigned 22/06/22) 27 25 + + + + + + + + 8 8 

Teresa Fleming 
(appointed 30/06/22) 

0 0 + + + + + + + + + + 

Stuart Grimshaw 
(appointed 30/06/22) 

0 0 + + + + + + + + + + 

A = Number of meetings held during the time the Director held office or was a member of the committee during the Reporting Period. 
B = Number of meetings attended. 
+ = Not a member of the committee. 
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS 
We have provided on pages 11-23 above, Review of Operations, an update on the key performance measures and 
financial position of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2022, including an update on the hummgroup strategy, and 
summary of the key risks and challenges facing the Group.  

REMUNERATION REPORT 
We have presented in the Remuneration Report (pages 24-49 above) information on hummgroup’s remuneration policies 
and practises insofar as they relate to our key management personnel (“KMP”), including in respect of the relationship 
between remuneration and the Company’s performance. 

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
Other than as disclosed in the financial statements, no Director of the Company has received or become entitled to receive 
a benefit other than remuneration by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with a Director or 
with a firm of which he or she is a member, or with a company in which he or she has a substantial financial interest. 

DIVIDENDS AND OPTIONS 
During the year the Company declared a dividend of 1.7 cents per share in respect of the half year ended 31 December 
2021. On 25 August 2022 a final dividend of 1.4 cents per share was declared for the full year ended 30 June 2022.  

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION 
hummgroup’s operations are not regulated by any significant environmental regulation under a law of the Commonwealth 
or of a State or Territory. 

PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF COMPANY 
No person has applied to the court under section 237 of the Corporations Act for leave of the court to bring proceedings 
on behalf of the Company, or intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a party, for the purpose of taking 
responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or any part of those proceedings. The Company was not a party to any such 
proceedings during the year. 

No proceedings have been brought or intervened in on behalf of the Company with leave of the court under section 237 of 
the Corporations Act. 

AUDITOR 
On 31 December 2021, Ernst & Young were appointed to act as the Company’s auditor in accordance with section 327 of 
the Corporations Act. The appointment is subject to approval by shareholders at the 2022 Annual General Meeting. 

INDEMNITY OF AUDITORS 
hummgroup has agreed to indemnify our auditors, Ernst & Young, to the extent permitted by law against any claim by a 
third party arising from the Company’s breach of their agreement. The indemnity stipulates that hummgroup will meet the 
full amount of any such liabilities including a reasonable amount of legal costs. 

NON-AUDIT SERVICES 
hummgroup may sometimes decide to employ the auditor on assignments additional to its statutory audit duties where the 
auditor’s expertise and experience with the Company and/or the Group are important. 

Details of the amounts paid to the auditor for audit and non-audit related services provided during the year are set out in 
note 32 of the financial statements. 

INSURANCE 
During the year ended 30 June 2022 hummgroup paid insurance premiums in respect of a contract for Directors’ and 
Officers’ Liability insurance. The policy prohibits hummgroup from disclosing the total amount of the premium and the 
nature of the liabilities covered by the insurance. 
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 
A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration, as required by section 307C of the Corporations Act, is set out below on 
page 69. 

ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS 
The Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Reports) Instrument 2016/191 
relating to the ‘rounding off’ of amounts in the Directors’ Report and the Financial Statements. Some amounts in the 
Directors’ Report and the Financial Statements have been rounded off in accordance with that instrument to the nearest 
hundred thousand dollars. 

MATTERS SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR 
Other than the matters discussed in note 36, there are no other matters or circumstances that have arisen since 30 June 
2022 which have significantly affected, or may significantly affect: 
a. The Company’s operations in future financial years; 
b. The results of those operations in future financial years; or 
c. The Company’s state of affairs in future financial years. 

This Report is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors. 

 

 
 

Andrew Abercrombie 
Chairman 
Sydney  

26 September 2022 
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ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2022 
 

hummgroup and its Controlled Entities 
Annual Financial Statements – 30 June 2022 

ABN 75 122 574 583 

 

These financial statements are the consolidated financial statements for the Group consisting of humm group limited (“the 
Company”) and its subsidiaries and controlled entities (collectively “hummgroup” or the “Group”). A list of subsidiaries and 
controlled entities is included in note 29. The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars. 

humm group limited is a company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. Its registered office and 
principal place of business is: 

Level 1, 121 Harrington Street, Sydney NSW 2000 

A description of the nature of the consolidated entity’s operations and its principal activities is included in the Review of 
Operations on page 11, which is not part of these financial statements. 

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Directors on 26 September 2022. The Directors have the power to 
amend and reissue the financial statements. 

Through the use of the internet, we have ensured that our corporate reporting is timely, complete, and available globally at a 
minimum cost to the Company. All press releases, financial statements and other information are available at our Investor 
Centre on our website: https://investors.humm-group.com/Investor-Centre/   
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 

A$m Notes 2022 2021  

Interest income 4 341.2 340.6 

Fee and other income 5 99.2 103.3 

Gross income  440.4 443.9 

Cost of origination  (27.6) (26.8) 

Interest expense  (84.1) (74.2) 

Net operating income  328.7 342.9 

Credit impairment charge 24(c) (63.4) (58.7) 

Employment expenses  (91.6) (81.1) 

Marketing expenses  (23.9) (30.0) 

Operating and other expenses 6(a) (88.9) (65.4) 

Depreciation and amortisation expenses 6(b) (37.2) (25.8) 

Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets 6(c) (207.5) – 

(Loss)/profit before income tax  (183.8) 81.9 

Income tax benefit/(expense) 7(a) 13.5 (21.8) 

(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to shareholders of humm group limited  (170.3) 60.1 

Other comprehensive income     

Items that may be reclassified to profit and loss:    

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations  (6.6) (2.5) 

Changes in the fair value of cash flow hedges, net of tax  59.8 13.7 

Items that will not be reclassified to profit and loss:    

Changes in fair value of equity investments at fair value  
through other comprehensive income  (0.8) (1.4) 

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  52.4 9.8 

Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the year attributable to shareholders of  
humm group limited  (117.9) 69.9 

Earnings per share for (loss)/profit attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the 
Company:  Cents Cents 

Basic earnings per share 20(a) (35.2) 12.0 

Diluted earnings per share 20(a) (35.2) 12.0 

The above Consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
As at 30 June 2022 

A$m Notes 30 June 2022 
30 June 2021 

Restated* 

Assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 21 281.0 218.2 

Receivables 8 219.8 226.2 

Customer loans 8 1,729.6 1,783.1 

Chattel loans 8 1,277.9 643.8 

Inventories 9 2.1 1.0 

Current tax receivable  5.4 – 

Assets classified as held for sale  10 – 8.5 

Equity investment 11 0.3 1.1 

Plant and equipment 12 3.9 5.2 

Right-of-use assets 12 12.8 15.9 

Goodwill and other intangible assets 13 130.2 350.1 

Derivative financial instruments 23 66.0 0.6 

Deferred tax asset 7(e) 37.7 46.3 

Total assets  3,766.7 3,300.0 

Liabilities    

Trade and other payables 14 51.8 56.2 

Contract liabilities  11.5 7.8 

Lease liabilities 12 16.0 18.6 

Borrowings 15 3,025.5 2,406.5 

Current tax liabilities  – 6.4 

Provisions 16 32.7 21.8 

Derivative financial instruments 23 – 18.9 

Deferred tax liabilities 7(e) 1.5 4.7 

Total liabilities  3,139.0 2,540.9 

Net assets  627.7 759.1 

Equity    

Contributed equity 17(a) 507.6 507.6 

Reserves 18(a) 45.6 (7.4) 

Retained earnings 18(b) 74.5 258.9 

Total equity  627.7 759.1 

* Comparative information has been restated to align the presentation with the current period in respect of the reclassification from Receivables to  
   Chattel Loans. 

The above Consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 

2022 

A$m Notes 
Contributed 

 equity Reserves 
Retained  
earnings Total 

Balance at the beginning of the year  507.6 (7.4) 258.9 759.1 

Loss for the year  – – (170.3) (170.3) 

Other comprehensive income  – 52.4 – 52.4 

Total comprehensive income for the year  – 52.4 (170.3) (117.9) 

Transfer to share capital from share-based  
payment reserve 18 0.3 (0.3) – – 

Purchase of treasury shares 17 (0.3) – – (0.3) 

Share based payment expense (net of tax) 18 – 0.9 – 0.9 

Dividends provided for or paid  19 – – (14.1) (14.1) 

Balance at the end of the year  507.6 45.6 74.5 627.7 

 
 

2021 

A$m Notes 
Contributed 

 equity Reserves 
Retained  
earnings Total 

Balance at the beginning of the year  393.1 (17.8) 203.1 578.4 

Profit for the year  – – 60.1 60.1 

Other comprehensive income  – 9.8 – 9.8 

Total comprehensive income for the year  – 9.8 60.1 69.9 

Issuance of shares 17(b) 112.4 – – 112.4 

Transfer to share capital from share-based  
payment reserve 

18 2.1 (2.1) – – 

Share-based payment expense (net of tax) 18 – 2.7 – 2.7 

Dividends provided for or paid  19 – – (4.3) (4.3) 

Balance at the end of the year  507.6 (7.4) 258.9 759.1 

The above Consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 

A$m Notes 2022  
2021 

Restated* 

Cash flows from operating activities    

Interest income received from customers  359.7 349.7 

Fee and other income received from customers less cost of origination  73.2 76.9 

Payment to suppliers and employees  (217.0) (176.8) 

Borrowing costs  (83.0) (73.2) 

Income taxes paid  (17.5) (24.0) 

Cash inflow from operating activities before movement in customer loans, 
receivables and chattel loans  115.4 152.6 

 Net loss  (82.0) (88.9) 

Net movement in:    

    Customer loans  53.5 (51.8) 

    Receivables  26.3 57.6 

    Chattel loans  (634.1) (180.1) 

Cash outflow from movement in customer loans, receivables and chattel loans  (636.3) (263.2) 

Net cash outflow from operating activities  (520.9) (110.6) 

Cash flows from investing activities    

Proceeds from sale of associate  8.5 – 

Payment for equity investment  – (2.2) 

Payment for purchase of plant and equipment and software  (23.3) (29.1) 

Net cash outflow from investing activities   (14.8) (31.3) 

Cash flows from financing activities    

Dividends paid  (14.1) (19.5) 

Proceeds from equity raising, net of transaction costs  – 111.3 

Purchase of treasury shares  (0.3) - 

Cash payments relating to lease liabilities  (3.7) (5.4) 

Drawdown of corporate borrowings  – 84.9 

Repayment of corporate borrowings  – (152.3) 

Net movement in:    

 Non-recourse borrowings  619.0 157.8 

 Loss reserve on non-recourse borrowings  – 26.6 

Net cash inflow from financing activities   600.9 203.4 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  65.2 61.5 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  218.2 157.5 

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  (2.4) (0.8) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 21 281.0 218.2 

* Comparative information has been restated to align the presentation with the current period in respect of the reclassification from  
   Receivables to Chattel Loans. 

The above Consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
1.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
This financial report of hummgroup and its subsidiaries for the year ended 30 June 2022 was authorised for issue by the 
Board of Directors on 26 September 2022. The Directors have the power to amend and reissue the financial report. The 
principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of this financial report are set out below or in the accompanying 
notes to the financial statements. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise 
stated.  

Basis of preparation 
These general-purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations Act. hummgroup limited is a for-
profit entity for the purpose of preparing the financial statements. 

The Consolidated financial statements of hummgroup also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) 
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). 

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of 
financial assets and liabilities (including derivative instruments) at fair value. The Consolidated statement of financial position 
has been prepared in order of liquidity, including the comparatives. 

The Group has elected to restate the comparative financial information for the prior period to change the presentation of 
items in its financial statements. Unless otherwise stated, comparative information has been restated for any changes to 
presentation made in the current year. 

The disaggregation of amounts receivable and payable in the next 12 months and beyond is outlined in the accompanying 
notes to the financial statements and the maturity profile of financial liabilities is outlined in note 24. 

The Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Reports) Instrument 2016/191, 
relating to the “rounding off” of amounts in the financial statements. Amounts in the financial statements have been rounded 
off in accordance with that Instrument to the nearest hundred thousand dollars, or in certain cases, to the  
nearest dollar. 

New Australian Accounting Standards and interpretations 
The Group applied for the first time certain standards and amendments outlined below, which are effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 July 2021. Other amendments made to existing standards that were mandatorily effective  
for the annual reporting period beginning on 1 July 2021 did not result in a material impact to hummgroup’s  
financial statements.  

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2: Amendments to AASB 9, AASB 139, AASB 7, AASB 4  
and AASB 16  
The amendments provide temporary relief which addresses the financial reporting effects when an interbank offered  
rate (“IBOR”) is replaced with an alternative nearly risk-free interest rate (“RFR”). The amendments include the following 
practical expedients: 
• A practical expedient to require contractual changes, or changes to cash flows that are directly required by the reform, to 

be treated as changes to a floating interest rate, equivalent to a movement in a market rate of interest; 
• Permit changes required by IBOR reform to be made to hedge designations and hedge documentation without the 

hedging relationship being discontinued; and  
• Provide temporary relief to entities from having to meet the separately identifiable requirement when an RFR instrument is 

designated as a hedge of a risk component.  

The Group applied the Phase 2 amendments retrospectively. However, in accordance with the exceptions permitted  
in the Phase 2 amendments, the Group has elected not to restate comparatives for the prior periods to reflect the 
application of these amendments. Since the Group had no transactions for which the benchmark rate had been 
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replaced with an alternative benchmark rate as at 30 June 2021 there is no impact on opening equity balances as a 
result of retrospective application. 

COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 Amendments to AASB 16 
The amendments provide relief to lessees from applying AASB 16 guidance on lease modification accounting for rent 
concessions arising as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic. The Group has not received COVID-19-related rent 
concessions and is not affected by this amendment. 

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS  
The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method when the acquired set of activities and assets 
meets the definition of a business and control is transferred to the Group. In determining whether a particular set of activities 
and assets is a business, the Group assesses whether the set of assets and activities acquired includes, at a minimum, an input 
and substantive process and whether the acquired set has the ability to produce outputs. 

The Group has an option to apply a ‘concentration test’ that permits a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of 
activities and assets is not a business. The optional concentration test is met if substantially all of the fair value of the gross 
assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets. 

The consideration transferred in the acquisition is generally measured at fair value, as are the identifiable net assets acquired. 
Any goodwill that arises is tested annually for impairment. If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the 
aggregate consideration transferred, the Group re-assesses whether it has correctly identified all of the assets acquired and 
all of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts to be recognised at the acquisition 
date. If the reassessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the aggregate consideration 
transferred, then the gain is recognised in profit or loss. Transaction costs are expensed as incurred, except if related to the 
issue of debt or equity securities. 

Any contingent consideration is measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. If an obligation to pay contingent 
consideration that meets the definition of a financial instrument is classified as equity, then it is not remeasured and 
settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, other contingent consideration is remeasured at fair value at each 
reporting date and subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit or loss. 

PARENT ENTITY FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
The financial information for the parent entity, hummgroup, disclosed in note 34 has been prepared on the same basis as the 
consolidated financial statements. 

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less allowance for impairment in the financial statements of hummgroup. 
No receivables nor loans are originated by the parent. 

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group ‘controls’ an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, 
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the 
entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date on which 
control commences until the date on which control ceases. 

Non-controlling interest are measured initially at their proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets at the date 
of acquisition. 

Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions. 

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION 

a)  Functional and presentation currency 
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the entity operates (‘’the functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are 
presented in Australian dollars, which is hummgroup’s functional and presentation currency. 

b)  Transactions and balances 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using average exchange rates for the respective 
month (unless this is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, 
in which case income and expenses are translated at the date of the transaction). Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting 
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from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies at year end exchange rates are generally recognised in the Consolidated statement of comprehensive income.  

Translation differences on assets and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. 

Non-monetary items that are measured based on historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the spot exchange 
rate at the date of the transaction. 

Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the Consolidated statement of comprehensive income on a net basis 
within other income or other expenses. 

c)  Group companies 
The results and Consolidated statement of financial position of all Group entities (none of which has the currency of a 
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the 
presentation currency as follows: 
• Assets and liabilities in the Consolidated statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at the 

date of the Consolidated statement of financial position, 
• Income and expenses in the Statement of comprehensive income are translated at average exchange rates for the 

respective month (unless this is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the 
transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions), and 

• All resulting exchange differences are recognised in Other comprehensive income. 

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of any net investment in foreign entities, and of 
borrowings and other financial instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are recognised in other 
comprehensive income. When a foreign operation is sold or any borrowings forming part of the net investment are repaid, a 
proportionate share of such exchange difference is recognised in the Consolidated statement of comprehensive income, as 
part of the gain or loss on sale. 

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of 
the foreign entities and as a result are expressed in the functional currency of the foreign operation and translated at the 
closing rate. 

When a foreign operation is disposed, the cumulative amount in the translation reserve related to that foreign operation is 
reclassified to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal. 

INDIRECT TAXES  
Indirect taxes comprise of the below: 
•  Goods and Services Tax (“GST”) in Australia, New Zealand and Canada; and 
•  Value Added Tax (“VAT”) in Ireland and UK. 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of indirect taxes, unless the amount incurred is not 
recoverable from the taxation authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of 
the expense.  

Receivables and payables are stated exclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included with other receivables or payables in the Consolidated 
statement of financial position. 

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities 
which are recoverable from, or payable to the taxation authority, are presented as operating cash flows. 

INVENTORY 
Inventory comprises returned rental equipment prior to end of term and inertia assets from matured customer lease 
contracts. Inventory is recognised at the lower of cost and net realisable value when legal ownership transfers to the Group 
and is expected to be realised in the next 12 months. 

EQUITY INVESTMENT 
The Group held a minority investment in an ASX listed fintech, Douugh Limited, carried at fair value based on quoted market 
price at 30 June 2022 of $0.3m (30 June 2021: $1.1m). 
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COST OF ORIGINATION 
Cost of origination includes placement costs, sales commissions and rebates, and transaction processing costs associated 
with the Group’s revolving products in the Consumer business. Placement costs relate to payments made to merchants to 
access their customers through e-commerce platforms or in store. Transaction processing costs comprise credit reference 
costs, bank fees and other transaction processing fees.  

GOVERNMENT GRANTS 
Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be 
received, and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.  

Australian JobKeeper subsidies are included in the ‘Employment expenses’ line item. There are no unfulfilled conditions or 
other contingencies attaching to these grants.  

In 2022, the Group did not receive the subsidies (2021: $6.1m) or any other form of government assistance. 

STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 
A number of new standards are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 July 2021 and earlier application is permitted; 
however, the Group has not early adopted the new or amended standards in preparing these consolidated financial 
statements. The Group intends to adopt these new and amended standards and interpretations, if applicable, when they 
become effective. 

• Onerous contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract (Amendments to AASB 137) 
The amendments specify which costs an entity includes in determining the cost of fulfilling a contract for the purpose of 
assessing whether the contract is onerous. The amendments apply for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2022 to contracts existing at the date when the amendments are first applied. At the date of initial application, the 
cumulative effect of applying the amendments is recognised as an opening balance adjustment to retained earnings or other 
components of equity, as appropriate. The comparatives are not restated.  

• Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction (Amendments to AASB 112) 
The amendments narrow the scope of the initial recognition exemption to exclude transactions that give rise to equal and 
offsetting temporary differences – e.g. leases. The amendments apply for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2023. For leases, the associated deferred tax asset and liabilities will need to be recognised from the beginning of 
the earliest comparative period presented, with any cumulative effect recognised as an adjustment to retained earnings or 
other components of equity at that date. For all other transactions, the amendments apply to transactions that occur after the 
beginning of the earliest period presented. The Group accounts for deferred tax on leases applying the ‘integrally linked’ 
approach, resulting in a similar outcome to the amendments, except that the deferred tax impacts are presented net in the 
Consolidated statement of financial position. Under the amendments, the Group will recognise a separate deferred tax asset 
and a deferred tax liability. There will be no impact on retained earnings on adoption of the amendments.  

The following new and amended standards are not expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements.  

• Annual Improvements to Australian Accounting Standards 2018–2020, effective 1 January 2022. 
• Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (Amendments to AASB 101), effective 1 January 2023. 
• AASB 17 Insurance Contracts and amendments to AASB 17 Insurance Contracts, effective 1 January 2023. 
• Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments to AASB 101 and Australian Practice Statement 2), effective  

1 January 2023. 
• Definition of Accounting Estimates (Amendments to AASB 108), effective 1 January 2023. 
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2. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 
Management believes that the estimates used in preparing these Financial Statements are reasonable. Actual results in the 
future may differ from those reported and it is therefore reasonably possible, on the basis of existing knowledge, that 
outcomes within the next financial year that are different from management’s assumptions and estimates could require an 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the reported assets and liabilities in future reporting periods. 

Despite positive signs of returning to pre-pandemic life emerging, the COVID-19 pandemic continues to have an impact on 
global economies and remains a source of uncertainty. Certain sectors, including tourism and transport, hospitality, 
education, retail, personal services and commercial property, are not expected to return to pre-COVID-19 activity levels in the 
short-term. 

Apart from the lingering economic effects of COVID-19, the Group continues to navigate amongst geopolitical and 
economic headwinds that have emerged from the war in Ukraine, supply chain disruptions, rising interest rates and inflation, 
expected decline in consumer confidence and discretionary spending, as well as tightened capital and debt markets. Given 
the dynamic and evolving nature of these uncertainties, the Group continues to incorporate estimate assumptions and 
judgement into the measurement calculations. 

Where specific areas of judgement and uncertainty exist due to COVID-19, we have included increased disclosure in the 
accompanying notes to the financial statements. 

Information about judgements made in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effects on the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements is included in the following notes:  

EXPECTED CREDIT LOSSES  
The Group estimates expected losses on its customer loans, finance lease receivables and chattel loans in accordance with 
the policy set out in note 24. 

Expected Credit Loss (“ECL”) models are expected to be subject to a higher than usual level of uncertainty. In this 
environment the application of judgement is required in order to reflect evolving uncertainties and risks.  

This judgement has been applied in the form of the re-assessment of macro-economic model overlays including scenario 
weightings and hardship and watchlist overlays. Refer note 24 for ECL judgemental inputs and overlays. 

ASSESSMENT OF IMPAIRMENT OF GOODWILL, ACQUIRED INTANGIBLES, INVESTMENTS 
IN SUBSIDIARIES, INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES AND CAPITALISED SOFTWARE 
The Group performs an annual assessment as to whether there has been any impairment of its goodwill and indefinite life 
intangible assets. In addition, the Group uses judgement to perform an impairment assessment of other assets in the event it 
identifies indicators of impairment. Details of the basis of performance of the assessment of goodwill and the assumptions 
made are set out in note 13. 

ESTIMATION OF UNGUARANTEED RESIDUALS ON LEASES 
The Group regularly reviews the estimated value of unguaranteed lease residuals based on its prior experience for similar 
contracts. Where applicable, residual values are set at rates ranging between 0% and 20% depending on asset type and the 
duration of the contract. 

ACQUIRED INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
The assets and liabilities of businesses acquired through a business combination are to be measured at their acquisition date 
fair values. The Group applies judgements in selecting valuation techniques and setting valuation assumptions to determine 
the acquisition date fair values and to estimate the useful lives of these assets as set out in notes 13.  

Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the 
asset are considered to modify the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting 
estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the 
expense category that is consistent with the function of the intangible assets. 

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT EXPENSE 
In determining the share-based payments expense for the year, the Group makes various assumptions in determining the fair 
value of the instruments, the probability of non-market vesting conditions being met, and the likelihood of employees 
meeting tenure conditions. Refer note 22. 
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TAXATION 
Judgement is required in determining provisions held in respect of uncertain tax positions. The Group estimates its tax 
liabilities based on its understanding of the relevant tax law in each of the countries in which it operates and seeks 
independent advice to support the assessment where required. Refer note 7. 

PROVISION FOR CUSTOMER REMEDIATION 
Judgement is required in determining provisions held in respect of customer and other remediation obligations. The Group 
estimates these provisions based on its understanding of likely outcome, considering expert opinions and on-going 
discussions with regulatory bodies. Refer note 16. 

LITIGATION PROVISION 
Litigation provision involves judgement regarding the timing and outcome of future events, including estimates of 
expenditure required to satisfy such obligations. Where relevant, expert legal advice has been obtained. In light of such 
advice, provision and disclosures have been made as appropriate. Refer note 27. 

 

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION 
a) Description of segments 
Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the Directors that are used to make 
strategic decisions. In addition to statutory profit after tax, the Directors assess the business on a Cash NPAT basis. Cash NPAT 
is defined as statutory profit after tax, adjusted for the after-tax effect of material infrequent items that the Directors believe do 
not reflect ongoing operations of the Group, and amortisation of acquired intangible assets. 

The Directors consider the business from a product perspective and have identified four reportable segments:  
• Humm Consumer Finance (“HCF”) including: 

— BNPL (a consolidation of humm Australia, New Zealand, United Kingdom, Canada, Ireland FlexiFi and FlexiRent 
Ireland, bundll and hummpro);  

— New Zealand Cards (including Farmers, Q Card, Flight Centre Mastercard); 
— Australia Cards (humm90, legacy Lombard and Once); and  

• Commercial and Leasing (consisting of Australia and New Zealand Commercial Lending and the legacy consumer 
leasing product).  

The Group operates in Australia, New Zealand, Ireland, UK and Canada. The operating segments are identified according to 
the nature of the products and services provided, with New Zealand Cards disclosed separately (based on its product 
offering) and Ireland included within BNPL.  

The segment information provided to the Chief Operating Decision Makers for the reportable segments for the year ended 
30 June 2022 is as below: 
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b) Operating segments 
Year ended 30 June 2022 

A$m 
 

Notes BNPL AU Cards NZ Cards 
Commercial  

& Leasing Total 

Interest income  87.8 56.1 102.5 94.8 341.2 

Fee and other income  36.9 19.0 19.1 24.2 99.2 

Gross income  124.7 75.1 121.6 119.0 440.4 

Cost of origination  (10.3) (8.4) (8.9) – (27.6) 

Interest expense  (17.4) (16.7) (20.4) (29.6) (84.1) 

Net operating income  97.0 50.0 92.3 89.4 328.7 

Credit impairment charge   (38.8) (0.1) (10.6) (13.9) (63.4) 

Marketing expense  (13.2) (3.2) (6.9) (0.6) (23.9) 

Employment, operating and depreciation expenses  (73.5) (37.0) (36.0) (56.2) (202.7) 

Amortisation of acquired intangible assets  – – (15.0) – (15.0) 

Impairment of intangibles  (73.4) (31.6) (85.8) (16.7)   (207.5) 

Statutory (loss)/profit before income tax  (101.9) (21.9) (62.0) 2.0 (183.8) 

Income benefit/(tax expense)  22.8 (0.6) (4.3) (4.4) 13.5 

Statutory (loss)/profit for the year  (79.1) (22.5) (66.3) (2.4) (170.3) 

Infrequent items, net of tax:       

Amortisation of acquired intangible assets  – – 10.7 – 10.7 

Impairment of intangibles  61.3 27.9 85.5 16.7 191.4 

Other1  0.5 3.5 0.9 14.4 19.3 

Cash net (loss)/profit after tax  (17.3) 8.9 30.8 28.7 51.1 

Total segment receivables at 30 June 20222  775.5 435.2 572.4 1,523.7 3,306.8 

ECL provision, unamortised direct transaction costs, 
contract liabilities and other debtors      (79.5) 

Total receivables, chattel loans and customer loans per 
the Consolidated statement of financial position      3,227.3 

Fee and other income:       

Account servicing fees  30.3 8.7 10.3 1.5 50.8 

Transaction processing fees  5.4 9.4 6.9 1.1 22.8 

Leasing related income  – – – 21.1 21.1 

Other fees and income  1.2 0.9 1.9 0.5 4.5 

Total fee and other income   36.9 19.0 19.1 24.2 99.2 

1.  Other includes legal provision, HCF related transaction and separation costs, customer remediation programme and other adjustments. 
2.  Total segment receivables at 30 June 2022 include contract liabilities. 
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Year ended 30 June 2021 

A$m Notes BNPL AU Cards NZ Cards 
Commercial  

& Leasing Total 

Interest income  91.2 70.4 113.1 65.9 340.6 

Fee and other income  29.4 20.7 22.3 30.9 103.3 

Gross income  120.6 91.1 135.4 96.8 443.9 

Cost of origination  (10.9) (8.0) (7.9) – (26.8) 

Interest expense  (18.9) (14.4) (20.2) (20.7) (74.2) 

Net operating income  90.8 68.7 107.3 76.1 342.9 

Credit impairment charge  (33.2) (1.9) (19.4) (4.2) (58.7) 

Marketing expense  (13.9) (5.2) (8.5) (2.4) (30.0) 

Operating and depreciation expenses  (43.1) (38.7) (41.1) (46.5) (169.4) 

Amortisation of acquired intangible assets  – – (2.9) – (2.9) 

Statutory profit before income tax  0.6 22.9 35.4 23.0 81.9 

Income tax expense  (0.5) (9.8) (10.6) (0.9) (21.8) 

Statutory profit for the year  0.1 13.1 24.8 22.1 60.1 

Infrequent items, net of tax:       

Amortisation of acquired intangible assets  – – 2.1 – 2.1 

Redundancy and restructure  0.5 0.4 0.4 0.3 1.6 

Impairment and initial profit on sale adjustment to 
held for sale investment in associate 10 – – – 3.9 3.9 

Other1  0.6 3.3 0.8 (4.0) 0.7 

Cash net profit after tax  1.2 16.8 28.1 22.3 68.4 

Total segment receivables at 30 June 20212  762.7 454.9 639.9 885.1 2,742.6 

ECL provision, unamortised direct transaction costs, 
contract liabilities and other debtors      (89.5) 

Total receivables, chattel loans and customer loans per 
the Consolidated statement of financial position      2,653.1 

Fee and other income:       

Account servicing fees  22.2 10.0 11.5 2.7 46.4 

Transaction processing fees  5.9 9.9 6.8 2.6 25.2 

Leasing related income  – – – 25.1 25.1 

Share of profit after tax from investment in associate  – – – (0.5) (0.5) 

Other fees and income  1.3 0.8 4.0 1.0 7.1 

Total fee and other income  29.4 20.7 22.3 30.9 103.3 

1.  Other includes: 
• The share-based payment expense recognised during the year due to the cancellation of the Group’s FY20 TIP with hurdles being 

significantly out of the money as a result of COVID-19 and actions taken in response to this. The plan was cancelled as it no longer 
served as a suitable retention tool for participants; and  

• The reversal of net tax liabilities no longer required, with the resolution of historical tax matters in the year. 
2.  Total segment receivables at 30 June 2021 include contract liabilities. 
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4.  INTEREST INCOME 

ACCOUNTING POLICY 
Customer loan interest income is recognised in the Consolidated statement of comprehensive income using the effective 
interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts 
through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of 
the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Group estimates cash flows 
considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument but does not consider future credit losses. 

The calculation of the effective interest rate includes all fees such as merchant services fees and establishment fees, 
transaction costs and all other premium or discounts that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.  

Merchant services fees and establishment fees are amortised over the expected life of the contractual arrangements.  

Receivable interest income is recognised by applying discount rates implicit in the lease to the receivable balance at the 
beginning of each payment period. Initial direct costs incurred in the origination of the lease are included as part of 
finance lease receivables in the Consolidated statement of financial position and form part of the effective interest rate 
calculation. 

Chattel loans are originated with maturities ranging between one and five years and generally require the customer to 
make equal monthly payments over the life of the contract. Interest income is recognised in the Consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income using the effective interest method. 

 

A$m 2022 2021 

Interest income 341.2 340.6 

Total interest income 341.2 340.6 
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5. FEE AND OTHER INCOME 

ACCOUNTING POLICY 
hummgroup has adopted AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“AASB 15”) as the primary accounting 
standard for revenue recognition.  

AASB 15 applies to contracts with customers except for revenue arising from items such as financial instruments, 
insurance contracts and leases. The majority of the Group’s revenue arises from financial instruments and leases. The type 
of revenue earned by the Group from its contracts with customers primarily consists of the below categories of income. 
Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in the contract with a customer and is recognised when it 
transfers control of the services to a customer. 

If the services under a single arrangement are rendered in different reporting periods, then the consideration is allocated 
based on their relative stand-alone selling prices over the service periods. The stand-alone selling price is determined 
based on the list prices at which the Group sells the services in separate transactions. 

Account service fee 
Account servicing fees involve fees earned for managing and administering facilities for customers. Revenue is 
recognised over the service period on an accrual basis as the performance obligations are satisfied. Contract liabilities in 
the Consolidated statement of financial position relate to unearned account service fee income. 

Transaction processing fee 
Transaction processing fees involve fees charged when transactions are carried out for the customers, when payments 
are dishonoured and when payments are late. Revenue is recognised when the fee is charged to customers; this is 
typically a single performance obligation.  

Leasing related income 
The Group operates an equipment protection and debt waiver plan entitled Protect Plan. Equipment protection and debt 
waiver plan revenue is recognised on an accrual basis over the life of the contract. A provision for outstanding expected 
claims is recognised in the Consolidated statement of financial position for the cost of Protect Plan claims which have  
been incurred at year end, but have not yet been notified to the Group; or which have been notified to the Group but not 
yet paid. 

Secondary lease income including rental income on extended rental assets (or inertia income) and gain on sale of goods, 
is recognised on an accrual basis. Gains from the sale of rental assets are recognised upon disposal of the relevant assets. 

Other income 
Other income includes premium revenue earned from the Group’s Consumer Insurance business in New Zealand. 
Premium revenue is recognised in the Statement of comprehensive income when it has been earned. The unearned 
portion of premium revenue is recognised as a provision on the Consolidated statement of financial position.  

 

Fee and other income is summarised in the table below: 

A$m 2022 2021 

Account servicing fees 50.8 46.4 

Transaction processing fees 22.8 25.2 

Leasing related income 21.1 25.1 

Share of loss after tax from investment in associate held for sale (refer to note 10) – (0.5) 

Other income 4.5 7.1 

Total fee and other income 99.2 103.3 
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6. EXPENSES 

ACCOUNTING POLICY 
Expenses are recognised in the Consolidated statement of comprehensive income as incurred unless otherwise stated. 

Employment benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. 

Insurance claims include payments made to settle customer claims and an allowance for claims incurred at year end but 
not yet paid. Insurance claims relate to the Group’s Protect Plan and Consumer Insurance business. 

Refer to note 12 for the accounting policy on depreciation and amortisation expenses and note 13 for the accounting 
policy on impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets.  

a) Operating and other expenses  

A$m 2022 2021 

Customer remediation programme 1.1 – 

Information technology and communication 29.7 23.2 

Insurance and occupancy costs 6.8 5.6 

Legal provision1 15.5 – 

Outsourced operations 4.8 5.0 

Professional, consulting and other service provider costs 15.1 12.8 

Insurance claims 1.1 3.4 

Loss on sale adjustment and impairment – held for sale investment in associate – 5.0 

Transaction and separation costs 8.0 – 

Other2 6.8 10.4 

Total operating expenses 88.9 65.4 

1. On 1 September 2021, Flexirent Capital Pty Ltd, a subsidiary of humm group limited received a claim from a third party in relation to the 
investigation relating to equipment leases arranged by Forum Finance. Records indicate that the decommissioned managed services business of 
the Group generated business linked to Forum Finance between 2016 and 2018. The business no longer operates and closed in 2018. The 
Group set aside $15.5m provision for this matter as advised by its legal counsel. 

2. Other includes: GST non-recoverable operating expenses and miscellaneous expenses such as travel, administration and office expenses. 

b) Depreciation and amortisation expenses 

A$m 2022 2021 

Depreciation of plant and equipment  1.3 2.4 

Depreciation of right-of-use asset 3.0 3.1 

Impairment of plant and equipment 0.7 – 

Amortisation of other intangible assets  32.2 20.3 

Total depreciation and amortisation expenses 37.2 25.8 

c) Impairment of intangible assets 

A$m 2022 2021 

Impairment of goodwill 152.1 – 

Impairment of other intangible assets 55.4 – 

Total impairment of goodwill and other intangibles 207.5 – 
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7. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 

ACCOUNTING POLICY 
The income tax expense for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the applicable 
income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary 
differences and unused tax losses. 

Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year and any 
adjustment to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax payable or receivable 
is the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that reflects uncertainty related to income taxes, if 
any. It is measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current tax also includes any 
tax arising from dividends. Current tax assets or liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met. 

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for 
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for: 
• Temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination 

and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss; 
• Temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements to the extent that the 

Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that they will not reverse 
in the foreseeable future; and 

• Taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary differences to the 
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be used. Deferred tax assets 
are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit 
will be realised; such reductions are reversed when the probability of future taxable profits improves. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met. 

Current and deferred tax is recognised in the income tax expense except to the extent that it relates to items recognised 
directly in equity, in other comprehensive income.  

Tax consolidation legislation 
hummgroup and its wholly owned Australian controlled entities have implemented the tax consolidation legislation. As a 
consequence, these entities are taxed as a single entity and the deferred tax assets and liabilities of these entities are set-
off in the consolidated financial statements. 

On adoption of the tax consolidation legislation, the entities in the Tax Consolidated Group entered into a Tax Sharing 
Agreement which limits the joint and several liability of the wholly owned entities in the case of a default by the head 
entity, hummgroup. 

The entities have also entered into a Tax Funding Agreement under which the wholly owned entities compensate 
hummgroup for any current tax payable assumed and are compensated by hummgroup for any current tax receivable 
and deferred tax assets relating to the unused tax losses or unused tax credits that are transferred to hummgroup under 
the tax consolidation legislation. The amounts are recognised in the wholly owned entities’ financial statements. 

The amounts receivable/payable under the Tax Funding Agreement are due upon receipt of the funding advice from the 
head entity, which is issued as soon as practicable after the end of the financial year. The head entity may also require 
payment of interim funding amounts to assist with its obligations to pay tax instalments. The funding amounts are 
recognised as intercompany receivables. 
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a)  Income tax expense 

A$m 2022 2021 

Current tax expense   

Current tax 9.0 24.0 

Changes in estimate related to prior years (2.9) (2.0) 

Deferred tax expense   

Originating from reversal of temporary differences (19.6) (0.2) 

Total income tax (benefit)/expense (13.5) 21.8 

 

b) Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense  

A$m 2022 2021 

(Loss)/profit before income tax expense (183.8) 81.9 

Tax at the Australian tax rate of 30% (55.1) 24.6 

Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible (taxable) in calculating taxable income:   

Impairment of goodwill 45.6 – 

Effect of differences in tax rates in a foreign jurisdiction (0.9) (0.7) 

Adjustment of current tax of prior periods (2.9) (2.0) 

Other1 (0.2) (0.1) 

Total income tax (benefit)/expense (13.5) 21.8 

1. Includes dividend on preference shares, income from investment in associates and other non-deductible costs. 

c) Amount recognised directly in equity 

A$m 2022 2021 

Share-based payments – 0.1 

Cash flow hedge 25.0 6.0 

Equity raising costs – (1.0) 

Others 0.7 2.6 

Deferred income tax expense related to items taken directly to equity 25.7 7.7 
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d) Deferred tax expense represents movements in deferred tax assets/liabilities 

A$m 2022 2021 

Difference between Commercial lease principal to be returned as assessable income  
and depreciation on leased assets to be claimed as a tax deduction (4.4) (7.5) 

Initial direct transaction costs 1.5 (1.0) 

Other intangible assets (2.1) (2.1) 

Plant and equipment (0.9) 0.6 

Payables and provisions (5.3) (0.9) 

Expected credit allowance 5.5 8.7 

Lease liabilities  0.7 (0.7) 

Software (10.1) 1.6 

Unearned income (1.1) 0.9 

Right-of-use assets (0.8) 1.1 

Tax losses (3.1) – 

Others 0.5 (0.9) 

Deferred tax benefit (19.6) (0.2) 

 

e) Deferred tax assets and liabilities 

Deferred tax assets 

A$m 2022 2021 

Payables and provisions 16.9 11.6 

Expected credit allowance 31.7 37.2 

Lease liabilities 4.3 5.0 

Derivative financial instruments – 5.4 

Software 12.4 2.3 

Unearned income 3.4 2.3 

Tax losses 3.1 – 

Others 3.0 3.5 

Total deferred tax assets 74.8 67.3 
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Deferred tax liabilities 

A$m 2022 2021 

Difference between Commercial finance lease principal to be returned as assessable income  
and depreciation on leased assets to be claimed as a tax deduction 2.4 6.8 

Initial direct transaction costs 3.5 2.0 

Derivative financial instruments 19.6 – 

Plant and equipment 1.5 2.4 

Other intangible assets  8.1 10.2 

Right-of-use assets 3.5 4.3 

Total deferred tax liabilities 38.6 25.7 

   

Net deferred tax assets 

A$m 2022 2021 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities disclosed on balance sheet:   

Deferred tax assets 37.7 46.3 

Deferred tax liabilities (1.5) (4.7) 

Net deferred tax assets 36.2 41.6 

Amounts expected to be settled within 12 months 20.3 13.9 

Amounts expected to be settled after 12 months 15.9 27.7 

Net deferred tax assets 36.2 41.6 

 

f) Carry forward tax losses 
As at 30 June 2022, the Group is carrying a deferred tax asset of $3.1m (2021: $1.3m) in respect of $15.8m (30 June 2021: 
$10.1m) of carry forward losses in Australia and Ireland.   

g) Significant estimates – uncertain tax position 
During the year, the Group has continued to work on addressing those matters in respect of which significant tax risks may 
arise, including seeking external advice where appropriate.  The Group has assessed these risks and considers that it has 
made appropriate provisions for these matters, and therefore does not have any material uncertain tax matters not otherwise 
provided for as at 30 June 2022 (30 June 2021: Nil). 
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8. RECEIVABLES, CUSTOMER LOANS AND CHATTEL LOANS 

ACCOUNTING POLICY 
Financial assets are grouped into the following classes:  

Financial assets at amortised costs 

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as  
at fair value through profit and loss (“FVTPL”):  
•  it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and  
•  its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the 

principal amount outstanding.  

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income 
(“FVOCI”) as described above are measured at FVTPL. This includes all derivative financial assets. On initial recognition, 
the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at 
amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would 
otherwise arise. 

The Group has two classes of assets measured at amortised cost being chattel loans and customer loans.  

i)  Customer loans 

Customer loans are financial assets for which the contractual cash flows are solely repayments of principal and interest 
and that are held in a business model with the objective of collecting contractual cash flows. 

Customer loans are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs directly attributable to the origination of the 
loan or advance. Subsequently, customer loans are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, 
net of any provision for credit impairment. 

ii) Chattel loans 

Chattel loans are secured equipment finance arrangements, measured at amortised cost.  The Group may take 
possession of the financed asset in circumstances where the customer is unable to meet financial commitments under the 
terms of the loan contract. Income is recognised on an effective interest basis. 

Finance lease receivables  

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease 
if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.  

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an operating 
lease.  

To classify each lease, the Group makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers substantially all of the risks 
and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If this is the case, then the lease is a finance lease; if not, then 
it is an operating lease. As part of this assessment, the Group considers certain indicators such as whether the lease is for 
the major part of the economic life of the asset.  

Lease assets are initially recognised at the net investment in the lease and comprise of fixed payments due from 
customers and guaranteed residual values. Initial direct costs are included in the initial measurement of the net 
investment in the lease and form part of the effective interest rate calculation. 

The Group applies the derecognition and impairment requirements in AASB 9 to the net investment in the lease (see 
note 24). The Group further regularly reviews estimated unguaranteed residual values used in calculating the gross 
investment in the lease.  
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Receivables comprised of: 

A$m 2022 
2021 

Restated* 

Finance lease receivables 215.5 214.6 

Other debtors 4.3 11.6 

Total receivables 219.8 226.2 

* Comparative information has been restated to align the presentation with the current period in respect of the reclassification from Receivables to  
   Chattel Loans. 

Receivables and chattel loans 

A$m 2022 
2021 

Restated* 

Gross investment in finance lease receivables before residuals 234.1 246.6 

Guaranteed residuals 2.4 3.8 

Unguaranteed residuals 16.8 23.7 

Gross investment in finance lease receivables 253.3 274.1 

Gross investment in chattel loans 1,562.0 793.4 

Gross finance lease receivables and chattel loans 1,815.3 1,067.5 

Unamortised initial direct transaction costs 11.9 6.6 

Unearned future income (289.7) (170.6) 

Net investment in receivables and chattel loans before expected credit allowance 1,537.5 903.5 

Expected credit allowance (39.8) (33.5) 

Net investment in receivables and chattel loans 1,497.7 870.0 

* Comparative information has been restated to align the presentation with the current period in respect of the reclassification from Receivables to  
   Chattel Loans. 

Customer loans 

A$m 2022 
2021 

Restated* 

Gross customer loans 1,862.7 1,951.5 

Unearned future income (74.4) (86.4) 

Net customer loans before credit allowance 1,788.3 1,865.1 

Expected credit allowance (58.7) (82.0) 

Net investment in customer loans 1,729.6 1,783.1 

* Comparative information has been restated to align the presentation with the current period in respect of the reclassification of Contract  
   Liabilities from Gross customer loans.  
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Maturity profile 
The following tables set out a maturity profile of finance lease receivables, chattel loans and customer loans before provision 
for doubtful debts or expected credit allowance: 

Finance lease receivables and other debtors 

A$m 2022 
2021 

Restated* 

Less than 1 year 101.3 131.6 

Between 1 and 2 years 64.4 70.8 

Between 2 and 3 years 38.3 31.1 

Between 3 and 4 years 21.8 12.0 

Between 4 and 5 years 10.2 4.4 

More than 5 years 0.5 0.5 

Unguaranteed residual value 16.8 23.7 

Unearned future income (29.2) (39.2) 

Net investment in finance lease receivables and other debtors before expected credit allowances 224.1 234.9 

* Comparative information has been restated to align the presentation with the current period in respect of the reclassification from Receivables to  
   Chattel Loans. 

Chattel loans 

A$m 2022 
2021 

Restated* 

Due within one year 420.1 224.6 

Due after one year but no later than five years 1,153.8 575.4 

Unearned future income (260.5) (131.4) 

Net investment in chattel loans before expected credit allowances 1,313.4 668.6 

* Comparative information has been restated to align the presentation with the current period in respect of the reclassification from Receivables to  
   Chattel Loans. 

Customer loans 

A$m 2022 
2021 

Restated* 

Due within one year 1,301.9 1,450.2 

Due after one year but not later than five years 560.4 501.2 

Due greater than five years 0.4 0.1 

Unearned future income (74.4) (86.4) 

Net customer loans 1,788.3 1,865.1 

* Comparative information has been restated to align the presentation with the current period in respect of the reclassification of Contract Liabilities from  
   Gross customer loans. 
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9. INVENTORIES 

ACCOUNTING POLICY 
Inventory comprises returned rental equipment prior to end of term and inertia assets from matured customer lease 
contracts. Inventory is recognised at the lower of costs and net realisable value when legal ownership transfers to the 
Group and is expected to be realised in the next 12 months. 

 

A$m 2022 2021 

Rental equipment 2.1 1.0 

Total 2.1 1.0 

 
 

10. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE 

ACCOUNTING POLICY 
Non-current assets, or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities, are classified as held for sale if it is highly 
probable that they will be recovered primarily through sale rather than through continuing use. Such assets, or disposal 
groups, are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs of sale. Any impairment loss on a 
disposal group is allocated first to goodwill, and then to the remaining assets and liabilities on a pro rata basis, except that 
no loss is allocated to inventories, financial assets or deferred tax assets, which continue to be measured in accordance 
with the Group’s other accounting policies. Impairment losses on initial classification as held-for-sale and subsequent 
gains or losses on remeasurement are recognised in profit and loss. 

Once classified as held for sale, intangible assets and property, plant and equipment are no longer amortised or 
depreciated, and any equity-accounted investee is no longer equity accounted. 

 

Entity name 
Country of  

incorporation 

Percentage  
 of shares held 

2022 2021 

Investment in associate entity Thinkex Holdings Pty Limited Australia – 30.0% 

 

A$m  2022 2021 

Investment in associate classified at held for sale  – 8.5 

Dividends received from investment classified as held for sale  – 0.3 

Recognised in the Statement of comprehensive income:     

Held for sale investment – earnings in associate   – (0.5) 

Adjustment to initial profit on sale, as a result of reduced shareholding in Thinkex Holdings 
Pty Limited, from 35% to 30%, closing out dispute in relation to net assets transferred  – (1.2) 

Impairment of investment in associate classified at held for sale  – (3.8) 

Total comprehensive income  – (5.5) 
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11. EQUITY INVESTMENT 

ACCOUNTING POLICY 
Fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) 
Financial assets at FVTOCI are comprised of equity securities which are not held for trading, and which the Group has 
irrevocably elected at initial recognition to recognise in this category. These are strategic investments and the Group 
considers this classification to be more relevant. 

 

Entity name 
Country of  

incorporation 

Percentage  
 of shares held 

2022 2021 

Investment at FVTOCI Australia 1.35% 1.8% 

 

A$m  2022 2021 

Investment at FVTOCI  0.3 1.1 

Equity and other investments  0.3 1.1 

    

The Group held a minority investment in an ASX listed fintech, Douugh Limited, carried at fair value based on quoted market 
price at 30 June 2022 of $0.3m (30 June 2021: $1.1m). 
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12. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND  
 LEASE LIABILITIES 

ACCOUNTING POLICY 
Plant and equipment 
Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation and impairment. Historical cost includes expenditure 
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Cost may also include transfers from equity of any gains/losses 
on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of plant and equipment. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only 
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item 
can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any component accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised 
when replaced. All repairs and maintenance are charged to the Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
during the reporting period in which they are incurred. 

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line or diminishing value method to allocate their cost or revalue amounts, 
net of their residual values, over their estimated useful lives, as follows: 

Assets Method Depreciation Rate 

Computers Diminishing value 50% 
Plant and equipment Diminishing value 30% 
Motor vehicles Diminishing value 25% 

Leasehold improvements Straight-line 14% – 33% 
Furniture and fittings Diminishing value 15% – 25% 

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance date. 

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater 
than its estimated recoverable amount. 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount of the asset disposed. 
These are included in the Consolidated statement of comprehensive. 

Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities 
The Group leases property and motor vehicles in the ordinary course of business. Leases are recognised as a right-of-use 
asset and corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use by the Group. Each lease 
payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to the Statement of 
comprehensive income over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining 
balance of the liability for each period. The right-of-use asset is depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and 
the lease term on a straight-line basis. Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value 
basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of the following lease payments: 
• fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable; 
• variable lease payments that are based on an index or a rate; 
• amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees; 
• the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and 
• payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising that option. 

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be determined, the 
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the lessee would have to pay to borrow funds necessary 
to obtain an asset of similar value in a similar economic environment with similar terms and conditions. 

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following: 
• the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability; 
• any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received; 
• any initial cost; and 
• restoration costs. 
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Plant and equipment and right-of-use assets comprise of: 

A$m 2022 2021 

Plant and equipment – Cost 7.6 16.4 

Plant and equipment – Accumulated depreciation (3.7) (11.2) 

Plant and equipment – Net book amount 3.9 5.2 

Right-of-use assets – Cost 21.8 22.0 

Right-of-use assets – Accumulated depreciation (9.0) (6.1) 

Right-of-use assets – Net book amount 12.8 15.9 

Total net book amount 16.7 21.1 

   

Movement in plant and equipment and right-of-use assets at net book amount: 

2022 

A$m Notes 
Plant and 

equipment 
Right-of-use 

assets Total 

Balance at the beginning of the year  5.2 15.9 21.1 

Additions  0.7 – 0.7 

Disposals  – (0.1) (0.1) 

Depreciation 6 (1.3) (3.0) (4.3) 

Impairment 6 (0.7) – (0.7) 

Balance at the end of the year  3.9 12.8 16.7 

 
  

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an 
expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases have a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets with a value of 
less than $10,000 comprise IT equipment and small items of office furniture. 

The property leases were held by the Group: 

Property Period 
121 Harrington Street, Sydney 4 years, 6 months 

111 Carlton Gore Road, Auckland 12 years 
 5 Custom House Plaza, Dublin 10 years 

55 Currie Street, Adelaide 7 years 

Some property leases contain extension options exercisable by the Group up to one year before the end of the non-
cancellable contract period. Where practicable, the Group seeks to include extension options in new leases to provide 
operational flexibility. The extension options held are exercisable only by the Group and not by the lessors. The Group 
assesses at the lease commencement date whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the extension options. The Group 
reassesses whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the options if there is a significant event or significant changes in 
circumstances within its control. 
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2021 

A$m Notes 
Plant and 

equipment 
Right-of-use 

assets Total 

Balance at the beginning of the year  7.4 12.5 19.9 

Additions  0.3 6.5 6.8 

Disposals  (0.1) – (0.1) 

Depreciation 6 (2.4) (3.1) (5.5) 

Balance at the end of the year  5.2 15.9 21.1 

Right of use assets recognised in the Consolidated statement of financial position 

2022 

A$m Property Vehicles Total 

Balance at the beginning of the year 15.7 0.2 15.9 

Disposals – (0.1) (0.1) 

Depreciation charge for the year (2.9) (0.1) (3.0) 

Total 12.8 – 12.8 

 
2021 

A$m Property Vehicles Total 

Balance at the beginning of the year 12.2 0.3 12.5 

Additions to right-of-use assets 6.5 – 6.5 

Depreciation charge for the year (3.0) (0.1) (3.1) 

Total 15.7 0.2 15.9 

Lease liabilities 

A$m 2022 2021 

Current 2.6 2.5 

Non-current 13.4 16.1 

Total 16.0 18.6 

Amounts recognised in the Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 

A$m 2022 2021 

Depreciation 3.0 3.1 

Interest expense 1.1 1.0 

Total 4.1 4.1 

   

Amounts recognised in the Consolidated statement of cash flows 

A$m 2022 2021 

Total cash flow for leases (3.7) (5.4) 
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13. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

ACCOUNTING POLICY 
Goodwill 
Goodwill arises on the acquisition of an entity and represents the excess of the consideration paid over the fair value of 
the identifiable net assets acquired. Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses, and is tested 
annually for impairment or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. 

Other intangible assets 
a) IT development and software  
Costs incurred on software development projects (relating to the design and testing of new or improved software 
products) are recognised as intangible assets when it is probable that the project will be a success considering its 
commercial and technical feasibility and its costs can be measured reliably. The expenditure capitalised comprises all 
directly attributable costs, including direct labour. Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are 
recognised as an expense as incurred. Capitalised development costs are recorded as an intangible asset and amortised 
using straight line method from the point at which the asset is ready for use over its useful life from 3 to 7 years. Software 
maintenance costs are expensed as incurred. 

Configuration or customisation costs in a Cloud Computing Arrangement are recognised as an intangible asset only if 
the implementation activities create an intangible asset that the entity controls and the intangible asset meets the 
recognition criteria. Costs that do not result in the creation of intangible assets are expensed as incurred, unless they are 
paid to the suppliers of the Software-as-a-Service (“SaaS”) arrangement to significantly customise the cloud-based 
software for the Group, in which case the costs are recorded as a prepayment for the service and amortised over the 
expected renewable term of the arrangement.  

b) Merchant and customer relationships 
Merchant and customer relationships acquired as part of a business combination are recognised separately from 
goodwill. The assets are measured at fair value at the date of acquisition less accumulated amortisation and impairment 
losses. Amortisation is calculated based on the timing of the projected cash flows of the relationships.  

Merchant relationships: from 3 to 9 years (2021: 3 to 27 years) 
Customer relationships: from 3 to 9 years (2021: 3 to 15 years) 

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets 
Goodwill and intangibles are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation/impairment losses. An impairment loss 
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods. 

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually 
for impairment or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Other 
assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not 
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount.  

The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal (“FVLCOD”) and value in 
use. For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately 
identifiable cash inflows, which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets’ cash-
generating units (“CGUs”). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for 
possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting period.  

Discount rate 
The discount rate reflects the market determined, risk adjusted, post-tax discount rate and is adjusted for specific risks 
relating to the CGUs and the countries in which they operate. 

Critical accounting judgements and estimates 
The measurement of goodwill is subject to a number of key judgements and estimates. These include: 
• the allocation of goodwill to CGUs on initial recognition 
• the re-allocation of goodwill in the event of disposal or reorganisation 
• the appropriate cash flows, growth rates and discount rates. 
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Further details about these items are provided below. 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised, but are tested for impairment annually as at 30 June or 
more frequently when indicators of impairment exist.  

 
After assessing the Latitude offer together with the structural shift from credit cards to debit cards, the decline in market 
capitalisation of comparable fintech and BNPL companies and the reduction of interest bearing balances caused by COVID-
19, management determined that the carrying amount should be reduced to the recoverable amount, being the higher of 
the fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. As a result, the Group recognised $135.4m goodwill impairment 
expense in relation to the consumer business. During the second half, we have considered the current profit for the NZ 
Commercial business, the move to broker originated business similar to Australia and associated execution risks, along with a 
reduction in market multiples over the past six months, and an impairment charge of $16.7m was recognised. 

Similar to the rationale outlined above, after the CGU’s goodwill was written off, the remaining impairment expense was 
allocated on a pro rata basis to the other assets in the CGU, which resulted in an impairment of software of $45.8m. A further 
impairment of $9.5m was recognised during the year in respect to software assets after having evaluated the strategic 
priorities of key products and geographies. 

In addition, the Group reassessed the useful life of merchant and customer relationships after observing changes in customer 
behaviour and determined that it is appropriate to lower the assumptions from 27 and 15 years respectively to 9 years. An 
accelerated amortisation of $12.5m was recognised accordingly. 

Reconciliation of carrying amount 
2022 

A$m Goodwill 
IT development  

 & software 

Merchant  
& customer  

relationships  
and other rights 

Brand  
name Total  

Balance at the beginning of the year 239.2 78.2 28.7 4.0 350.1 

Additions  – 22.6 – – 22.6  

Impairment (152.1) (55.4) – – (207.5) 

Amortisation –  (17.2) (15.0) – (32.2) 

Effect of movements in exchange rates (2.3)  (0.1) (0.3) (0.1) (2.8) 

Balance at the end of year 84.8  28.1 13.4 3.9 130.2 

 

2021 

A$m Goodwill 
IT development  

 & software 

Merchant  
& customer  

relationships  
and other rights 

Brand  
name Total  

Balance at the beginning of the year 239.9 66.5 31.7 4.1 342.2 

Additions  – 29.1 – – 29.1 

Amortisation – (17.4) (2.9) – (20.3) 

Effect of movements in exchange rates (0.7) – (0.1) (0.1) (0.9) 

Balance at the end of year 239.2 78.2 28.7 4.0 350.1 
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Goodwill balance by CGU 

A$m 2022 2021 

BNPL – humm AU – 30.7 

AU Cards – 18.9 

NZ Commercial – 17.8 

NZ Cards 84.8 171.8 

Total 84.8 239.2 

 

During the financial year, the recoverable amounts for BNPL, AU Cards and NZ Commercial have been determined as 
FVLCOD using the price offered by third parties. 

Fair Value Less Cost of Disposal 

The recoverable amount of each CGU to which goodwill is allocated is estimated on a FVLCOD basis, calculated using a 
market multiple approach. 

Under this approach, we determine the estimated fair value of each of our CGUs by applying observable price earnings 
multiples of appropriate comparator companies to the estimated future maintainable earnings of each CGU. A deduction is 
then made for estimated costs of disposal. The valuation is considered to be Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy due to 
unobservable inputs used in the valuation. 

Key Assumption Approach to determine the value (or values) for each key assumption 

Future maintainable 
earnings 

Future maintainable earnings for each CGU have been estimated based on the 2022 year financial forecast for 
each CGU, which incorporates estimates of the impacts of COVID-19, an allocation of the central costs recorded 
outside of the CGUs to which goodwill is allocated and other relevant adjustments such as long term expected 
credit losses and planned expenditure exceeding longer term expected credit losses and planned expenditure 
exceeding longer term maintainable levels with the higher operating expenditure treated as a cone-off 
adjustment in the valuations. 

Future maintainable earnings are highly sensitive to changes in assumptions particularly with respect to credit 
losses and interest rates. A 10% increase or decrease in future maintainable earnings results in a corresponding 
10% increase or decrease in the value. 

Price/Earnings (“P/E”) 
multiple applied 
(including control 
premium) 

Trading multiples: 
Management has applied similar P/E multiples to comparator company’s multiples to address specific factors 
relevant to each of the CGUs for impairment testing. 

A 10% increase or decrease in P/E multiples results in a corresponding 10% increase or decrease in the value. 

Control premium: 
A control premium has been applied which recognises the increased consideration a potential acquirer would  
be willing to pay in order to gain sufficient ownership to achieve control over the relevant activities. For each 
CGU the control premium has been estimated as 30% of the comparator group P/E of the CGU. 

Costs of disposal Costs of disposal have been estimated at 1.5% of the fair value of the CGU which reflects the transaction costs. 

Value in use 
The recoverable amount is based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections based on management 
forecasts, the basis of which have been endorsed by the board. The cash flow projections incorporate a probability 
weighted assessment of a potential downside scenario to arrive at the most likely outcome. Cash flows for a further two-
year period are extrapolated using declining growth rates appropriate for the industries and jurisdictions in which the 
business resides, which do not exceed the long-term average for the sectors and economies in which the CGUs operate. 
In the final year, a terminal growth rate is applied in perpetuity. These forecasts use management estimates to determine 
income, expenses, capital expenditure and cash flows for each CGU. 
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The key assumptions used in determining value in use at the impairment testing date are: 

Assumption How determined 

Forecast revenues and 
expenses 

Forecast revenues and expenses for FY24 and FY25 beyond the financial year forecast period have been 
extrapolated using declining growth rates such that the long-term terminal growth rates are as follows: 
• BNPL – 1.0% (2021: 1.7%) 
• AU Cards – 1.0% (2021: 1.7%) 
• NZ Commercial – 1.0% (2021: 1.7%) 
• NZ Cards – 1.0% (2021: 1.7%) 

Long-term growth rate The above long-term growth rate for each of the CGUs does not exceed the long-term average growth rate for 
the sector/industry in which the CGU operates. 

Cost of Equity Capital The discount rate applied to the cash flows of each CGU is based on the risk free rate for 10-year Commonwealth 
Government bonds, adjusted for a risk premium to reflect both the increased risk of investing in equities and the 
risk of the specific Group operating company. In making this adjustment, inputs required are the equity markets 
risk premium (that is the required increased return required over and above a risk free rate by an investor who is 
investing in the market as a whole) and the risk adjustment, beta, applied to reflect the risk of the specific Group 
operating company relative to the market as a whole, giving rise to the CGU-specific Cost of Equity Capital. 

Geared cash flows are used to calculate recoverable amounts for all CGUs.  

The pre-tax discount rates used for impairment testing are as follows: 
• BNPL – 13.5% (2021: 11.8%) 
• AU Cards – 13.5% (2021: 11.8%) 
• NZ Commercial – 13.5% (2021: 10.4%) 
• NZ Cards – 13.5% (2021: 11.1%) 

Sensitivity conclusion 
The Directors and management have considered and assessed reasonably possible changes for other key assumptions and 
have not identified any instances that could cause the carrying amounts of all CGUs to exceed their respective recoverable 
amounts. 

 

14. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

ACCOUNTING POLICY 
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial year 
that are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. They are recognised 
initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The amounts 
are due within the next 12 months. 

 

A$m 2022 2021 

Trade and other payables 51.8 56.2 

Total payables 51.8 56.2 
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15. BORROWINGS 

ACCOUNTING POLICY 
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured 
at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is 
recognised in the Consolidated statement of comprehensive income over the period of the borrowings using the 
effective interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities, which are not an incremental cost relating to 
the actual draw-down of the facility, are recognised as prepayments and amortised on a straight-line basis over the term 
of the facility. 

Borrowings are removed from the Consolidated statement of financial position when the obligation specified in the 
contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has 
been extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred 
or liabilities assumed, is recognised in the Consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

Secured loans, which comprise of wholesale and private debt facilities are secured against underlying pools of finance 
lease receivables and customer loans. The terms of these debt facilities vary depending on the nature of the facility and 
the type of finance lease receivables and customer loans held in these facilities. These facilities provide for the ultimate 
repayment of outstanding loans through receipts from customers in respect of the relevant finance lease receivables and 
customer loans held in these facilities.  

Private warehouse debt facilities are typically structured to include a revolving period during which debt can be drawn to 
fund originations of new chattel mortgages, finance lease receivables and customer loans, ahead of the repayment of 
outstanding debt. It is typical for these revolving periods to continue to be extended, as required, by agreement between 
the Group and the relevant funder. Warehouse facilities with aggregate limits of $738.3m (drawn to $434.9m as at 30 
June 2022) have revolving periods expiring within 12 months. The debt drawn under these facilities is not contractually 
due for repayment upon expiry of the revolving period but is subject to repayment over subsequent periods of up to 3 
years after the expiry of the revolving period (such period being the amortisation period). During the amortisation period, 
debt can no longer be drawn and all receipts from customers are directed to repayment of the outstanding debt.  

Public debt arrangements are structured to provide for repayment of outstanding loans in line with the repayment of the 
chattel loan, finance lease receivables and customer loans held in these facilities. In addition, there is one public debt 
arrangement structured to include a revolving period, which can be extended further. 

In the Commercial business, these debt facilities typically have terms of up to 5.5 years with the repayment of outstanding 
borrowings through receipts from customers. In the Consumer businesses, these debt facilities typically have variable 
terms, comprising of either term deals or revolving in nature with contractual maturities up to 5.5 years.  Interest is 
charged at wholesale funding costs benchmark interest rate (BBSW or equivalent) plus margin. 

 

A$m 2022 2021 

Secured loans 3,025.5 2,406.5 

Total borrowings 3,025.5 2,406.5 

Expected maturity profile of secured borrowings:1   

Due within one year 800.8 684.0 

Due after one year but not later than five years 2,224.7 1,722.5 

Total borrowings 3,025.5 2,406.5 

1.  Expected maturity profile of secured loans presented based on the expected repayment profile of the underlying finance lease receivables, 
customer loans and chattel loans or in the case of Australia Cards and New Zealand Cards, taking into consideration the contractual amortisation 
from soft bullet dates and/or revolving periods.  
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Assets pledged as security 
The loans subject to recourse funding arrangements are secured by payments receivable in respect of the underlying lease 
and loan receivable contracts.  

Financing arrangements 
Access was available at balance date to the following lines of credit: 

A$m 2022 2021 

Total loan facilities available 3,921.3 3,381.2 

Loan facilities used at balance date (3,025.5) (2,406.5) 

Loan facilities unused at balance date 895.8 974.7 
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16. PROVISIONS 

ACCOUNTING POLICY 
Provisions for legal claims, service warranties and make good obligations are recognised when the Group has a present 
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required  
to settle the obligation, and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future  
operating losses. 

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is 
determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an 
outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small. 

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the 
present obligation at the balance date. The discount rate used to determine the present value reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to the 
passage of time is recognised as interest expense. 

Employee benefits include: 

i) Short-term obligations  
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and annual leave expected to be settled within  
12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service, are recognised in respect of 
employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when 
the liabilities are settled. The liability for annual leave is recognised as a provision in the Consolidated statement of 
financial position. All other short-term employee benefit obligations are presented as payables. 

ii) Other long-term employee benefit obligations 
The liability for long service leave and annual leave which is not expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of 
the period in which the employees render the related service is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and 
measured as the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up 
to the end of the reporting period using the projected unit credit method. 

Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of 
service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period on government 
bonds with terms and currencies that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 

iii) Profit-sharing and bonus plans 
The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses that takes into consideration the Group’s Cash NPAT and 
other short-term incentive scorecard hurdles. The Group recognises a provision where contractually obliged to settle the 
liability or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation for settlement. 

 

A$m Notes 2022 2021 

Annual leave  4.4 4.5 

Long service leave  2.1 1.9 

Outstanding claims liability  0.2 0.5 

Unearned premium liability  – 0.2 

Customer remediation  – 1.3 

Make good provision  0.4 0.9 

Undrawn exposure on customer loans 24 10.1 12.5 

Litigation provision 27 15.5 – 

Total provisions  32.7 21.8 

$21.3m (30 June 2021: $7.4m) of provisions are due for settlement in the next twelve months, including annual leave 
liabilities, premium and claim liabilities and make good provisions. 
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17. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY 

ACCOUNTING POLICY 
Ordinary shares and subordinated perpetual notes are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the 
issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 

Where any Group company purchases the Company’s equity instruments, for example as the result of a share buy-back 
or a share-based payment plan, the consideration paid, including any directly attributable incremental costs (net of 
income taxes) is deducted from equity attributable to the owners of hummgroup as treasury shares until the shares are 
cancelled or reissued. Where such ordinary shares are subsequently reissued, any consideration received, net of any 
directly attributable incremental transaction costs and the related income tax effects, is included in equity attributable to 
the owners of hummgroup. 

a) Share capital 

 
2022  

# Shares 
2021  

# Shares 
2022  
A$m 

2021  
A$m 

Ordinary shares – fully paid 494,921,301 495,211,065 454.0 454.0 

Subordinated perpetual notes 49,129,075 49,129,075 53.6 53.6 

Total share capital 544,050,376 544,340,140 507.6 507.6 

b) Movement in ordinary share capital and number of shares on issue 

 
Number  

of shares A$m 

Balance at 1 July 2020 394,333,872 339.5 

Transfer from share-based payment reserve – 2.1 

Issuance of shares 100,877,193 112.4 

Balance at 30 June 2021 495,211,065 454.0 

Balance at 1 July 2021 495,211,065 454.0 

Treasury shares purchased on-market (347,097) (0.3) 

Transfer from treasury shares on vesting of deferred STI 57,333 0.1 

Transfer from share-based payment reserve – 0.2 

Balance at 30 June 2022 494,921,301 454.0 

 

Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the Company in proportion 
to the number of, and amounts paid on, the shares held. 

On a show of hands every holder of ordinary shares present at a meeting in person or by proxy is entitled to one vote, and 
upon a poll each share is entitled to one vote. There is no current on-market buy-back of shares, other than shares purchased 
by the Share Plan Trust to satisfy vested share-based payments. 

The Company does not have authorised capital or par value in respect of its issued shares. 
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c) Movement in treasury shares 
Treasury shares are shares in hummgroup that are held by the hummgroup Employee Share Plan Trust for the purposes of 
issuing shares under the hummgroup Long Term Incentive Plan (see note 22). 

 
Number  

of shares A$m 

Balance at 1 July 2020 57,253 0.3 

Transfer from treasury shares on vesting of options – – 

Balance at 30 June 2021 57,253 0.3 

Balance at 1 July 2021 57,253 0.3 

Treasury shares purchased on-market 347,097 0.3 

Transfer from treasury shares on vesting of deferred STI (57,333) (0.1) 

Balance at 30 June 2022 347,017 0.5 

d) Subordinated perpetual notes 
hummgroup issued unsecured subordinated perpetual notes as part of the consideration for the acquisition of Fisher & 
Paykel Finance. The face value of the note issued was $49.1m, the A$ equivalent of NZ$55.0m. Interest is payable on the 
perpetual notes at the sole and absolute discretion of the issuer commencing on 18 March 2018. Prior to 18 March 2021 
interest was capitalised as part of the note, and from 18 March 2021 interest payments have been made in cash. Interest 
payable or capitalised has been accounted for as a dividend in equity. In the unlikely event that no interest is paid or 
capitalised on the perpetual notes in any given year, the Group may not pay or declare any ordinary dividends to the  
ordinary shareholders.  

The issuer continues to have full discretion as to the payment of interest on the perpetual notes; however, if the Group  
elects to pay or declare any ordinary dividends to shareholders in the future, interest accrued must be paid to the noteholder 
in cash. 

In limited circumstances upon a change of control, the noteholder may elect to convert the perpetual notes having an 
aggregate principal amount equal to the face value into 28.5 million ordinary shares. Prior to conversion, the perpetual notes 
have no right to share in any surplus assets, profits or ordinary dividends and have no voting rights. 

e) Performance shares, options and sign-on incentive rights  
Information relating to the hummgroup Employee Options and Performance Rights Plan, including details of performance 
and sign-on incentive rights exercised and lapsed during the financial year and performance and sign-on incentive rights 
outstanding at the end of the financial year, is set out in note 22. 

f) Capital risk management 
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can 
continue to provide returns for shareholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to facilitate growth in the business. 
Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis of its gearing ratio. In order to maintain or 
adjust its capital structure, the Group considers the issue of new capital, return of capital to shareholders and its dividend 
policy as well as its plans for acquisition and disposal of assets. 
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18. RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS 

ACCOUNTING POLICY 
Share-based payment reserve 
The share-based payment reserve is used to recognise: 
• the fair value of options and rights issued to employees but not exercised; 
• the fair value of shares issued to employees; and 
• other share-based payment transactions. 

Foreign currency translation reserve 
Foreign currency translation of the foreign controlled entities is taken to the foreign currency translation reserve as 
described in note 1. The reserve is recognised in profit and loss when the net investment is disposed of. 

Cash flow hedge reserve 
The hedging reserve is used to record gains or losses on a hedging instrument in a cash flow hedge that are recognised 
in Other Comprehensive Income as described in note 23. Amounts are reclassified to profit or loss when the associated 
hedge transaction affects profit or loss. 

Equity investment revaluation reserve 
The equity investment revaluation reserve is used to record gains or losses on investments carried at FVTOCI. Amounts 
will be transferred to retained earnings on disposal. 

a) Reserves 

A$m 2022 2021 

Share-based payment reserve  1.6 1.0 

Foreign currency translation reserve  (0.1) 6.5 

Cash flow hedge reserve 46.3 (13.5) 

Equity investment revaluation reserve (2.2) (1.4) 

 45.6 (7.4) 

Movements: Share-based payment reserve 

A$m 2022 2021 

Balance at 1 July 1.0 0.4 

Share-based payment expense 0.9 2.7 

Transfer to share capital (0.3) (2.1) 

Balance at 30 June 1.6 1.0 

Movements: Foreign currency translation reserve 

A$m 2022 2021 

Balance at 1 July 6.5 9.0 

Other comprehensive income (6.6) (2.5) 

Balance at 30 June (0.1) 6.5 
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Movements: Cash flow hedge reserve 

A$m 2022 2021 

Balance at 1 July (13.5) (27.2) 

Other comprehensive income1 59.8 13.7 

Balance at 30 June 46.3 (13.5) 

1. Higher cash flow hedge reserve is due to higher interest rates. 

Movements: Equity investments revaluation reserve 

A$m 2022 2021 

Balance at 1 July (1.4) – 

Other comprehensive income (0.8) (1.4) 

Balance at 30 June (2.2) (1.4) 

b) Retained earnings 
Movements in retained earnings were as follows: 

A$m Notes 2022 2021 

Balance at 1 July  258.9 203.1 

Net (loss)/profit for the year  (170.3) 60.1 

Dividends 19 (14.1) (4.3) 

Balance at 30 June  74.5 258.9 
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19. DIVIDENDS 

ACCOUNTING POLICY 
Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, being appropriately authorised and no longer at the 
discretion of the Group, on or before the end of the financial year but not distributed at balance date. 

Final dividends accrued or paid 

A$m 

Parent entity 

2022 2021 

Ordinary shares 

2021 final dividend of nil cents (2020 final dividend of nil cents) per ordinary share franked to 100% – – 

Interim dividends accrued or paid 

A$m 

Parent entity 

2022 2021 

Ordinary shares 

2022 interim dividend of 1.7 cents (2021 interim dividend nil cents) 8.4 – 

Preference shares 

Unsecured subordinated perpetual notes 5.7 4.3 

Total dividends accrued and paid 14.1 4.3 

Final dividends proposed but not recognised at year end 

A$m 

Parent entity 

2022 2021 

2022: 1.4 cents (2021: Nil cents) per ordinary share franked to 100% 6.9 – 

Franked dividends 

Franking credits available at 30 June 2022 comprised: 

A$m 

Consolidated Parent entity 

2022 2021 2022 2021 

Franking credits available for subsequent financial years based on a 
tax rate of 30% (2021: 30%) 54.2 50.4 54.2 50.4 

 

The above amounts are calculated from the balance of the franking account as at the end of the reporting period, adjusted 
for franking credits and debits that will arise from the settlement of liabilities or receivables for income tax and dividends after 
the end of the year. The consolidated amounts include franking credits that would be available to the parent entity if 
distributable profits of subsidiaries were paid as dividends. 
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20. EARNINGS PER SHARE 

ACCOUNTING POLICY 
Basic earnings per share 
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing: 
• the profit attributable to equity holders of the Company less preference dividends accrued or paid, 
• by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements 

in ordinary shares issued during the year and excluding treasury shares. 

Diluted earnings per share 
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account: 
• the after-income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares, and 
• the weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that would have been outstanding assuming the conversion 

of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. 

a) Earnings per share 

Cents 2022 2021 

Total basic earnings per share attributable to the ordinary equity shareholders of the Company (35.2) 12.0 

Total diluted earnings per share attributable to the ordinary equity shareholders of the Company (35.2) 12.0 

b) Reconciliation of earnings used in calculating earnings per share 

A$m 2022 2021 

(Loss)/profit attributable to the ordinary equity shareholders of the Company used in calculating basic 
and diluted earnings per share   

(Loss)/profit for the year (170.3) 60.1 

Less: preference share dividend (net of tax) (4.0) (3.0) 

(Loss)/profit after preference share dividend (174.3) 57.1 

c) Weighted average number of ordinary shares 

 2022 2021 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculation of basic earnings per share 494,934,419 475,548,907 

Add: potential ordinary shares considered dilutive – – 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating diluted earnings per share 494,934,419 475,548,907 

 

There have been no other transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares between the reporting date and 
the date of authorisation of these financial statements. 

INFORMATION CONCERNING THE CLASSIFICATION OF SECURITIES 

Options, performance rights and deferred STI rights  
Options and performance rights granted to employees under the Group’s LTIP, disclosed in note 22, are considered to  
be potential ordinary shares. They have not been included in the determination of diluted earnings per share as the  
required market and non-market hurdles are unlikely to be met based on the Group’s performance up to the reporting date. 
The options and performance rights have also not been included in the determination of earnings per share. 

$0.1m deferred STI rights granted to employees under the hummgroup incentive plan were on issue at 30 June 2022  
(2021: $Nil). 
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21. CASH FLOW INFORMATION 

ACCOUNTING POLICY 
For the purpose of presentation in the Consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on 
hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions and other short-term, highly liquid investments with original 
maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash. 

 

Included in cash at bank was $168.3m (2021: $110.6m) which is held as part of the Group’s funding arrangements and is not 
available to the Group. The restricted cash balances are distributed to various parties at a future date and are not available to 
the Group for any other purpose. 

A$m 2022 2021 

Restricted cash at bank on hand 168.3 110.6 

Unrestricted cash at bank and on hand 112.7 107.6 

Total cash at bank and on hand 281.0 218.2 

a) Reconciliation of profit after income tax to net cash inflow from operating activities 

A$m 2022 2021 

Net (loss)/profit for the year after tax (170.3) 60.1 

Receivables and loan impairment expenses 63.4 58.7 

Depreciation and amortisation 37.2 25.8 

Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets 207.5 – 

Held for sale investment in associate: earning, impairment and profit on sale adjustment – 5.5 

Share-based payment expense 0.9 2.7 

Exchange differences 0.3 – 

Other non-cash movements – 1.6 

Net cash inflows from operating activities before changes in operating assets and liabilities 139.0 154.4 

Change in operating assets and liabilities: 

(Increase) in receivables, customer loans and chattel loans (636.3) (263.1) 

(Increase)/decrease in current tax receivables (5.4) 1.7 

Increase/(decrease) in payables, contract liabilities and provisions 8.9 (3.1) 

(Increase)/decrease in inventories (1.1) 0.9 

Decrease in current tax liabilities (6.4) (3.3) 

(Increase)/decrease in net deferred tax  (19.6) 1.9 

Net cash outflows from operating activities (520.9) (110.6) 
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b) Net debt reconciliation 
This section sets out an analysis of net debt and the movements in net debt for each of the periods presented. 

A$m 2022 2021 

Cash and cash equivalents 281.0 218.2 

Borrowings – repayable within 1 year (829.1) (684.0) 

Borrowings – repayable after 1 year (2,196.4) (1,722.5) 

Lease liabilities – repayable within 1 year (2.6) (3.6) 

Lease liabilities – repayable after 1 year (13.4) (15.2) 

Net debt (2,760.5) (2,207.1) 

Cash and liquid investments 281.0 218.2 

Gross debt – fixed interest rates (16.0) (18.8) 

Gross debt – variable interest rates (3,025.5) (2,406.5) 

Net debt (2,760.5) (2,207.1) 

 

A$m Cash at bank  

Borrowings* and  
lease liabilities  

due within 1 year 

Borrowings* and  
lease liabilities  

due after 1 year Total 

Net debt as at 1 July 2020 157.5 (1,095.9) (1,242.3) (2,180.7) 

Cash flows 61.5 406.7 (499.4) (31.2) 

Foreign exchange adjustments (0.8) 1.6 4.0 4.8 

Net debt as at 30 June 2021 218.2 (687.6) (1,737.7) (2,207.1) 

Cash flows 65.2 (146.7) (475.1) (556.6) 

Foreign exchange adjustments (2.4) 1.6 4.0 3.2 

Net debt as at 30 June 2022 281.0 (832.7) (2,208.8) (2,760.5) 

* Borrowings are secured by receivables.  
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22. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 

ACCOUNTING POLICY 
The fair value of share-based compensation arrangements are recognised as employment expenses in the Consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair value is measured at grant date 
and recognised over the period during which the relevant party becomes unconditionally entitled to the instruments. 

Fair values at grant date are independently determined using a Monte Carlo or Binomial Tree option pricing 
methodology that takes into account the exercise price, the term of the options or share rights, the impact of dilution, the 
share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk-
free interest rate for the term of the options. 

The fair value of the instruments granted is adjusted to reflect market vesting conditions but excludes the impact of any 
non-market vesting conditions (for example, earnings per share and return on equity targets). Non-market vesting 
conditions are included in assumptions about the number and value of instruments that are expected to become 
exercisable. The share-based payment expense recognised each period takes into account the most recent estimate. 
Upon the exercise of instruments, the balance of the share-based payments reserve relating to those instruments is 
transferred to share capital and the proceeds received (if any), net of any directly attributable transaction costs, are 
credited to share capital. 

The Group’s share-based payment arrangements are considered equity settled plans, as they are fulfilled through the 
delivery of a fixed number of equity instruments. 

 

LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN 
hummgroup’s Long Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) was approved by the founding shareholders on 20 November 2006, and 
subsequently updated on 4 October 2019. The LTIP is designed to provide relevant employees with an incentive for future 
performance, with conditions for the vesting and exercise of options and performance rights and under the LTIP encouraging 
those executives to remain with hummgroup and contribute to the future performance of the Company. Under the plan, 
participants are granted either an option or right, which only vests if certain performance standards are met. 

The Board may determine which persons will be eligible to participate in the LTIP from time to time. Eligible persons may be 
invited to apply to participate in the LTIP. The Board may in its discretion accept such applications. 

For the FY22 grant, the Board determined that Options would be granted to the CEO, KMP and key senior executives and be 
subject to two performance measures, based on Actual Share Price (“ASP”) and Earnings Per Share (“EPS”) over a three-year 
performance period from 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2024. The Board believes it is appropriate as market conditions start to 
normalise to have an LTIP consisting of two performance measures incorporating a three-year performance period. The key 
features of the LTIP will be: 
• That the strike price will be determined based on a 10-trading day volume weighted average price (“VWAP”) up to and 

including 30 June 2021 with a 20% price premium applied; and 
• That the vesting will be subject to testing performance measurement taken at 20-day VWAP post results announcement for 

year ending 30 June 2024. 

Options will be eligible to vest following the end of the three-year performance period (once the Board tests the performance 
conditions based on audited results), with two thirds vesting immediately and one third subject to a 12 month deferral period 
with a tenure condition. 
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The table below shows options, performance rights, sign on incentive and deferred STI rights granted under the different 
plans: 

Consolidated and Parent Entity – 2022  

Tranche Grant date Expiry date 
Exercise  

price 

Balance at  
start of the 

period 

Granted  
during the 

period 

Exercised 
during the 

period 

Forfeited 
during the 

period 

Balance at  
end of the 

period 

Vested and 
exercisable  

at the end of  
the period 

Number 

Performance rights 

Tranche 5 27/11/2017 15/03/2022 $0.00 292,595 – – (292,595)  – – 

Tranche 6 15/11/2018 15/03/2023 $0.00 528,846 – –  -     528,846  – 

Tranche 6 16/05/2019 15/03/2023 $0.00 340,520 – – (266,480)   74,040  – 

Share options 

2021 
LTIP 

19/11/2020 19/11/2025 $1.38 2,000,000 – – – 2,000,000 – 

30/11/2020 30/11/2025 $1.38 6,634,047 – – (2,130,152)  4,503,895 – 

2021 
LTIP 

21/09/2021 30/09/2024 $1.21  –  6,330,558  – (857,600)   5,472,958  – 

21/09/2021 30/09/2025 $1.21  –  3,118,036  – (422,400)   2,695,636  – 

27/01/2022 30/09/2024 $1.21  –  305,739  – –  305,739  – 

27/01/2022 30/09/2025 $1.21  –  150,588  – –  150,588  – 

Deferred STI 

2021 
Deferred  
STI 

04/09/2021 03/09/2022 $0.00 –  94,417  – –  94,417  – 

04/09/2021 03/09/2023 $0.00 –  309,929  (57,333)  (28,686)   223,910  – 

Total   9,796,008  10,309,267 (57,333)  (3,997,913) 16,050,029 – 

Weighted average exercise price $1.22  $1.16  $0.00  $1.09  $1.21  
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Consolidated and Parent Entity – 2021  

Tranche Grant date Expiry date 
Exercise  

price 

Balance at  
start of the 

period 

Granted  
during the 

period 

Exercised 
during the 

period 

Forfeited 
during the 

period 

Balance at  
end of the 

period 

Vested and 
exercisable  

at the end of  
the period 

Number 

Performance rights 

Tranche 5 27/11/2017 15/03/2022 $0.00 502,612 – (210,017) – 292,595 – 

Tranche 6 15/11/2018 15/03/2023 $0.00 528,846 – – – 528,846 – 

Tranche 6 16/05/2019 15/03/2023 $0.00 520,026 – (179,506) – 340,520 – 

Share options 

Transformati
onal LTIP  
(TIP) – EPS 

18/11/2019 18/11/2025 $2.00 5,171,766 – (1,469,854) (3,701,912) – – 

06/03/2020 18/11/2025 $2.00 935,363 – (133,623) (801,740) – – 

23/03/2020 18/11/2025 $2.00 60,002 – – (60,002) – – 

21/07/2020 18/11/2025 $2.00 – 356,328 – (356,328) – – 

TIP – ASP 

18/11/2019 18/11/2025 $2.00 6,895,692 – (1,959,805) (4,935,887) – – 

06/03/2020 18/11/2025 $2.00 1,247,148 – (178,164) (1,068,984) – – 

23/03/2020 18/11/2025 $2.00 79,998 – – (79,998) – – 

21/07/2020 18/11/2025 $2.00 – 475,104 – (475,104) – – 

TIP – ROE 

18/11/2019 18/11/2025 $2.00 5,171,771 – (1,469,854) (3,701,917) – – 

06/03/2020 18/11/2025 $2.00 935,361 – (133,623) (801,738) – – 

23/03/2020 18/11/2025 $2.00 60,000 – – (60,000) – – 

21/07/2020 18/11/2025 $2.00 – 356,328 – (356,328) – – 

2021 LTIP 
19/11/2020 19/11/2025 $1.38 – 2,000,000 – – 2,000,000 – 

30/11/2020 30/11/2025 $1.38 – 6,634,047 – – 6,634,047 – 

Total 22,108,585 9,821,807 (5,734,446) (16,399,938) 9,796,008 – 

Weighted average exercise price $1.86  $1.38  $1.86  $2.00  $1.22  

 

The weighted average remaining contractual life of performance, deferred STI and sign on incentive rights outstanding at the 
end of the year was 1.51 years (2021: 1.19 years). 
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2022 LTIP – SHARE OPTIONS 
On 21 September 2021, the Board granted options to the CEO, KMP and key senior executives. The share options will vest 
according to achievement against ASP share price and EPS hurdles of hummgroup following the FY24 annual results 
announcement in accordance with the following tranches: 

Share Price Hurdle – 50% weighting 
The Vesting schedule below sets out the number of Options in the Share Price Hurdle tranche that may Vest:  

Share price at the end of the performance period Vesting schedule 

< $1.25 Nil 

$1.25 33% 

$1.25 to $2.25 Straight line vesting between 33% - 100% 

> $2.25 100% 

 

EPS Hurdle – 50% weighting 
The Vesting schedule below sets out the number of Options in the EPS Hurdle tranche that may Vest: 

EPS CAGR at the end of the performance period Vesting schedule 

< 15% Nil 

15% 33% 

15% - 25% Straight line vesting between 33% - 100% 

> 25% 100% 

 

EPS CAGR is calculated based on the compound annual growth in EPS from 30 June 2021 to 30 June 2024. 

EPS is determined on a Cash NPAT basis, derived from statutory net profit after tax adjusting for the amortisation of acquired 
intangibles and material infrequent items. 

EPS is calculated as Cash NPAT divided by the weighted average number of shares on issue. 

The fair value at grant date (21 September 2021) for the CEO was determined to as $338,300, and the fair value granted to 
other participants (21 September 2021) was determined as $1,356,887. Fair value was independently determined using a 
Monte Carlo simulation for market-based hurdles that takes into account the strike price, the term of the performance 
options, the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date and the expected price volatility of the underlying share, the 
expected dividend yield and the risk-free interest rate for the term of the performance options. 

The model inputs for 2022 LTIP options granted during the year ended 30 June 2022 included: 
• Exercise price: $1.21 
• Grant date: 21 Sep 2021, 27 Jan 2022 
• Expiry date: 21 Sep 2027, 27 Jan 2028 
• Share price at grant date: 21 Sep 2021: $0.79, 27 Jan 2022: $0.785 
• Expected price volatility* of the Company’s shares: 53% 
• Expected dividend yield: 0%, 3.5% 
• Risk-free interest rate: 0.52%, 0.62% 

* The expected volatility was determined by considering the historic volatility of the market price of hummgroup’s shares, and the mean  
   reversion tendency of volatilities. 

 

2021 DEFERRED STI 
Under the FY21 deferred STI grant, 33% of the CEO’s award was deferred into restricted shares, of which 50% is subject to a 
one-year deferral and the remaining 50% subject to a two-year deferral. Other executive KMP had 25% of their STI award 
deferred into restricted shares of which 100% was subject to a two-year deferral.  
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The Chief Customer Growth Officer and Deputy CEO, Chris Lamers, resigned effective 6 May 2022. Duties and 
responsibilities associated with this role have transitioned to the CEO. In connection with Mr Lamers' resignation, the Board 
exercised discretion to accelerate vesting of Mr Lamers’ on-foot FY21 STI deferred component of 57,333 hummgroup shares 
to be released upon cessation of employment.  The Board made the decision to accelerate vesting of Mr Lamers’ FY21 
deferral as part of a termination agreement to recognise Mr Lamers’ continued employment for nearly the entire 
performance period and contributions to hummgroup’s financial success throughout the year. 

The model inputs for 2021 Deferred STI shares granted during the year ended 30 June 2022 included: 
• Exercise price: nil 
• Grant date: 4 Sep 2021 
• Expiry date: 3 Sep 2022, 3 Sep 2023 
• Share price at grant date: $0.945 

2021 LTIP – SHARE OPTIONS 
The model inputs for 2021 LTIP options granted during the year ended 30 June 2021 included: 
• Exercise price: $1.38 
• Grant date: 19 Nov 2021, 30 Nov 2021 
• Expiry date: 19 Nov 2025 and 30 Nov 2025 
• Share price at grant date: 19 Nov 2021: $1.13, 30 Nov 2021: $1.265 
• Expected price volatility* of the Company’s shares: 53% 
• Expected dividend yield: 0%  
• Risk-free interest rate: 0.15% 

* The expected volatility was determined by considering the historic volatility of the market price of hummgroup’s shares, and the mean  
   reversion tendency of volatilities. 

TRANCHE 6 (2019 GRANTS) – PERFORMANCE RIGHTS 
For performance rights issued on 16 May 2019 and 15 November 2019, Tranche 6, the fair values at grant date were 
independently determined using a binomial tree option pricing methodology that takes into account the exercise price the 
term of the performance rights, the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the 
underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk-free interest rate for the term of the performance rights. 

The model inputs for performance rights granted during the year ended 30 June 2019 included: 
• Exercise price: nil 
• Grant date: 15 November 2018 and 16 May 2019 
• Expiry date: 15 March 2023 
• Share price at grant date: $1.51 and $1.95 
• Expected price volatility of the Company’s shares: 40%  
• Expected dividend yield: 4.2%  
• Risk-free interest rate: 2.2% 

SIGN ON INCENTIVE RIGHTS  
In 2022 and 2021 nil ordinary shares in the Company were issued as a result of the exercise of any remuneration performance 
and sign on incentive rights.  

EMPLOYEE SHARE PLAN  
The Employee Share (Taxed Upfront) Plan (“ESP”) is a general employee share plan pursuant to which grants of shares may 
be offered to employees of hummgroup on terms and conditions as determined by the Board from time to time. Nil shares 
were issued under this plan in 2022 and 2021.  

The Board is responsible for administering the ESP in accordance with the ESP Rules and the terms and conditions of specific 
grants of shares to participants in the ESP. The ESP Rules include the following provisions: 

Eligibility 

The Board may determine which persons will be eligible to be offered the opportunity to participate in the ESP from time to 
time. The Board may make offers to eligible persons for participation in the ESP. 
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Terms of offer 

The Board has the discretion to determine the specific terms and conditions applying to each offer, provided that the terms 
of the offer do not vary the disposal restrictions imposed on shares under the ESP Rules under which shares acquired under 
the ESP cannot be transferred, sold or otherwise disposed of until the earlier of: 
• The time when the participant is no longer employed by the Group or by the company that was the employer of the 

participant as at the time the shares were acquired, or 
• The third anniversary of the date on which the shares were acquired, and 
• The offer does not include any provisions for forfeiture of shares acquired under the ESP in any circumstances. 

Consideration for grant  

The Board may determine the price at which the shares will be offered to an employee. Shares may be granted at no cost to 
the employee or the Board may determine that market value or some other price is appropriate. 

Allocation of shares 

Shares allocated under the ESP may be existing shares or newly issued shares. Allocated shares must be held in the name of 
the employee. Any shares that are issued under the ESP will rank equally with those traded on the ASX at the time of issue. A 
participant under the ESP is entitled to receive distributions/dividends made in respect of, and exercise voting rights 
attaching to, shares held under the ESP (whether or not the shares are subject to disposal restrictions). 

Restrictions on shares 

Shares acquired under the ESP will be subject to the disposal restrictions described above. hummgroup will implement such 
arrangements (including a holding lock) as it determines are necessary to enforce this restriction.  

Once the restriction is removed, and subject to hummgroup’s Securities Trading Policy, shares acquired under the ESP may 
be dealt with freely. Details of hummgroup’s Securities Trading Policy are contained in the Corporate Governance Statement. 

Employee gift offer 

There were no employee gift offers in the year ended 30 June 2022 (2021: Nil).  

EXPENSES ARISING FROM SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 
Total expenses arising from share-based payment transactions recognised during the period as part of employee benefit 
expense were as follows:  

A$ 2022 2021 

Performance, sign-on incentive and deferred STI rights issued under LTIP  868,871 2,729,164 
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23. DERIVATIVE AND HEDGE ACCOUNTING 

ACCOUNTING POLICY 
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period. The accounting for subsequent changes in fair  
value depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item  
being hedged.  

The Group designates all derivatives held as at 30 June 2022 and 30 June 2021 as hedges of a particular risk associated 
with the cash flows of recognised liabilities and highly probable forecast transactions (cash flow hedges) or hedges of a 
net investment in a foreign operation (net investment hedges). 

At the inception of the hedging transaction, the Group documents the relationship between hedging instruments and 
hedged items, as well as its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. The 
Group has designated separate hedge groups for its interest rate exposures relating to the Commercial and Consumer 
portfolios. Derivatives have been executed to separately hedge its interest rate exposures in Australia and New Zealand. 
The Group also documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives 
that are used in hedging transactions have been and will continue to be highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values 
or cash flows of hedged items. All interest rate swaps used for hedging were 100% effective in offsetting changes in cash 
flows of the hedged items as at 30 June 2022. 

The fair values of derivative financial instruments used for hedging purposes are disclosed below. Movements in the 
hedging reserve in shareholders' equity are shown in note 18.  

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is 
recognised in Other Comprehensive Income and accumulated in reserves in equity. The gain or loss relating to the 
ineffective portion is recognised immediately in profit or loss within other income or other expense. 

Amounts accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss 
(for instance when the interest payment that is hedged takes place). The gain or loss relating to the effective portion of 
interest rate swaps hedging variable rate borrowings is recognised in profit or loss within interest expense. 

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold or terminated, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge 
accounting, any cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised when the 
forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in profit or loss. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, 
the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity is immediately reclassified to profit or loss. 

Changes in the fair value of any derivative instrument that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised 
immediately in profit or loss and are included in other income or other expenses. 

In 2021, Flexirent Capital Pty Ltd (an Australian functional currency entity in the Australian Group) hedged its 
intercompany loan to the New Zealand foreign operation (denominated in New Zealand dollars) using forward exchange 
contracts. These were designated in hedge relationships as cash flow hedges of foreign exchange rates. These forward 
exchange contracts were cancelled in June 2022. 

 

A$m 2022 2021 

Interest rate swaps used for hedging 66.0 (18.9) 

Forward exchange contracts1 – 0.6 

Total 66.0 (18.3) 

1. Forward exchange contracts were cancelled in June 2022. 

RISK EXPOSURES AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 
Information about the Group's exposure to credit risk, foreign exchange and interest rate risk is provided in note 24 and 
about the methods and assumptions used in determining fair values is provided in note 25. The maximum exposure to credit 
risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of each class of derivative financial liabilities mentioned above.  
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24. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT  

OVERVIEW 
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, being credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk (including foreign 
exchange risk and interest rate risk). 

The Board is responsible for approving hummgroup’s Risk Management Framework and strategy and determining the risk 
appetite within this. The Board is also responsible for monitoring the effectiveness of risk management within the framework.  

The Board has delegated responsibility for financial and operational risk management to the Risk and Compliance 
Committee which assigns responsibility to the following Committees to oversee the management of financial risk. 

Australia Consumer Credit Committee, New Zealand Credit Committee and Group Commercial Credit Committee – 
responsible for overseeing credit risk; and Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO) – responsible for managing liquidity and 
market risk. 

hummgroup uses policies, risk limits and stress testing as a mechanism of managing risks within appetite. Monthly reporting 
of risk exposure against designated limits is reported to the designated credit committees and ALCO. Risk exposures outside 
of appetite are reported to the Risk and Compliance Committee and the Board. 

a) Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its financial liabilities, including payments to customers, suppliers and 
other third parties, as required. The Risk and Compliance Committee oversees liquidity risk and delegates day to day 
responsibility to Group Treasury, under the responsibility of the Chief Financial Officer. Group Treasury ensures the Group 
has continuous access to funds in accordance with policies established and monitored by the Board.  

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities at all times and ensuring the 
availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities. Surplus funds are only invested with highly 
rated banks in the countries in which the Group operates.  

hummgroup’s liquidity risk management is executed under its risk management policy which is designed to ensure that the 
Group maintains sufficient liquidity to meet its obligations as they fall due and ensure that cash liquidity is maintained and 
managed to prevent disruption to business activities. hummgroup’s liquidity risk appetite is designed to ensure that the 
Group is able to meet all of its liquidity obligations during a period of liquidity stress over a twelve-month period and under a 
range of operating circumstances.  

b) Funding risk 
hummgroup develops a funding strategy for the Group on an annual basis and monitors progress against the strategy on an 
ongoing basis. The funding strategy aims to maintain a diversity of current and projected funding sources, ensure ongoing 
compliance with all risk management policy requirements and support forecast asset growth. The funding strategy is 
reviewed by ALCO, endorsed by the Risk and Compliance Committee and approved by the Board. 

Undrawn credit lines 

To mitigate against liquidity risk, the Group maintains cash reserves and committed undrawn credit facilities to meet 
anticipated funding requirements for new business and unexpected commitments. In addition, the Group can redraw against 
its committed credit limits if the principal outstanding is reduced including, in the case of recourse funding arrangements, 
through receipt of contractual amortisation payments. Details of unused available loan facilities are set out in note 15. 
Amounts due to funders are repaid directly through repayments received from the Group’s customers.  

Capital markets issuance 

For the current year, the Group continued to access debt capital markets frequently and raised funding of $617.1m (2021: 
$911.8m) through the Australian asset-backed securitisation program and NZ$240m (2021: NZ$89.5m) through the  
New Zealand asset-backed securitisation program. 

Loan covenants 

The Group had no corporate debt outstanding at 30 June 2022 (2021: nil) and has complied with all corporate debt 
covenants throughout the reporting period. 
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Contractual maturity of financial liabilities on an undiscounted basis 

The table below shows cash flows associated with financial liabilities including derivative financial liabilities within relevant 
maturity groupings based on the earliest date in which the Group may be required to pay.  

Borrowings, which relate to corporate debt and wholesale debt facilities, have been presented based on the contractual 
obligations under the structures and expected repayment profile of finance lease receivables and customer loans. 

The balances in the table will not agree to amounts presented in the Consolidated statement of financial position as amounts 
incorporate net cash flows on an undiscounted basis and include both principal and associated future interest payments.  

It should be noted this is not how the Group manages its liquidity risk, which is detailed above.  

A$m 
Less than  

1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 5 years 5 years+ Total 

At 30 June 2022      

Non-derivative financial liabilities      

Trade and other payables 51.9 – – – 51.9 

Contract liabilities 11.5 – – – 11.5 

Lease liabilities 3.5 3.7 8.6 3.3 19.1 

Borrowings  885.9  1,043.5 1,280.4  4.7  3,214.5 

Total undiscounted financial liabilities 949.3 1,047.2 1,289.0 8.0 3,290.5 

At 30 June 2021       

Non-derivative financial liabilities      

Trade and other payables 56.2 – – – 56.2 

Contract liabilities 7.8 – – – 7.8 

Lease liabilities 3.4 3.6 10.8 5.1 22.9 

Borrowings  725.9 946.0 824.0 5.6 2,501.5 

Derivative financial instruments      

Interest rate swaps 7.6 6.1 4.4 0.2 18.3 

Total undiscounted financial liabilities  800.9   955.7   839.2   10.9   2,606.7  

c) Credit risk 

Credit risk management 

Credit risk is the risk that a contracting party will not complete its obligations under a financial instrument and, as a result, 
cause the Group to incur a financial loss. The Group has exposure to credit risk on all financial assets included in its 
Consolidated statement of financial position.  

To manage credit risk, the Group has developed a comprehensive credit assessment process. Receivables, Customer loans 
and Chattel loans consist of lease and loan contracts provided to consumer and commercial customers. Credit underwriting 
typically includes the use of either an application scorecard and credit bureau report or a detailed internal risk profile review 
for each application, including a review of the customer against a comprehensive credit database. Internal credit review and 
verification processes are also used depending on the applicant.  

A primary measure of delinquency used by the Group is the proportion of contracts with an outstanding payment that is  
30, 60, 90+ days past due. The total principal owing on the contract is defined as the past due amount. 

Counterparty risk is where the Group incurs credit exposures to banks as a consequence of hedging of interest rate risks. 
Credit limits for counterparties are based on external ratings and the Group manages and controls its credit risk by setting 
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limits on the amount of risk it is willing to accept for individual counterparties and by monitoring exposures in relation to such 
limits. Determination of the fair value of the derivatives includes credit valuation adjustment (“CVA”) to reflect the credit 
worthiness of the counterparty. 

ACCOUNTING POLICY 
The impairment requirements of AASB 9: Financial Instruments apply to the Group’s finance lease receivables, chattel 
and customer loans measured at amortised cost. The model applies to on balance sheet financial assets, as well as  
off-balance sheet items such as undrawn loan commitments and undrawn committed credit facilities for the Group’s 
revolving products. The carrying amount of the consolidated entity’s financial assets represents the maximum  
credit exposure. 

Model inputs 
The Group has developed credit models at a product or sub-product level based on shared risk characteristics using a 
collectively assessed approach. Individually assessed provisions are considered for larger single name exposures. 

The key model inputs used in measuring the ECL include: 
• Exposure at Default (EAD): represents the estimated exposure in the event of a default. The EAD is estimated taking into 

consideration drawn position at reporting date, expected repayments and future drawdowns of unutilised commitments 
up to when the exposure is expected to default. 

• Probability of Default (PD): The development of PDs for retail exposures is developed at a product or sub-product level 
considering shared credit risk characteristics. In calculating the PD, 3 to 5 years of historical delinquency transition 
matrices are used to develop a point in time PD estimate. For commercial exposures external customer scorecard data is 
applied to derive PDs. 

• Loss Given Default (LGD): The LGD is the magnitude of the expected credit loss in a default event. The LGD is estimated 
using 3 years of historical recovery and 3 to 5 years of cure rate experience.  

Three-stage approach 
Under the ECL model, the Group applies a three-stage approach to measuring the ECL based on credit migration 
between the stages. ECL is modelled collectively for portfolios of similar exposures (products or sub-products). It is 
measured as the product of the PD, the LGD and the EAD and includes forward-looking or macroeconomic information. 
The calculation of ECL requires judgement, and the choice of inputs, estimates and assumptions used involves 
uncertainty at the time that they are made. Outcomes within the next financial period that are different from 
management’s assumptions and estimates could result in changes to the timing and amount of ECL to be recognised. 

• Stage 1: 12-month ECL – No significantly increased credit risk 
Financial instruments that have not had a significant increase in credit risk (“SICR”) since initial recognition require, at  
initial recognition, a provision for ECL associated with the PD events occurring within the next 12 months (“12-month 
ECL”). For those financial assets with a remaining maturity of less than 12 months, a PD is used that corresponds to the 
remaining maturity. 

• Stage 2: Lifetime ECL – Significantly increased credit risk 
In the event of a SICR since initial recognition, a provision is required for the lifetime ECL representing losses over the life 
of the financial instrument (“lifetime ECL”). Lifetime ECL references exposures that are at least 30 days past due. For 
revolving facilities, the Group exercises judgement based on the behavioural maturity, rather than contractual 
characteristics of the facility type. 

• Stage 3: Lifetime ECL – Defaulted 
Financial instruments that move into Stage 3 once credit impaired and will require a lifetime provision. This stage 
references exposures that are at least 90 days past due. Significant increase in credit risk.  

Macroeconomic scenarios 
The assessment of credit risk, and the estimation of ECL, will be unbiased and probability weighted, and incorporate all 
available information relevant to the assessment, including information about past events, current conditions and 
reasonable and supportable information about future events and economic conditions at the report date. The Group has 
established a process whereby forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios and probability weightings are developed for 
ECL calculation purposes. The final probability weighted ECL amount will be calculated from a Central Estimate, Best 
Case and a Worst Case scenario. 

Method of determining SICR 
A financial asset moves from Stage 1 to Stage 2 when there is a SICR since initial recognition. 
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The Group applies a combination of quantitative and qualitative factors to assess whether a SICR has occurred. These 
include: 
• Forbearance status; including requests for repayment relief coupled with risk indicators in bureau data and relevant 

application attributes such as employment type, employment tenure and disposable income that indicate higher risk  
of default; 

• Watch list status: loans on the watch list are individually assessed for Stage 2 classification; and  
• More than 30 days past due backstop for Stage 1 to Stage 2 transfers.  

SICR, which requires judgement, is used to determine whether an exposure’s credit risk has increased significantly and 
requires higher PD factors.  

Definition of default 
Default is generally defined as the point when the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations in full or the borrower 
is more than 90 days past due. 

Modification of financial assets 
The Group sometimes modifies the terms of leases or customer loans provided to customers due to commercial 
renegotiations with a view to maximising recovery. 

Such restructuring activities include extended payment term arrangements, payment holidays, and payment forgiveness 
and are based on indicators or criteria which, in the judgement of management, indicate the payments will most likely 
continue. The policies are kept under continuous review. 

Write-off policy 
The Group writes off financial assets in whole or in part when it has exhausted all practical recovery efforts and/or the 
assessed cost of further recovery action is considered prohibitive or uneconomical. The Group has a pre-defined work-
out strategy for late stage arrears including insourced collection activities, outsourced collection activities and debt sales. 

Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include:  
i) ceasing enforcement activity due to, for example, bankruptcy, fraud, compliance issues, debt being uneconomical to 

pursue; and 
ii) realisation of the security to recover remaining outstanding amounts beyond which amounts are deemed 

unrecoverable; and 
iii)  sale of debt to external parties beyond earlier work-out strategies. 

Products are written off at pre-defined points of late stage arrears, except where further investigation is underway or 
opportunities for recovery still exist. These are: 
• Revolving cards products – 180 days in arrears 
• BNPL products – 120 days in arrears 
• Leasing products – 120 days in arrears 

 

Forward-Looking Information (“FLI”) 
FLI is incorporated in calculating ECL for both consumer business and commercial business. 

a)  Consumer business 

The Group has identified a number of key indicators that are considered in modelling the ECL, the most significant of which 
is unemployment rate. The predicted relationships between these key indicators and the key model inputs in measuring 
the ECL have been developed by analysing historical data as part of the model build, calibration and validation process. 
These indicators are assessed at least semi-annually with input from Group Treasury who recommend scenarios and the 
probability weighted assessment of these. Three possible scenarios are applied in FLI, Central estimate, Best Case, Worst 
Case. The forward-looking inputs and model scenarios are applied either to the product specific PD factors or incorporated 
in a market specific macro overlay provision. Final determination of FLI is based on a combination of publicly available data 
(range of market economists and official data sources) and internal forecasts/judgements. The Group’s ALCO provides 
ultimate approval for FLI inputs and the Group Credit Risk Committees approve all provision overlays. 
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ECL measurement uncertainties 

hummgroup has followed a consistent approach to FLI to previous years, incorporating Central estimate, Best Case and 
Worst Case scenarios using external consensus on forecast economic metrics assembled from key sources to arrive at the 
macro-economic overlay. There is a shift in the Central estimate in probability weighted base scenario to 60% (2021:50%), 
best case scenario to 10% (2021:10%) and worst case scenario to 30% (2021:40%). As for scalar factors, it has remained 
unchanged from 30 June 2021.  

The impacts of COVID-19 disruptions have reduced during the second half of FY22 with high vaccination rates and high 
levels of immunity to the virus. Retail outlets, hospitality and aviation are starting to return to business as usual trading and 
the risks of future disruptions from COVID-19 have reduced. However, the Australian and NZ economies will continue to 
face headwinds such as high inflation, higher interest rates and challenges with supply chain. 

The key assumptions applied for Australia and New Zealand macro-economic overlay are set out below: 

Scenario Weighting Expectation 

Central Estimate 
A 100% weighting to this scenario would 
result in a decrease to total ECL provision  
on balance sheet at the reporting date of 
~$1.6m 

60% probability 
(50% probability in 2021) 

The base case scenario uses forecasts from five reputable 
economists and reflects an up-to-date macroeconomic view. 
Forecasts consider both the economic and societal impacts of 
COVID-19, high inflation and low unemployment. 

Monetary policies continue to tighten in both Australia and NZ 
to counter the impacts of higher inflation. The base case 
scenario assumes higher interest rates and higher 
unemployment 

Australia: The current benign unemployment rate of 3.5% to 
increase slightly to 3.6% by December 2023. 

New Zealand: The current benign unemployment rate of 3.2% 
to increase to 3.6% by December 2023. 

Best Case 
A 100% weighting to this scenario would 
result in a decrease total ECL provision on 
balance sheet at the reporting date of 
~$6.6m 

10% probability 
(10% probability in 2021) 

The scenario assumes no further negative impacts from 
COVID-19, and limited negative impacts from high inflation 
and higher interest rates. 

Worst Case 
A 100% weighting to this scenario would in 
an increase total ECL provision on balance 
sheet at the reporting date of ~$5.0m 
 

30% probability 
(40% probability in 2021) 

The downside scenario is a more severe scenario with 
expected credit losses higher than those under the current 
base case scenario. The more severe loss outcome for the 
downside is generated under a scenario in which the 
combination of higher interest rates and an increase in the 
unemployment rate simultaneously impact expected credit 
losses across all portfolios from the reporting date. Worst case 
sees unemployment at 3.9% for AU and 3.8% for New Zealand 
in December 2023. The assumptions in this scenario and 
relativities to the base case scenario will be monitored having 
regard to the emerging economic conditions and updated 
where necessary.  

 

b) Commercial business 

The Group incorporated both market specific macro-overlay provision, historical loss rate, and the coverage rate to predict 
the forward-looking information. Furthermore, the Group updated its baseline provision model in the year to reference 
external customer level origination PD data, replacing long run historical PD experience. This is deemed to be a better fit for 
the commercial exposures on balance sheet as the business mix has changed in recent years. Consistent with prior year, the 
Group individually reviews the ECL for Commercial customers showing signs of stress with exposure over $75,000 and 
determines a watch list overlay provision required. The Group also considers any high-risk specific portfolio exposures and 
recognises ECL provision overlays based on expected outcomes over the remaining loan term. 

As part of the work out strategy for impaired finance lease receivables, hummgroup has a right to recover the leased asset. 
For chattel mortgages hummgroup has access to the collateral equipment being financed. In certain circumstances, 
guarantees are also provided by Directors and Related parties to the financial arrangement. 

Given the portfolio contains a large number of small accounts, it is not practical to assess the value of the collateral. 
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Drivers of loan impairment charge 

The table below disaggregates Receivables and Customer loan impairment expense, disclosed in the Consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income, including both ECL provision movements and net write-offs (gross bad debt  
less recoveries): 

A$m 2022 2021 

Net loss1 82.0 88.9 

Macro and watchlist overlay (3.8) (18.9) 

Hardship overlay charge (4.2) (1.5) 

Model overlays (2.1) (1.5) 

Baseline provision movement (8.5) (8.3) 

ECL provision movement (18.6) (30.2) 

Credit impairment charge 63.4 58.7 

1. Net loss comprises of gross writes offs less bad debt recoveries. 

 
ECL PROVISION AT BALANCE DATE 

Expected Credit Losses 
The table below presents the gross exposure and related ECL allowance for each class of asset and off-balance sheet item 
subject to impairment requirements of AASB 9: 

A$m 

As at 30 June 2022 As at 1 July 2021 (Restated)* 

Gross 
ECL  

allowance Net Gross 
ECL  

allowance Net 

Finance lease receivables 219.8 (4.3) 215.5 223.3 (8.7) 214.6 

Customer loans 1,788.3 (58.7) 1,729.6 1,865.1 (82.0) 1,783.1 

Chattel loans 1,313.4 (35.5) 1,277.9 668.6 (24.8) 643.8 

Total receivables excluding other debtors 3,321.5 (98.5) 3,223.0 2,757.0 (115.5) 2,641.5 

Undrawn exposure on customer loans – (10.1) (10.1) – (12.5) (12.5) 

Total 3,321.5 (108.6) 3,212.9 2,757.0 (128.0) 2,629.0 

* Comparative information has been restated to align the presentation with the current period in respect of the reclassification from Receivables to  
   Chattel Loans and reclassification of Contract Liabilities from Gross customer loans. 
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Receivables, customer loans and chattel loans 
The majority of the Group’s lease and loan receivable balances are high volume low value lease and loan receivables 
advanced to individual customers and small businesses. In the vast majority of cases no externally assessed credit rating is 
available for these counterparties. The ECL allowance as a percentage of gross carrying amount was determined as follows: 

30 June 2022 

A$m Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Finance lease receivables     

Expected loss rate 1% 32% 66% 2% 

Gross carrying amount 250.0 1.8 1.5 253.3 

Loss allowance 2.7 0.6 1.0 4.3 

Customer loans     

Expected loss rate 2% 34% 73% 4% 

Gross carrying amount 1,790.9 49.7 22.1 1,862.7 

Loss allowance 35.5 17.0 16.2 68.8 

Chattel loans     

Expected loss rate 2% 36% 100% 2% 

Gross carrying amount 1,549.4 9.9 2.7 1,562.0 

Loss allowance 29.2 3.6 2.7 35.5 

 

30 June 2021 (Restated)* 

A$m Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Finance lease receivables     

Expected loss rate 1% 22% 70% 3% 

Gross carrying amount 265.6 1.8 6.7 274.1 

Loss allowance 3.5 0.4 4.7 8.6 

Customer loans     

Expected loss rate 2% 44% 78% 5% 

Gross carrying amount 1,864.9 57.6 29.0 1,951.5 

Loss allowance 46.7 25.2 22.6 94.5 

Chattel loans     

Expected loss rate 2% 23% 84% 3% 

Gross carrying amount 779.5 8.4 5.5 793.4 

Loss allowance 18.5 1.9 4.6 25.0 

* Comparative information has been restated to align the presentation with the current period in respect of the reclassification from Receivables to  
   Chattel Loans and reclassification of Contract Liabilities from Gross customer loans. 
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The following table explains the movement in gross carrying amount between the beginning and the end of the reporting 
period:  

30 June 2022 

A$m 
Stage 1 

12-month ECL 
Stage 2 

Lifetime ECL 
Stage 3 

Lifetime ECL Total 

Gross carrying amounts as at 1 July 2021 2,910.0 67.8 41.2 3,019.0 

Movements with P&L impact     

Net transfers to/(from):      

Stage 1 (48.8)   32.0  16.8 – 

Stage 2 15.3 (13.3)  (2.0)  – 

Stage 3  6.1   1.1  (7.2) – 

Net of new financial assets and repayments during the year 770.7 (0.5) 3.2 773.4 

FX movements  20.1 0.5  0.3 20.9 

Write-offs (83.1) (26.2) (26.0) (135.3) 

Gross carrying amount as at 30 June 2022 3,590.3 61.4 26.3 3,678.0 

 

30 June 2021 (Restated)* 

A$m 
Stage 1 

12-month ECL 
Stage 2 

Lifetime ECL 
Stage 3 

Lifetime ECL Total 

Gross carrying amounts as at 1 July 2020 2,617.5 89.3 55.8 2,762.6 

Movements with P&L impact     

Net transfers to/(from):     

Stage 1 (79.9)   61.3  18.6 – 

Stage 2 28.7 (34.0)   5.3  – 

Stage 3  9.5   3.1  (12.6)  – 

Net of new financial assets and repayments during the year 390.0 (20.5) 5.9 375.4 

FX movements 2.7 0.1 0.1 2.9 

Write-offs (58.5) (31.5) (31.9) (121.9) 

Gross carrying amount as at 30 June 2021 2,910.0 67.8 41.2 3,019.0 

* Comparative information has been restated to align the presentation with the current period in respect of the reclassification from Receivables to  
   Chattel Loans and reclassification of Contract Liabilities from Gross customer loans. 
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The following table explains the changes in loss allowance between the beginning and the end of the reporting period: 

30 June 2022 

A$m 
Stage 1 

12-month ECL 
Stage 2 

Lifetime ECL 
Stage 3 

Lifetime ECL Total 

Loss allowance as at 1 July 2021 68.7 27.5 31.8 128.0 

Movements with P&L impact     

Net transfers to/(from):     

Stage 1 (1.3)   11.7   13.2   23.6  

Stage 2  0.4  (6.0)   3.0  (2.6)  

Stage 3  0.2   0.4  (5.5)  (4.9)  

New financial assets originated or purchased 25.0 6.5 3.3 34.8 

Changes in PDs/LGDs/EADs (2.2) (6.0) 0.5 (7.7) 

Macro, watchlist and hardship overlays (5.7) (1.1) (2.1) (8.9) 

FX movements (0.7) (0.2) (0.3) (1.2) 

Write-offs (16.9) (11.6) (24.0) (52.5) 

Loss allowance as at 30 June 2022 67.5 21.2 19.9 108.6 

 

30 June 2021  

A$m 
Stage 1 

12-month ECL 
Stage 2 

Lifetime ECL 
Stage 3 

Lifetime ECL Total 

Loss allowance as at 1 July 2020 79.7 38.4 39.8 157.9 

Movements with P&L impact     

Net transfers to/(from):     

Stage 1 (1.6)   13.7   12.7   24.8  

Stage 2  0.9  (13.2)   4.0  (8.3)  

Stage 3  0.3   1.1  (8.4)  (7.0)  

New financial assets originated or purchased 28.6 7.0 2.2 37.8 

Changes in PDs/LGDs/EADs (15.8) 10.6 3.9 (1.3) 

Macro, watchlist and hardship overlays (5.5) (14.9) – (20.4) 

FX movements (0.1) – – (0.1) 

Write-offs (17.8) (15.2) (22.4) (55.4) 

Loss allowance as at 30 June 2021 68.7 27.5 31.8 128.0 
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d) Market risk 
Market risk is the risk of an adverse impact on Group earnings resulting from changes in market factors, such as interest rates 
and foreign exchange rates. 

The Group uses interest rate swaps to hedge interest rate exposures from borrowings. Derivatives are exclusively used for 
hedging purposes and in no circumstances are used as trading or other speculative instruments. The Group uses forward 
exchange contracts to hedge foreign exchange exposure from intercompany borrowings in non-functional currencies.   

Market risk management is overseen by the Risk and Compliance Committee, with day-to-day responsibility assigned to 
Group Treasury, under the management of the Chief Financial Officer.  

i) Interest rate risk  

Interest rate risk results principally from the repricing risk or differences in the repricing characteristics of the Group’s 
receivable portfolio and borrowings.  

The Group’s lease receivables, chattels and customer loans consist of:  
• fixed rate consumer and commercial instalment lease contracts. The interest rate is fixed for the life of the contract. Lease 

contracts are typically originated with maturities ranging between one and five years and generally require the customer to 
make equal monthly payments over the life of the contract. The majority of right are funded within two weeks of being 
settled with the rental stream discounted at a fixed rate of interest to determine the borrowing amount.  

• an interest free consumer loan portfolio where the payments are fixed for the term of the loan; and/or 
• revolving credit card portfolios where the payments may vary for the term of the loan.  

Borrowings to fund the receivables are predominately variable rate borrowings where the rates are reset regularly to current 
market rates. Interest rate risk is managed on these borrowings by entering into interest rate swaps, whereby the Group pays 
a fixed rate and receives a floating rate.  

The contracts require settlement of net interest receivable or payable monthly. The settlement dates coincide with the dates 
on which interest is payable on the underlying debt. The gain or loss from remeasuring the hedging instruments at fair value 
is recognised in other comprehensive income and deferred in equity in the hedging reserve, to the extent that the hedge is 
effective. It is reclassified into the Consolidated statement of comprehensive income if the hedging relationship ceases. In the 
year ended 30 June 2022, nil amounts were reclassified into profit or loss (2021: $Nil) and included in interest expenses. 
There was no material hedge ineffectiveness in the current or prior year. 

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the following variable rate borrowings outstanding: 

A$m 
Weighted average 

interest rate % 2022 
Weighted average 

interest rate % 2021 

Floating rate borrowings 1.36 3,025.1 1.93 2,404.7 

Interest rate swaps (notional principal amount) 1.25 (2,338.5) 1.03 (1,389.0) 

Unhedged variable borrowings  686.6  1,015.7 

 

Interest rate risk sensitivity analysis 

The analysis demonstrates the impact of 200 basis point change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant. A 
sensitivity level of +/-200 basis point change is determined considering the range of interest rates applicable to the following 
variable rate financial assets and financial liabilities in the Group:  

A$m 2022 2021 

Credit card customer loans 599.9 636.0 

Cash and cash equivalents 281.0 218.2 

Floating rate borrowings 3,025.1 2,404.7 

Interest rate swaps (notional principal amount) (2,338.5) (1,389.0) 
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Based on the variable rate financial assets and financial liabilities held at 30 June 2022, if interest rates had changed by, +/- 
200 basis points from the year-end rates with all other variables held constant, the impact on the Group’s after-tax profits and 
equity on above exposures would have been $2.7m higher/$2.7m lower (2021: $2.3m lower /$2.3m higher). 

Cash flow hedges 

The Group hedged 77% (2021:58%) of the variability in future cash flows attributable to the interest rate risk on floating rate 
borrowings using interest rate swaps. There were no forecast transactions for which cash flow hedge accounting had to be 
ceased as a result of the forecast transaction no longer being expected to occur in the current or prior period. 

ii) Foreign exchange risk 

Foreign exchange risk results from an impact on the Group’s profit after tax and equity from movements in foreign exchange 
rates. 

Changes in value would occur in respect of translating the Group’s capital invested in overseas operations into Australian 
dollars at the reporting date (translation risk). 

Currently the Group’s only material exposure to this risk arises from its investment in its New Zealand and Ireland businesses. 
The foreign exchange gain or loss on translation of the investment in foreign subsidiaries to Australian dollars at the end of 
the reporting period is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the foreign currency translation 
reserve, in shareholders’ equity. The Group had small investments in newly established foreign operations being the UK and 
Canada at 30 June 2022. 

In preparation for the sale of the Humm Consumer Finance business to Latitude, the Group exited the foreign currency 
hedge associated with the investment in its New Zealand business (2021: $30.0m). Given the termination of the sale, the 
Group will reassess the foreign currency exposure and re-establish the hedges as appropriate in the future. 
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25. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 
Fair value reflects the amount for which an asset could be exchanged or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing 
parties in an arm’s length transaction. Quoted prices or rates are used to determine fair value where an active market exists. If 
the market for a financial instrument is not active, fair values are estimated using present value or other valuation techniques, 
using inputs based on market conditions prevailing on the measurement date. There were no transfers between levels for 
recurring fair value measurements during the year. 

Fair value hierarchy 
Financial instruments measured at fair value are categorised under a three-level hierarchy as outlined below: 
• Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
• Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 

(i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). 
• Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

The Group has assessed its financial instruments recorded at fair value and are categorised as per below under fair value 
hierarchy.  

The table below summarises the carrying amount and fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities held at amortised 
cost. The methodology and assumptions used in determining fair values are as follows:  

2022 

A$m Notes 
Carrying 
amount Fair value 

Level of  
Fair value 
hierarchy 

Financial assets     

Receivables  8 219.8 217.8 3 

Customer loans  8 1,729.6 1,729.6 3 

Chattel loans 8 1,277.9 1,266.2 3 

Financial liabilities     

Contract liabilities  11.5 11.5 3 

Borrowings1     

Floating interest rate1  3,025.1 3,009.2 2 

Fixed interest rate   0.4 0.4 2 

Total borrowings  15 3,025.5 3,009.6  

Derivative financial instruments 23 66.0 66.0  

1.  Refer to note 24 for further information on how the Group manages its interest rate risk.  
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2021 (Restated)* 

A$m Notes 
Carrying 
amount Fair value 

Level of  
Fair value 
hierarchy 

Financial assets     

Receivables  8 226.2 226.2 3 

Customer loans  8 1,783.1 1,783.1 3 

Chattel loans 8 643.8 643.8 3 

Financial liabilities     

Contract liabilities  7.8 7.8 3 

Borrowings1     

Floating interest rate1  2,404.7 2,404.7 2 

Fixed interest rate   1.8 1.7 2 

Total borrowings  15 2,406.5 2,406.4  

Derivative financial instruments 23 18.3 18.3  

* Comparative information has been restated to align the presentation with the current period in respect of the reclassification from Receivables to  
   Chattel Loans. 

1.  Refer to note 24 for further information on how the Group manages its interest rate risk. 

Valuation technique 
The following table shows the valuation techniques used in measuring fair values for financial instruments in the  
Consolidated statement of financial position.  

Financial assets and liabilities Valuation technique 

Receivables, chattel loans  
and customer loans 

The fair values of lease receivables, customer loans and chattel loans are estimated by discounting the 
future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the customers. The 
nominal value (including unamortised initial direct transaction costs) less estimated credit adjustments of 
lease receivables and customer loans are assumed to approximate their fair values. 

Borrowings The fair value of borrowings is calculated using discounted the future contractual cash flows at the current 
market interest rate that is available to the Group. 

Interest rate swaps Swap models: The fair value is calculated as the present value of the estimated future cash flows. 
Estimates of future floating-rate cash flows are based on quoted swap rates, futures prices and interbank 
borrowing rates. Estimated cash flows are discounted using a yield curve constructed from similar 
sources and which reflects the relevant benchmark interbank rate used by market participants for this 
purpose when pricing interest rate swaps. The fair value estimate is subject to a credit risk adjustment 
that reflects the credit risk of the Group and of the counterparty; this is calculated based on credit 
spreads derived from current credit default swap or bond prices. 

Foreign exchange contracts Forward pricing: The fair value is determined using quoted forward exchange rates at the reporting date 
and present value calculations based on high credit quality yield curves in the respective currencies. 

Equity instruments The fair value of equity investments is based on quoted closing market price and data or valuation 
techniques. If there is a quoted price in an active market, the fair value of equity instrument is measured 
at quoted market price at the reporting date. 
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26. COMMITMENTS 
Commitments for property, plant and equipment 
hummgroup has a call centre service agreement, where the Group will receive call centre services. At 30 June 2022, the 
contract had a remaining term of six months (1 January 2023) with minimum spend conditions.  

Additionally, in the normal course of the business at 30 June 2022 the Group has approved customer loans which have  
not been drawn at year end. Committed amounts are typically drawn within a short period of the loan being approved.  
Gross undrawn exposure on customer loans as at 30 June 2022 is $1,485.4m (2021: $1,701.2m). Refer note 16 for provision 
for undrawn exposure on customer loans. 

The Group has various lease contracts as disclosed in note 12. The future lease payments for these non-cancellable lease 
contracts are $2.6m within one year and $13.4m within five years. 
 

27. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
Commander 
On 10 January 2020 Flexirent Capital Pty Limited commenced action before the Supreme Court of NSW against M2 
Commander Pty Limited (“Commander”) in relation to historical alleged breaches by Commander under a commercial 
program agreement entered between the parties on 17 September 2010. Under the terms of the program agreement, 
Commander and its dealers were able to request that Flexirent purchase certain office equipment and lease it to third parties. 
A defence and counterclaim was filed by Commander on 28 June 2021.   

In May 2022, Flexirent and Commander agreed to settle the proceeding and cross claims without admission of liability by 
either party. The terms of the settlement remain confidential. 

Forum Finance 
Liquidators have been appointed by Federal Court for Forum Finance on 9 July 2021. While the investigation focused on the 
period from 1 July 2018 to 30 June 2021 post the shutdown of the managed services business of the Group, there could be 
potential exposure which cannot be reliably measured.  

During the current financial year, the Group set aside a provision of $15.5m towards the exposure. 

On 19 July 2022, a statement of claim was filed against Flexirent Capital Pty Ltd by SMBC Leasing & Finance Inc. in the 
Federal Court of Australia. The claimant alleged that Flexirent breached the warranty and indemnity clauses contained in the 
Master Receivables and Acquisition Servicing Agreement, misleading and deceptive conduct, as well as negligent 
misrepresentation. Court hearing date is not yet known. The potential outcome and total costs associated with this matter 
remain uncertain.  

Other than the matters outlined above, the Group does not have any further material contingent liabilities. 

 

28. INSURANCE 
The Group conducts insurance business through its controlled entity in New Zealand, Consumer Insurance Services Limited 
(“CISL”). CISL’s primary insurance activities are the development, underwriting and management of non-life insurance 
products under The Insurance (Prudential Supervision) Act 2010. The non-life insurance products are in respect of Payment 
Protection. The solvency capital of CISL at 30 June 2022 of NZ$3.9m (A$3.6m) (2021: NZ$4.3m (A$4.0m)) is greater than the 
minimum required solvency capital of NZ$3.0m (A$2.8m) (2021: NZ$3.0m (A$2.8m)). The insurance business of CISL 
comprises less than one percent of the total assets of the Group. No new products have been sold or renewed since June 
2019, and billing of insurance products has ceased from 1 June 2022. 
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29. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following controlled entities in 
accordance with the accounting policy described in note 1: 

Entity name Footnote Country of incorporation 

Percentage of shares/units 

2022 2021 

flexicommercial Pty Ltd 2 Australia 100% 100% 

FlexiGroup Management Pty Limited   Australia 100% 100% 

FlexiGroup SubCo Pty Limited  2 Australia 100% 100% 

Flexirent Capital Pty Ltd 2 Australia 100% 100% 

Flexirent Horizon SPV Pty Ltd  Australia 100% 100% 

FlexiRent SPV Number 2 Pty Ltd  Australia 100% 100% 

FlexiRent SPV Number 4 Pty Ltd 5 Australia 100% 100% 

FlexiRent SPV Number 7 Pty Ltd 5 Australia 100% 100% 

FlexiRent SPV Number 8 Pty Ltd 5 Australia 100% 100% 

humm BNPL Pty Ltd  2 Australia 100% 100% 

humm cards Pty Ltd 2 Australia 100% 100% 

humm global Pty Limited  2 Australia 100% 100% 

humm pro Pty Ltd 2 Australia 100% 100% 

Humm SPV Pty Ltd 1 Australia 100% – 

Once Credit Pty Limited  2 Australia 100% 100% 

OxiPay Pty Ltd  Australia 100% 100% 

RentSmart Finance Limited  3,4 Australia 100% 100% 

RentSmart Pty Ltd  3,4 Australia 100% 100% 

RentSmart Servicing Pty Ltd 3,4 Australia 100% 100% 

SmartCheck Pty Ltd  3,4 Australia 100% 100% 

Flexi ABS Trust 2010-2  Australia 100% 100% 

Flexi ABS Trust 2018-1 6 Australia – 100% 

Flexi ABS Trust 2019-1 6 Australia – 100% 

Flexi ABS Trust 2019-2  Australia 100% 100% 

Flexi ABS Trust 2020-1  Australia 100% 100% 

Flexi ABS Warehouse Trust No.2  Australia 100% 100% 

Flexi ABS Warehouse Trust No.3  Australia 100% 100% 

Flexicommercial ABS Trust 2021-1 1 Australia 100% – 

Flexicommercial ABS Trust 2021-2 1 Australia 100% – 

Flexicommercial ABS Warehouse Trust No.4 1 Australia 100% – 

Flexicommercial ABS Warehouse Trust No.5 1 Australia 100% – 

FlexiGroup Employee Share Plan Trust  Australia 100% 100% 

Humm Group Limited Employee Share Trust   1 Australia 100% – 

Helix Trust  Australia 100% 100% 

Humm ABS Trust 2021-1  Australia 100% 100% 

Humm ABS Trust 2022-1 1 Australia 100% – 

Lombard Warehouse Trust No 1 5 Australia 100% 100% 

Humm Group Limited  Canada 100% 100% 
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Entity name Footnote Country of incorporation 

Percentage of shares/units 

2022 2021 

Flexi Orlaigh SPV DAC 7 Ireland – – 

FlexiFi Europe Holdings Limited  Ireland 100% 100% 

FlexiFi Europe Limited  Ireland 100% 100% 

FlexiFi Europe Services Limited  Ireland 100% 100% 

Flexirent Ireland Limited  Ireland 100% 100% 

Humm Group Limited  United Kingdom 100% 100% 

bundll (NZ) limited (established 6 July 2021) 5 New Zealand 100% 100% 

Columbus Financial Services Limited  New Zealand 100% 100% 

Consumer Finance Limited  New Zealand 100% 100% 

Consumer Insurance Services Limited  New Zealand 100% 100% 

Flexi Finance Limited  New Zealand 100% 100% 

Flexi Financial Services Limited  New Zealand 100% 100% 

flexicommercial Limited  New Zealand 100% 100% 

FlexiGroup (New Zealand) Limited   New Zealand 100% 100% 

FlexiGroup NZ SPV1 Limited  New Zealand 100% 100% 

FlexiGroup NZ SPV2 Limited  New Zealand 100% 100% 

FlexiGroup NZ SPV3 Limited 5 New Zealand 100% 100% 

humm (NZ) limited  New Zealand 100% 100% 

Hummpro limited  New Zealand 100% 100% 

Retail Financial Services Limited  New Zealand 100% 100% 

TRL Leasing Limited 8 New Zealand - 100% 

Columbus Trust  New Zealand 100% 100% 

Q Card Trust  New Zealand 100% 100% 

RFS Trust 2016-1 5 New Zealand 100% 100% 

Humm Group Limited  United Kingdom 100% 100% 

1. Created during the year ended 30 June 2022. 
2. These controlled entities have entered into a deed of cross guarantee with the Company pursuant to ASIC Class order 98/1418 dated 13 August 

1998. These controlled entities and the Company form a closed group (closed group is defined as a group of entities comprising a holding entity 
and its related wholly owned entities). Relief was granted to these controlled entities from the Corporations Act requirements for preparation, 
audit and publication of an annual financial report.  

3. These controlled entities were removed from the closed group during the year. 
4. Application for voluntary deregistration was lodged with ASIC during the year. 
5. These entities are currently inactive, with management planning to wind them up in the next 12 months. 
6. Closed or terminated during the year. 
7. hummgroup consolidates the entity by nature of its interest in the risks and rewards of the entity. 
8. TRL Leasing Limited and flexicommercial Limited amalgamated to become flexicommercial Limited under Part XIII of the Companies Act 1993 

effective on 13 August 2021. 
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30. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES 
a) Directors 
The following persons were Directors of hummgroup during the financial year: 

Andrew Abercrombie1 Non-Executive Director  
(ceased as Chairperson 20 December 2021; re-appointed as Chairperson 30 June 2022) 

Christine Christian2 Non-Executive Director and Chairperson (appointed Chair 20 December 2021;  
ceased as Chair and Director 30 June 2022) 

Rajeev Dhawan3 Non-Executive Director  
(ceased as Director 30 June 2022) 

Carole Campbell3 Non-Executive Director  
(ceased as Director 30 June 2022) 

John Wylie4 Non-Executive Director  
(ceased as Director 22 June 2022) 

Alistair Muir4 Non-Executive Director  
(ceased as Director 22 June 2022) 

Teresa Fleming Non-Executive Director  
(appointed as Director 30 June 2022) 

Stuart Grimshaw Non-Executive Director  
(appointed as Director 30 June 2022) 

1. Andrew Abercrombie served as Chair of the Company Board until 20 December 2021 but continued as a Non-Executive Director. Effective  
30 June 2022, Mr Abercrombie was re-appointed as Chair following the resignation of Christine Christian. 

2. Christine Christian resigned from the Company Board effective 30 June 2022. 
3. Rajeev Dhawan and Carole Campbell served on the Company Board for the duration of the financial year and retired from the Board effective  

30 June 2022. 
4. John Wylie and Alistair Muir served on the Company Board for most of the duration of the financial year and resigned from the Company Board 

effective 22 June 2022. 

b) Other Key Management Personnel 

KMP in the current year 

The following persons also had authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group 
during the financial year: 

Rebecca James  Group Chief Executive Officer  

Chris Lamers  Deputy Group Chief Executive Officer and Chief Executive Officer – New Zealand  
(ceased 6 May 2022) 

Adrian Fisk Group Chief Financial Officer (appointed 19 July 2021) 

Jason Murray Group Chief Financial Officer (ceased 18 July 2021) 

c) Key Management Personnel compensation 

A$ 2022 2021 

Short-term employee benefits  3,789,072  3,737,752 

Termination payments  144,576   214,153  

Post-employment benefits  177,863   173,527  

Long service leave  3,549   30,380  

Share-based payments  211,089   127,691  

Total  4,326,149   4,283,503  
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d) Other transactions with related parties 

Rental of Melbourne premises 

Flexirent Capital Pty Limited has rented premises in Melbourne owned by entities associated with Mr Andrew Abercrombie. 
The rental arrangements for these premises are based on market terms. A three months’ notice of termination of the lease 
was provided on 6 July 2021 resulting in the lease terminating on 6 October 2021. 

A$ 2022 2021 

Rental expense for premises1 – 237,776 

1.  Notice of termination of lease was provided by Flexirent Capital Pty Limited on 6 July 2021, effective 6 October 2021. This was accrued for in the 
30 June 2021 result. 

Other investments carried at FVTOCI 

Mr Andrew Abercrombie and Mr Alistair Muir1, Directors of humm group limited, held minority interests in Douugh Limited, 
an ASX listed fintech, which humm group limited also held a minority interest in. Refer to note 11. 
1.  Mr Muir ceased as director of humm group limited on 22 June 2022. 
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Director shareholdings in hummgroup 
John Wylie, Director of hummgroup appointed 21 March 2019 and ceased 22 June 2022, is Chairman of Tanarra Capital Pty 
Limited, and controlled 27,321,525, 5.5% interest in hummgroup’s total shares on issue. 

The number of shares in the Company held (or controlled) during the financial year by each Director and Executive KMP of 
the Company, including their personally related parties are set out below. 

2022 
Balance at start  

of year 

Received during  
the year on the exercise 

of rights 
Other changes  
during the year 

Balance at end of year or 
at date of resignation 

Non-Executive Directors 

Christine Christian1  
(ceased 30 June 2022) 195,000 – – 195,000 

Andrew Abercrombie6 
(Chairperson) 99,435,115 – 15,422,885 114,858,000 

Rajeev Dhawan1  
(ceased 30 June 2022) 369,371 – – 369,371 

Carole Campbell1  
(ceased 30 June 2022) 

107,187 – – 107,187 

John Wylie2  
(ceased 22 June 2022) 27,321,525 – – 27,321,525 

Alistair Muir2 
(ceased 22 June 2022) 29,644 – – 29,644 

Teresa Fleming  
(appointed 30 June 2022) – – – – 

Stuart Grimshaw  
(appointed 30 June 2022) 

– – – – 

Other Key Management Personnel 

Rebecca James 40,000 – – 40,000 

Chris Lamers3  
(ceased 06 May 2022 – 57,333 – 57,333 

Adrian Fisk4  
(appointed 19 July 2021) 

– – 100,000 100,000 

Jason Murray5  
(ceased 18 July 2021) 

83,328 – (83,328) – 

1. Closing balance is at 30 June 2022. 
2. Closing balance is at 22 June 2022. 
3. Closing balance is at 6 May 2022. 
4. Opening balance is from the date Adrian Fisk became KMP. 
5. Closing balance is at 3 September 2021. 
6. Andrew Abercrombie served as Chair of the Company Board until 20 December 2021 but continued as a Non-Executive Director. Effective  

30 June 2022, Mr Abercrombie was re-appointed as Chair following the resignation of Christine Christian. 
 
 

31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
a) Parent entity 
The parent entity of the Group is humm group limited. 

b) Subsidiaries and associate 
Interests in Group entities are set out in note 29. 

c) Transactions with related parties 
Refer note 30(d) for disclosure of transactions with related parties. 
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32. REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS 
On 31 December 2021, the Company appointed Ernst & Young (“EY”) as the auditors for the group to replace 
PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC”) who were employed in prior year. The following fees were paid or payable for services 
provided by the auditor of the parent entity and its related parties. 

a) Audit and assurance services 

A$ 2022 2021 

Audit services    

Audit and review of financial statements:   

   EY Australian firm 1,390,750 – 

   PwC Australian firm – 1,270,680 

Related practices of EY Australian firm 197,000 – 

Related practices of PwC Australian firm – 198,741 

Other statutory assurance services – 152,000 

Total remuneration for audit and assurance services 1,587,750 1,621,421 

b) Non-audit services 

A$ 2022 2021 

Taxation services    

Tax compliance and advice on transactions   

   EY Australian firm 7,000 – 

   PwC Australian firm – 72,400 

Related practices of EY Australian firm 2,730 – 

Related practices of PwC Australian firm – 80,256 

Other services before 31/12/20211   

Due Diligence service   

   EY Australian firm: 862,803  – 

   Related practices of EY Australian firm – – 

Other service   

   EY Australian firm: 61,000 – 

   Related practices of EY Australian firm 236,005 – 

Other services after 31/12/20211   

 Due Diligence service   

   EY Australian firm: 1,026,332 – 

   Related practices of EY Australian firm – – 

Total remuneration for non-audit services 2,195,870 152,656 

Total remuneration for audit and assurance services, and non-audit services  3,783,620 1,774,077 

1.  EY was appointed as auditor for the Company on 31 December 2021. 
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It is the Group’s policy to employ EY on assignments additional to its statutory audit duties where EY’s expertise and 
experience with the Group are important. These assignments are principally regulatory audits, procedures performed as part 
of completing funding agreements, tax advice and due diligence reporting on acquisitions, or where EY is awarded 
assignments on a competitive basis. During 2022, the Company engaged EY to provide advice on the sale of HCF business, 
which is stated under “Due Diligence service”. 

 

33. CLOSED GROUP 
The table below presents the consolidated pro forma Income Statement and Consolidated statement of financial position for 
the Company and controlled entities, which are party to the deed of cross guarantee (referred to as a closed group). For 
further information, refer note 29, footnote 2. The effects of transactions between entities to the deed are eliminated in full in 
the Consolidated Income Statement and Consolidated statement of financial position. 

a) Statement of comprehensive income 

A$m 2022 2021 

Interest income 8.5 12.6 

Fee and other income 92.2 78.0 

Dividend income 63.8 42.4 

Gross income 164.5 133.0 

Interest expense – (1.9) 

Cost of origination (14.0) (16.5) 

Net operating income 150.5 114.6 

Credit impairment charge (12.1) (6.5) 

Employment expenses (62.1) (55.7) 

Operating and other expenses (81.1) (55.8) 

Depreciation and amortisation (13.2) (13.7) 

Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets (92.5) – 

Loss before income tax  (110.5) (17.1) 

Income tax benefit 46.0 17.9 

(Loss)/profit for the year (64.5) 0.8 

Other comprehensive income   

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss   

Changes in the fair value of cash flow hedges, net of tax – – 

Items that will not be reclassified to profit and loss   

Changes in fair value of investment carried at fair value through other comprehensive income, net of tax – (1.4) 

Other comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax – (1.4) 

Total comprehensive loss for the year (64.5) (0.6) 
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b) Statement of financial position 

A$m 2022 2021 

Assets     

Cash and cash equivalents 65.3 68.4 

Receivables and customer loans 60.4 91.7 

Inventories – 0.2 

Current tax receivable 11.0 12.4 

Equity investment 0.3 9.6 

Plant and equipment 8.1 10.7 

Goodwill – 49.6 

Other intangible assets 13.6 51.4 

Deferred tax asset 37.1 5.5 

Other financial assets 287.9 218.5 

Total assets 483.7 518.0 

Liabilities   

Payables 44.8 18.5 

Provisions 21.0 6.2 

Total liabilities 65.8 24.7 

Net assets 417.9 493.3 

Equity   

Contributed equity 503.5 503.5 

Reserves (0.7) (0.6) 

Accumulated losses (84.9) (9.6) 

Total equity 417.9 493.3 
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34. PARENT ENTITY FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
a)  Summary financial information 
The parent entity financial information is presented as follows: 

A$m 2022 2021 

Balance sheet   

Non-current assets 511.3 760.7 

Total assets 511.3 760.7 

Current liabilities 1.7 1.6 

Total liabilities 1.7 1.6 

Net assets 509.4 759.1 

Issued share capital 913.6 913.6 

Share-based payment reserve 1.8 5.1 

Hedge reserve of net investment – (2.1) 

Accumulated losses (406.0) (157.5) 

Shareholders’ equity 509.4 759.1 

(Loss)/profit for the year (234.3) 64.1 

Exchange differences on hedged net investment – (0.1) 

Total comprehensive income (234.3) 64.0 

b) Guarantees entered into by the parent entity 
Pursuant to Australian Securities and Investments Commission Class Order 98/1418 dated 13 August 1998, relief was 
granted to certain controlled entities (note 29, footnote 2) from the Corporations Act requirements for preparation, audit and 
publication of annual financial reports. It is a condition of the Class Order that the Company and each of the controlled 
entities are party to a deed of cross guarantee. The effect of the deed is that the Company guarantees to each creditor 
payment in full of any debt in the event of winding up of any of the controlled entities under certain provisions of the 
Corporations Act.  

No liability was recognised by the parent entity or the consolidated entity in relation to the above guarantee as the fair value 
of the guarantee is immaterial. 

c) Contingent liabilities and contractual commitments of the parent entity 
Other than as head entity of the tax consolidated group, disclosed in note 7, the parent entity has no contingent liabilities or 
contractual commitments as at 30 June 2022 (2021: $Nil). 

d) Dividend income 
The parent entity did not receive any dividends from subsidiaries in the current year (2021:$Nil). 

e) Impairment of Investments in subsidiaries 
The net assets of the parent entity were assessed against the recoverable amount of the consolidated Group’s net assets and 
impairment of $254.1m was recognised in the year (2021: reversal of impairment of $58.4m). 
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35. SECURITISATION AND SPECIAL PURPOSE VEHICLES 
The Group sells receivables and customer loans to securitisation vehicles through its asset-backed securitisation 
programs and other special purpose vehicles. The securitisation and special purpose vehicles are consolidated as set out in 
note 29 as the Group is exposed or has rights to variable returns and has the ability to affect its returns through its power over 
the securitisation and special purpose vehicles. The Group may serve as a sponsor, servicer, manager, liquidity provider, 
purchaser of notes and/or purchaser of residual interest and capital units with respect to these securitisations and special 
purpose vehicles. 

The table below presents assets securitised and the underlying borrowings as a result of the securitisations. 

A$m 2022 
2021 

Restated* 

Receivables 212.9 116.7 

Chattel loans 1,237.9 678.7 

Customer loans  1,687.5 1,724.0 

Cash held by securitisation vehicles 168.3 110.6 

Total 3,306.6 2,630.0 

Borrowings related to receivables and customer loans 3,025.5 2,406.5 

*  Comparative information has been restated to align the presentation with the current period in respect of the reclassification from Receivables to  
   Chattel Loans. 
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36. EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 
Dividend 
Dividends are determined after period-end and contained within the announcement of the results for the period. Final 
dividends are determined in August and paid in September/October. Dividends determined are not recorded as a liability at 
the end of the period to which they relate. Subsequent to the year, on 25 August 2022, the Group determined a final ordinary 
dividend of 1.4 cents per share totalling $6.9m, which will be paid on 7 October 2022. 

Forum Finance 
On 19 July 2022, a statement of claim was filed against Flexirent Capital Pty Ltd by SMBC Leasing & Finance Inc. in the 
Federal Court of Australia. The claimant alleged that Flexirent breached the warranty and indemnity clauses contained in the 
Master Receivables and Acquisition Servicing Agreement, misleading and deceptive conduct, as well as negligent 
misrepresentation. Court hearing date is not yet known. The potential outcome and total costs associated with this matter 
remain uncertain. 

S258F share capital reduction 
On 25 August 2022, the Company undertook a share capital reduction in accordance with S258F of the Corporations Act by 
reducing its paid-up ordinary share capital balance by $406.0m with an equal reduction of the accumulated losses balance. 
The balance of accumulated losses at 30 June 2022 included capital that has been lost (i.e. shareholder equity not represented 
by available assets). There is no impact on shareholders from the capital reduction as no shares have been cancelled or rights 
varied. Similarly, creditors are not affected as there has been no change in available assets. There is also no impact on the 
availability of the Company’s tax losses from this capital reduction. 

Air New Zealand partnership 
As announced on 5 September 2022, the Group and Air New Zealand decided not to proceed with the contemplated 
strategic partnership following unsuccessful negotiation of commercial terms. Air New Zealand agreed to comply with its 
binding obligations under the term sheet including the partial reimbursement of the development costs. The Group has 
accounted for this as a non-adjusting subsequent event and estimates that approximately $2.0m of software assets will be 
impaired as the result of the termination. 

No other matters 
As at the date of this report the Directors are not aware of any matter or circumstance that has arisen since 30 June 2022 that 
has significantly affected, or may significantly affect: 
• the Group’s operations in future financial years, or 
• the results of those operations in future financial years, or 
• the Group’s state of affairs in future financial years. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION 
 

In the Directors’ opinion: 
a. The financial statements and notes set out on pages 70-146 are in accordance with the Corporations Act, including: 

(i)  complying with the Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001, and other mandatory professional 
reporting requirements; and 

(ii) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2022 and of its performance for 
the financial year ended on that date; and 

b.  There are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due and 
payable; and 

c.  At the date of this declaration, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the members of the closed group identified 
in note 29 will be able to meet any obligations or liabilities which they are, or may become, subject to by virtue of the 
deed of cross guarantee referred to in note 34. 

Note 1 confirms that the financial statements also comply with the International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by 
the International Accounting Standards Board. 

The Directors have been given the declaration by the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer as required by 
s295A of the Corporations Act. 

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.  

 

 
 
Andrew Abercrombie 
Chairman 
Sydney  
26 September 2022 
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION 
The shareholder information set out below was applicable as at 31 August 2022. 

A.   DISTRIBUTION OF EQUITY SECURITIES 

Range Number of holders Number of shares % of issued shares 

1 to 1,000 4,650 2,767,065 0.56 

1,001 to 5,000 5,572 14,956,062 3.02 

5,001 to 10,000 2,113 16,438,932 3.32 

10,001 to 100,000 2,775 80,580,977 16.27 

100,001 and over 344 380,525,282 76.83 

Total 15,454 495,268,318 100.0 

There were 3,727 holders of less than a marketable parcel of ordinary shares based on closing market price on 31 August 
2022 of $0.535. 

B.   EQUITY SECURITY HOLDERS 
The names of the 20 largest holders of quoted equity securities are listed below: 

Range 

Ordinary shares 

Number of shares % of issued shares 

The Abercrombie Group Pty Ltd 74,112,314 14.96 

Tefig Pty Ltd 40,745,686 8.23 

J P Morgan Nominees Australia Pty Limited 27,291,430 5.51 

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 27,243,519 5.50 

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 24,031,770 4.85 

Resimac Limited 15,800,000 3.19 

National Nominees Limited 15,732,215 3.18 

Sandhurst Trustees Ltd 11,266,250 2.27 

Tamorer Pty Limited 10,986,790 2.22 

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 8,202,851 1.66 

BNP Paribas Noms Pty Ltd 6,715,766 1.36 

Thorn Group Limited 5,619,645 1.13 

Brazil Farming Pty Ltd 4,460,281 0.90 

Diamond Lilly Pty Ltd 4,281,307 0.86 

Behan Superannuation Pty Ltd 3,400,000 0.69 

BNP Paribas Nominees Pty Ltd 3,106,110 0.63 

Mr Christopher John Francis 1,718,767 0.35 

Southern Steel Investments Pty Limited 1,514,372 0.31 

Cameron Richard Pty Ltd 1,442,000 0.29 

Moat Investments Pty Ltd 1,425,000 0.29 

Total 289,096,073 58.37 

Unquoted Equity Securities 

As at the date of this report, there were 16,050,029 unissued ordinary shares of humm group limited held by 105 holders 
subject to performance rights and options. These unissued ordinary shares are the subject of options, performance and 
deferred STI rights with expiry dates between 1 September 2022 and 30 September 2025. No performance and sign-on 
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incentive shareholder has any right under the performance shares to participate in any other share issues of the Company 
or any other entity. Details of the options and rights related to the unissued ordinary shares are included in note 24 of the 
Financial Statements. 

The Company has no other unquoted equity securities.  

LTIP Options 
The table below provides details of LTIP options issued in FY22 over ordinary shares in the Company provided as 
remuneration to the five most highly remunerated officers of hummgroup. 

When exercisable and the exercise price is paid, a performance option is convertible into one ordinary share of 
hummgroup. Further information on the performance options is set out in note 24 to the financial statements. 

Name Position 
Number of incentive  

rights granted1 

Fair value of incentive options 
granted during the year  

($)2 

Rebecca James Group Chief Executive Officer 2,000,000 338,300 

Chris Lamers3 Chief Customer Growth Officer & Deputy 
Group CEO  

1,200,000 202,980 

Adrian Fisk Chief Financial Officer 950,000 160,692 

Natalie Nicholson4 Chief People & Corporate Affairs Officer 714,681 120,888 

Robert Wright4  
Group Executive Commercial Australia 
& New Zealand  714,681 120,888 

1. Annual allocation. 
2. This is based on the fair value of the shares on the date of grant. If the Options do not vest the value to the executive KMPs is $nil. 
3. Resigned 6 May 2022. 
4. Not Executive KMP. 
 

The assessed fair value of performance options granted on 21 September 2021 for the CEO and the other executive KMP is 
determined based on a Monte Carlo simulation on the grant date and the amount allocated to FY22 is included in the 
remuneration table in section 10.2 of this remuneration report in accordance with AASB accounting standards. 

For performance options issued in FY22, the fair values at grant date take into account market-based performance 
hurdles, the strike price, the term of the performance options, the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date 
and the expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk-free interest rate 
for the term of the performance options. Further information on the incentive options is set out in note 24 to the 
financial statements. 

C.   SUBSTANTIAL HOLDERS 
Substantial holders in the Company are set out below: 

 Number held Percentage % Date of notice 

The Abercrombie Group Pty Ltd 74,112,314 14.96% 16 June 2022 

Tefig Pty Ltd 40,745,686 8.23% 16 June 2022 

Tanarra Capital Australia Pty Ltd 26,826,525 5.78% 3 September 2020 

Note: As disclosed in substantial holding notices provided in the Company. 

D. VOTING RIGHTS 
The voting rights attaching to equity securities are set out below: 

a.  Ordinary shares 
On a show of hands, every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy and entitled to vote shall have one vote and 
upon a poll, each share shall have one vote. 

b.   Options, performance rights and subordinated perpetual notes 
No voting rights. 
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